
 

 

 

Boston Borough Council 
Chief Executive 
PHIL DRURY 

MCIAT, ACIOB 

Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire 
PE21 8QR 
Tel: Tel 01205 314227 
Fax: 
 

 
My ref: PE/KR/Planning 
 

Please ask for: Janette Collier, Senior Democratic Services Officer (Direct number Tel 01205 
314227) 
 
Monday, 7 October 2019 
 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Dear Councillor  
 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Planning Committee 
 

on Tuesday, 15 October 2019 at 10.00 am 
 

in the Committee Room, Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston, PE21 8QR 

 
PHIL DRURY  
Chief Executive 
 
Chairman:  Councillor Tom Ashton 
Vice Chair:  Councillor Frank Pickett  
Councillors:  Alison Austin, Peter Bedford, Michael Cooper, Paul Goodale, Jonathan Noble, 
Brian Rush, Chelcei Sharman, Paul Skinner, Yvonne Stevens, Peter Watson and 
Stephen Woodliffe 
 

 
Note(s) for Members of the Committee:  

In order to vote on a planning application committee Members must be present for the entire 
presentation and discussion on the item. 
 
When an official site visit is undertaken which forms part of the decision making at Committee, 
only Members who have attended the site visit and received full representation will be able to 
debate and decide the application. 
 
 

 

Members of the public are welcome to attend the committee meeting as observers 

except during the consideration of exempt or confidential items. 

 

This meeting may be subject to being recorded. 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 

AA  GG  EE  NN  DD  AA  
 

PART I - PRELIMINARIES 
 

 

A   APOLOGIES 
 
To receive apologies for absence and notification of substitutes (if any). 
 

 

B   MINUTES 
 
To sign and confirm the minutes of the last meeting, held on 17th 
September 2019.  
 

1 - 14 

C   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
To receive declarations of interests in respect of any item on the 
agenda. 
 

 

D   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
 
To answer any written questions received from members of the public 
no later than 5 p.m. two clear working days prior to the meeting – for 
this meeting the deadline is 5 p.m. on Thursday 10th October 2019.  
 
 

 

PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 

 

1   PLANNING APPLICATION B.18.0435 
 
Demolition of dwelling and outbuildings; Outline planning permission 
for up to 43 no. residential dwellings (revised down from 46) with 
consideration given to access (Appearance, Landscaping, Layout, and 
Scale reserved matters for later approval) 
 
Land North of Langrick Road, Boston, PE21 8HT 
 
Applicant: Oxygen 
 

15 - 34 

2   PLANNING APPLICATION B.18.0528 
 
85 dwellings with associated infrastructure including new estate roads, 
public open space and attenuation ponds  
 
Land adjacent and to the south of Hawthorn Tree School on the east side 
of Toot Lane, Boston, PE21 0PT 
 
Applicant: Lealand Homes Ltd & Gleeson Regeneration Ltd 

35 - 56 



 

 

 
3   PLANNING APPLICATION B.19.0216 

 
Approval of reserved matters (appearance, landscaping, layout and 
scale) following outline approval B/17/0167 (Residential development 
of up to 6 dwellings) 
 
Land off Carmel Green, Boston, PE21 7JR 
 
Applicant: Mr B French  
 

57 - 70 

4   PLANNING APPLICATION B.19.0301 
 
Single storey extension 
 
Windy Ridge Veg Ltd Office, Hubberts Bridge Road, Kirton, Boston, 
PE20 1TW 
 
Applicant: Mr Mark Nundy 
 
 

THE MEETING WILL ADJOURN AT THIS POINT IN THE 
PROCEEDINGS AND WILL RECONVENE AT 2 P.M.  

 
 

71 - 78 

5   PLANNING APPLICATION B.19.0283 
 
Single storey extension to side and rear, demolition of existing 
conservatory and erection of detached garage 
 
70, Linden Way, Boston, PE21 9DS 
 
Applicant: Mr Coventry 
 

79 - 88 

6   PLANNING APPLICATION B.19.0215 
 

 Installation of a children’s play area 
 

131 Sleaford Road, Boston, PE21 7PE 
 

Applicant: Mr Simon Long 
 

89 - 96 

7   PLANNING APPLICATION B.19.0298/LBC 
 
Listed Building consent to make necessary repairs to stone mouldings 
on the principle facade of the building 
 
Former Sessions House, Church Close, Boston, PE21 6NA 
 
Applicant: Dellhaven Homes Limited 

 
 

97 - 104 



 

 

 
 
 

 
8   RECEIPT OF APPEAL DECISIONS- OCTOBER 2019 

 
(A report by the Growth Manager) 
 

105 - 136 

 

Note: A planning decision comes into effect only when the decision notice 
and associated documents are despatched by the Local Planning Authority 
and not when the Committee makes its decision. 

 
 
Notes:  
 
The Human Rights Act 1998 
It is implicit in these reports that the recommendations to and the consideration by Committee will 
take into account the Council’s obligations arising out of the Human Rights Act and the rights 
conferred by Articles 6,8,14 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the European Convention on 
Human Rights (ECHR).  These are the rights to a fair hearing, respect for family and private life, 
the prohibition against discrimination and the peaceful enjoyment of possessions, respectively.  
The ECHR allows many to be overridden if there is a sufficiently compelling public interest. 
 
In simple terms the Act requires a person’s interest be balanced against the interests of the 
community.  This is something that is part of the planning system and that balancing is a significant 
part of the consideration of issues identified to Committee by officer reports.  Provided that those 
issues are taken into account, the Convention will be satisfied. 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Janette Collier, Senior 
Democratic Services Officer, Municipal Buildings, Boston, Lincolnshire, PE21 8QR, Tel 01205 
314227, e-mail: janette.collier@boston.gov.uk. 
 
Council Members who are not able to attend the meeting should notify Janette Collier, Senior 
Democratic Services Officer as soon as possible giving the name of the Council Member (if any) 
who will be attending the meeting as their substitute. 
 
Alternative Versions  
Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format such as larger text, Braille or 
a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on direct dial (01205) 314226 
 

 

Emergency Procedures 
 

In the event of a fire alarm sounding all attendees are asked to leave the building via 

the nearest emergency exit and make their way to the Fire Assembly Point located in 

the car park at the rear of the Municipal Buildings. 

 

 
 
 



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

17 SEPTEMBER 2019 

Present: 
 

 

Chairman: Councillor Tom Ashton 

Vice-Chairman: 
 

Councillor Frank Pickett 

Councillors: Alison Austin, Peter Bedford, Paul Goodale, Jonathan Noble, 
Brian Rush, Chelcei Sharman, Paul Skinner, 
Yvonne Stevens, Peter Watson and Stephen Woodliffe 
 

Officers: Growth Manager, Legal Officer Planning, Senior Planning 
Officer and Democratic Services Officer 
 

33   STATEMENT BY THE CHAIRMAN 
 

It is recorded that prior to moving into part one of the agenda to address the preliminary 
items the Chairman made the following statement: 
 
I would also like to take this opportunity to make it very clear, that following on from an 
issue that arose at our last meeting, as Chairman of this Committee I will not tolerate 
any criticism, either direct or implied, of the professional abilities of Officers of this 
Council whatsoever. 
 
This Council is privileged to be served by qualified, professional planning Officers who 
present reports to this Committee. The reports and recommendations presented are 
based upon their professional judgement with due regard to the application submitted, 
and in consideration of matters including planning policy and material considerations, as 
may be relevant.  
 
We, collectively as a committee, may indeed disagree on points of policy and the 
conclusions which are reached.  As a committee we are also charged to both debate 
and then determine the applications in a robust manner. 
 
However, it is not the right of the committee to question the professional integrity of the 
report authors or the process leading to a particular recommendation.  This meeting is 
held in public and members of the public who take time out of their busy schedules to 
attend these meetings, should not have to witness such exhibitions of behaviour. 
 
I have taken advice in line with my rights as a Chairman, and under the directives from 
the Rules of Procedure under Part 4 of this Council’s Constitution, should there be any 
repetition of such behaviour, I will not hesitate to move part 25.4 of the Constitution, that 
the member ‘be not heard further’ and I will seek a second for that motion.  
 
34   APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies for absence were tabled by Councillor Michael Cooper.  No substitute 
member in attendance. 
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item B



Planning Committee 
17 September 2019 
 

35   MINUTES 
 

With the permission of the committee the Chairman signed the minutes of the previous 
meeting held on the 20 August 2019 
 
36   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

 
Standing declarations of interest are recorded for members of this committee who are 
also: 
 

Members of Lincolnshire County Council: 
Councillor Tom Ashton 
Councillor Alison Austin 
Councillor Paul Skinner 
 

Members of the South East Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee: 
Councillors Tom Ashton and Michael Cooper in their roles as Committee members,  
Councillor Jonathan Noble as a Substitute Member of that Committee and Councillor 
Alison Austin as the County Council representative on that Committee.   
 

Representatives on the Internal Drainage Boards 
Councillors Tom Ashton, Peter Bedford and Frank Pickett, 
 
Additional Declarations of Interest were tabled as follows: 
 
Councillor Yvonne Stevens declared an interest in planning application B 19 0238 in that 
the applicant had been known to her late daughter but it would not affect her judgement 
of the application. 
 
Councillor Stephen Woodliffe declared that as he had taken the position of Governor of 
Boston Grammar School, he would absent from planning application B 19 0040 which 
was subject to a 106. Planning obligation for funding for Boston Grammar School. 
 
Councillor Peter Watson stated that having called-in planning application B 19 0238 he 
would speak as Ward Member on that application.  He further noted that he was also a 
member of Kirton Parish Council.  
 
37   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

 
No public questions were tabled. 
 
It is recorded that Councillor Stephen Woodliffe absented from the meeting at this point 
in the proceedings. 
 
38   PLANNING APPLICATION B 19 0040 

 
Residential development consisting of 139 dwellings, including associated roads, 
public open space and drainage infrastructures.  
 
Land off London Road  Kirton  Boston 
 
Ashwood Homes. 

Page 2



Planning Committee 
17 September 2019 

 

 
The Senior Planning Officer presented the report to the committee and confirmed there 
were no updates to the report tabled within the agenda. 
 
No representation was received within respect of this application. 
 
General positive committee comments included recognition that Phase 1 of the 
development was already under construction; that the allocation of 20% affordable 
housing was welcome and that the site and the mixture of housing was well laid out.  
Members acknowledge it was an allocated site with the SELLP and that there had been 
no objections from any of the statutory consultees nor from the Parish Council.    
 
Concerns were raised at the impact of continued development within the village of Kirton 
and in particular on the existing infrastructure.  Further concern noted no allocation for 
play equipment in what would be a family based development.   Although the Section 
106 contributions were welcome members did question the split in allocation of the 
funding with a presumption that whilst the majority of monies would be allocated to the 
Grammar School when they felt it should be allocated to the Local School. 
 
The Growth Manager provided two points of information in respect of the concerns 
noted: 
 
Policy 32 of the plan provides the policy basis for consideration of open space matters, 
and is to be supplemented by a Supplementary Planning Document in due course. In 
relation to the application, the proposals were considered to be in accordance with the 
policy, open space would be provided but this would not be required to be equipped.  
 
Some members made comments about where the education contributions were 
identified to be spent, and identified a desire for funds to be spent locally. The Growth 
Manager clarified that Section 106 requests for Education are based on a calculation 
undertaken by the Education Authority.  This is based upon the impact of the 
development and what additional capacity is required over primary, secondary and sixth 
form pupils. The monies would then be collated, and released as required to deliver 
those capacity enhancements.   
 
It was moved by Councillor Jonathan Noble and seconded by Councillor Paul Skinner 
that the application be granted in line with officer recommendation subject to the 
conditions and reasons therein: 
 
Vote:     In Favour.  10.        Against. 0.        Abstention. 1. 
 
 
RESOLVED:   That committee resolve to grant planning permission subject to: 
 

1. The completion of the section 106 agreement relating to affordable housing and 
contributions towards education as detailed within the report. 

2. The conditions and reasons as follows: 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission. 

 

Page 3



Planning Committee 
17 September 2019 
 

Reason:  Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 

2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 

 
 Ref: 1197/LP/SP – ‘Location Plan - Southern Phase’ 
 Ref: 90A-PL-01 Rev D – ‘Planning Layout - Southern Phase’ 
 Ref: 90A-HOL-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Holland’ 
 Ref: 90A-DEE-01 – ‘Design Sheet - Dee’ 
 Ref: 90A-EDN-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Eden’ 
 Ref: 90A AV-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Avon’ 
 Ref: 90A-CLY-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Clyde’ 
 Ref: 90A-SPAR-01 – ‘Design Sheet - Sparta’ 
 Ref: 90A-CORO-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Coronation’ 
 Ref: 90A-CORO-002 – ‘Design Sheet - Coronation’ 
 Ref: 90A-LCK-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Lock’ 
 Ref: 90A-MER-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Mere’ 
 Ref: 90A-MER-002 – ‘Design Sheet - Mere’ 
 Ref: 90A-NENE-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Nene’ 
 Ref: 90A-BAL-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Balmoral’ 
 Ref: 90A-BAL-002 – ‘Design Sheet - Balmoral’ 
 Ref: 90A-RIBB-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Ribble’ 
 Ref: 90A-HUM-001 – ‘Design Sheet - Humber’ 
 Ref: 90A-HUM-002 – ‘Design Sheet - Humber’ 
 Ref: 90A-A516-001 – ‘Design Sheet - A516’ 
 Ref: 90A-A516-002 – ‘Design Sheet - A516’ 
 Ref: 90A-A732-001 – ‘Design Sheet - A732’ 
 Ref: 90A-A902-001 – ‘Design Sheet - A902’ 
 Ref: 90A-A1336-001 – ‘Design Sheet - A1336’ 
 Ref: 1197/LA1 Rev A – ‘Landscape Proposals - Sheet 1 of 11’ 
 Ref: 1197/LA1 Rev A – ‘Landscape Proposals - Sheet 2 of 11’ 
 Ref: 1197/LA1 Rev A – ‘Landscape Proposals - Sheet 3 of 11’ 
 Ref: 1197/LA1 Rev A – ‘Landscape Proposals - Sheet 4 of 11’ 
 Ref: 1197/LA1 Rev B – ‘Landscape Proposals - Sheet 5 of 11’ 
 Ref: 1197/LA1 Rev B – ‘Landscape Proposals - Sheet 7 of 11’ 
 Ref: 90A-SG-01 – ‘Design Sheet - Single Garage’ 
 Ref: 90A-DG-01 – ‘Design Sheet - Double Garage’ 
 Ref: 90A-DSG-01 – ‘Design Sheet - Double Shared Garage’ 
 Ref: 90A-TSG-01 – ‘design Sheet - Triple Shared Garage’ 

 
And read in conjunction with the various recommendations of the supporting 
documents which accompany the application unless varied by other conditions 
attached to and forming part of this decision. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with 
approved plans in accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) 

 
3. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in 

accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) dated August 2018, 

Page 4



Planning Committee 
17 September 2019 

 

referenced MA11011-FRA-R01 by Millward, including the following mitigation 
measures detailed within the FRA: 

 
 Finished floor levels to be set no lower than 500mm above existing ground 

level 
 All dwellings to have at least two storeys  

 
The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and 
subsequently remain in place. 

  
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future 
occupants and to accord with Polices 2, 3, 4 and 31 of the South East Lincolnshire 
Local Plan (2011-2036) and the intentions of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2019). 

 
4.    Prior to the construction of any building above damp proof course, a detailed 

scheme for drainage and water infrastructure shall be submitted to and agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall include: 
 
 a scheme for the provision of mains foul sewage infrastructure on and off site 
 details of connection point(s) and discharge rate(s) 
 
Prior to the occupation of any dwelling within any phase of the development, the 
drainage and water infrastructure measures relating to that phase and dwelling 
must have been carried out in complete accordance with the approved scheme.  

 
Reason: To prevent environmental and amenity problems arising from flooding 
and to accord with Policies 2, 3 , 4 and 31 of the South East Lincolnshire Local 
Plan (2011-2036) and the intention of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2019) 

    
5. The water consumption of each dwelling hereby permitted should not exceed the 

requirement of 110 litres per person per day (as set out as the optional 
requirement in Part G of the Building Regulations 2010 and the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019).  

 
The person carrying out the work must inform the Building Control Body that this 
duty applies.  
 
A notice confirming the requirement for the water consumption has been met shall 
be submitted to the Building Control Body and Local Planning Authority, no later 
than five days after the completion of each individual dwelling. 
 
Reason: To protect the quality and quantity of water resources available to the 
district. This condition is imposed in accordance with Policy 31 of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-0236). 

 
6. No development shall take place above ground level until details of the materials 

proposed to be used in the construction of the external surfaces have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

Page 5



Planning Committee 
17 September 2019 
 

 
 Reason: No details of materials have been submitted, these details are required in 

the interests of the amenity of the area and to ensure that the new buildings are in 
keeping with the character of the area to accord with the objectives of Policies 2 
and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and the intentions of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

 
7.     All landscape works relating to each completed part of the development shall be 

carried out in accordance with the approved details within 6 months of the 
completion of that part of the development. Any trees, plants, grassed areas which 
within a period of 5 years from the date of planting die, are removed or become 
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the first available planting 
season with others of similar size species or quality. 

 
Reason:  In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure an effective landscaping 
scheme is delivered, including planting of trees, and to ensure that the approved 
scheme is implemented satisfactorily, in accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

  
8. Prior to the commencment of any part of the development above slab level, details 

shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority for the 
provision of three (3) fire hydrants or other acceptable alternative along with a 
timetable for their installation relative to the phasing of the development. The fire 
hydrants (or other acceptable alternative) shall be installed at the relevant point of 
development in accordance with the agreed timetable.  

 
Reason: To enable the protection and maintenance of the development and to 
accord with Polices 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
9. No development shall take place until the applicant has secured a programme of 

archaeological work, which shall include trial trenching, in accordance with a 
written scheme of investigation which has been subitted by the applicant and 
approved in writin by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: In order to ensure that satisfactory arrangements have been made for the 
investigation, retrieval and recording of any possible archaeological remains on the 
site and to accord with Policies 2, 3 and 29 of the South East Lincolnshire Local 
Plan (2011-2036) and the intentions of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2019). 

 
10. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

recommendations contained within the submitted Phase I Ecology Survey 
prepared by Hillier Ecology Limited. 

 
Reason: To ensure that protected species and their habitats are protected and to 
provide enhancements to biodiversity in accordance with Polices 2, 3 and 28 of the 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
11. Prior to the commencment of development above slab level, final details of 

measures that aim to reduce pollution and promote renewable and low carbon 
energy (including measures such as facilities for EV car charging) and details 

Page 6



Planning Committee 
17 September 2019 

 

relating to the timing of their implementation, shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be constructed in 
accordance with the approved measures. 

 
Reason: To help reduce pollution and promote renebale and low carbon energy in 
new development schemes and to accord with Policies 2, 3 , 30 and 31 of the 
South east Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and to accord with the intentions of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

 
12. Before each dwelling is occupied, the roads and footways providing access to that 

dwelling, for the whole of its frontage from an existing public highway, shall be 
constructed to a specification to enable them to be adopted as Public Highway, 
less the carriageway and footway surface courses. The carriageway and footway 
surface courses shall be completed within three months from the date upon which 
the erection is commenced of the penultimate dwelling. 

 
Reason: To ensure that a safe and suitable standard of vehicular and pedestrian 
access is provided for residents throughout the construction period of the 
development and that the roads and footways are completed within a reasonable 
period following completion of the dwellings. This condition accords with Polices 2 
and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
13. No dwelling shall be commenced before the first 60 metres of estate road from its 

junction with the public highway, including visibility splays, have been completed to 
Binder Course level. 

 
Reason: To ensure construction and delivery vehicles, and the vehicles of site 
personnel may be parked and/or unloaded off the existing highway, in the interests 
of highway safety and the amenity of neighbouring residents and to accord with 
Polices 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
14. Before any dwelling is occupied, all of that part of the estate road and associated 

footways that forms the junction with the main road and which will be constructed 
within the limits of the existing highway, shall be laid out and constructed to 
finished surface levels in accordance with details to be submitted to, and approved 
in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: In the interests of safety, to avoid the creation of pedestrian trip hazards 
within the public highway from surfacing materials, manholes and gullies that may 
otherwise remain for an extended period at dissimilar, interim construction levels. 
This condition accords with Polices 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local 
Plan (2011-2036). 

 
15. There shall be no vehicular access to the permitted development from Woodside 

Road. Effective measures, both physical and contractual, shall incorporated into 
the development to prevent any such access being formed at any time. 

 
Reason: Woodside Road is unsuitable, in terms of its carriageway width and 
construction standard and the absence of footways, to be able to accommodate 
additional vehicle movements from a residential development of the scale hereby 

Page 7



Planning Committee 
17 September 2019 
 

permitted. This condition accords with Polices 2 and 3 of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).  

 
16. Prior to the commencement of the development above ground level, a Construction 

Management Plan shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval 
in writing. The Construction Management Plan will prescribe how the construction 
of the site will be phased, where site accommodation and welfare facilities will be 
placed, hours of working, where site vehicles and the vehicles of site personnel will 
be parked and where materials will be delivered and stored within the site. 
Construction of the permitted development shall be undertaken in accordance with 
the approved Construction Management Plan. 

 
         Reason:  In the interests of the safety and free passage of the public, in the 

interests of residential amenity and to accord with Policies 2 and 3 of the South 
East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
It is recorded that Councillor Stephen Woodliffe re-joined the meeting at this point in the 
proceedings and that Councillor Peter Watson absented from the meeting. 
 
39   PLANNING APPLICATION B 19 0238 

 
Erection of a single storey dwelling 
 

Land at Kelvyn   Wash Road    Kirton   Boston 
 

Ms Cecilia Dobson 
 
The Growth Manager presented the report to the committee and confirmed there were 
no updates to the report tabled within the agenda. 
 
Representation was received by Mr Smith the applicant’s agent which included: 

 
Mr Smith advised that the applicant had held very constructive discussions with and 
received very positive pre application advice from, Mr Thompson the Senior Planning 
Officer for the application.   Members were advised that the design was modern in style 
and in common with a good garden building.  It was horizontal in in shape so sat low in 
the site and the landscaping had been taken into consideration to complement the style 
of a historic garden.  Wild flower planting would be implemented either side of the 
driveway. 
 
The columns formed a colonnade up to the entrance and the siting of the build was 
angled 30% due south.   The roof would be part laid to lawn and planted to encourage 
bees.   
 
All living space exited direct onto the terrace and the building was compliant to part M4 
category 3 of the Building Regulations in that it would be built for wheelchair access.  
Summarising Mr Smith said he felt the application demonstrated design similar to 
historic houses of old and that it was sensitive to the local area.  
 
 
 

Page 8



Planning Committee 
17 September 2019 

 
Representation was received by Ward Member Councillor Peter Watson which included: 
 

Councillor Watson voiced concern in respect of the proposed landscaping and stated 
that unless tree Preservation Orders were secured, should the site be sold at a later 
date, the said current scheme could be ripped out and the whole landscape would be 
changed.   Referencing the design he noted that he felt it not in keeping with the area 
although he stated he did recognise the technology and the green provisions which had 
been used.  Councillor Watson concluded by advising that following comments made at 
Kirton Parish Council and the concerns raised in respect of the design of the build he 
had felt he had no option but to ask for committee determination on such a controversial 
application. 
 
The Growth Manager responded to the representations by advising that condition no.9 
within the report addressed concerns in respect of landscaping which required that any 
trees which may become diseased and died within the first five years from the date of 
them being planted occupation would be replaced.   Any issues in respect of granting a 
Tree Preservation Order would be subject to a different application and could not be 
condition within the application tabled. 
 
Committee deliberation was equally divided with both praise for the intuitive and 
contemporary design and strong criticism against it.    There was a general 
acknowledgment that it was very subjective in its design. 
 
There was praise for the low level of the building; its’ position within the site, the wild life 
planting and the fact that it would be wheelchair accessible. Further comment noted it 
would support the stables on site as the applicant owned the stables, reducing traffic to 
the site.  Members also noted the contemporary build granted historically at Old Leake 
which was outside the village settlement and also intuitive.  
 
However, contrary to the favourable comments, strong concerns listed included the 
location being outside the SELLP and settlement village boundary; the colour of the 
proposed building materials and the actual design which many reiterated was not in 
keeping with the area and no supporting proof having been tabled confirming it was 
supporting an established business on the site.  Furthermore in reference to the build at 
Old Leake a member stressed that it had been very innovative in its complete design 
and that it did support an existing business on the site. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Alison Austin and seconded by Councillor Yvonne Stevens 
that committee grant conditional approval of the application subject to the conditions and 
reasons within the report. 
 
Vote:     In Favour.  5.        Against. 6.        Abstention.  
 

The motion fell. 
 
As a result, the Chairman moved to take a short adjournment was taken to allow the 
Growth Manager and Legal Adviser time to consider the comments raised by Members 
against the proposal and advise the Committee on the reason for refusal. 
 
Following this short adjournment, the Growth Manager addressed the committee, to 
seek their clarification that they were content that they had received sufficient 

Page 9



Planning Committee 
17 September 2019 
 

information to enable them to make an informed judgement on the proposals, and to 
outline the reason for refusal based upon comments from Members. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Jonathon Noble and seconded by Councillor Brian Rush that 
the application be refused contrary to officer recommendation as the proposal, by virtue 
of its design, would not represent an innovative, or exceptional design that would 
sufficiently justify the development in this location, when considered against the 
requirements of para 79(e) of the NPPF and policies 2 & 3 of the Local Plan. The 
proposals would not fit in with the established character of the area and would as a 
result adversely impact upon it. As a result, and in the absence of other justification 
given the location of the development outside of the settlement boundary and falling 
within countryside as defined in the SELLP, the proposals would be contrary to policies 
1, 2 & 3 of the SELLP, as well as being contrary to paragraph 79 of the NPPF.  
 
Vote:     In Favour.  6.        Against. 5.        Abstention.  
 

RESOLVED:   That the committee refuse the application contrary to officer 
recommendation as the proposal, by virtue of its design, would not represent an 
innovative, or exceptional design that would sufficiently justify the development in this 
location, when considered against the requirements of para 79(e) of the NPPF and 
policies 2 & 3 of the Local Plan. The proposals would not fit in with the established 
character of the area and would as a result adversely impact upon it. As a result, and in 
the absence of other justification given the location of the development outside of the 
settlement boundary and falling within countryside as defined in the SELLP, the 
proposals would be contrary to policies 1, 2 & 3 of the SELLP, as well as being contrary 
to paragraph 79 of the NPPF.  
 
It is recorded that Councillor Peter Watson re-joined the meeting at this part in the 
proceedings. 
 
40   PLANNING APPLICATION B 19 0131 

 
Sub division of existing dwelling into 3 residential units. 
 
22 Horace Street  Boston  Lincolnshire 
 
Mr Ian Bunday 
 
The Growth Manager presented the report to the committee advising there were no 
updates to the report tabled within the agenda. 
 
The Growth Manager advised the committee within the presentation that since 
publication of the report, the agent had contacted the Council to propose 3 parking 
spaces within the application site and had provided a plan of this. This was considered 
in detail within the officer presentation to Members. 
 
Representation was received from Mr Forman the applicant’s agent which included: 
 

Members were asked to note that letters written in objection to the application citing 
concerns in respect of anti-social behaviour at 22 Horace Street had been made against 

Page 10



Planning Committee 
17 September 2019 

 

the wrong house:  the objectors had the wrong house number for the premises where 
anti-social behaviour activity had taken place.    
Addressing the application Mr Forman advised that the applicant had considered 
keeping the house as a 5 bedroom HMO and also possibly sub dividing it into flats, 
before finally deciding the 3 one bedroom houses would be the best use.  Members 
were asked to note that the old lean to would be removed and that the house frontage 
would be restored to its former Victorian glory.  Addressing concerns in respect of a lack 
of parking, Mr Forman questioned the need for parking in such properties so close to 
town.  He referenced the 11 muse type houses at the Mastins Court development which 
were similar to the proposed houses, which did not have parking:  he further questioned 
whether dependant on the location of their work, if residents in such a close location to 
amenities would require a car.    
Mr Forman did advise that the application had capacity within it for 3 off street parking 
spaces should the committee decide that parking was a priority, but that would replace 
the garden space at the rear of the property. 
 

On moving into deliberation Councillor Goodale the Ward Member for the application 
site stated he had asked for committee determination as he had concerns about the 
remaining land which the applicant had appeared to ‘land-lock’ behind the application 
site.  He stated he was also concerned about the lack of parking but was supportive of 
the change of use of the house, the removal of the old lean-to and the restoration of the 
property. 
 
The Growth Manager responded at this point in the proceedings advising members that 
should they decide to refuse the application, then he would urge them not to use any 
pre-determination of what might happen to the left-over land at a later date, as a reason 
for refusal.   
 
Committee deliberation in respect of the proposal of the three houses, the removal of 
the lean-to and the restoration of the house was unanimous in support with agreement 
of the benefits it would achieve including a reduction in residents, improved amenity and 
the restoration. 
However, alongside the support, there was overwhelming concern at any lack of parking 
provision with members noting that should there be a provision one vehicle parking spot 
per property, they would be fully supportive of the application. 
Referencing Mr Forman’s indication in his representation members sought clarity on 
attaching a further condition to the application for the provision of the parking spaces 
and the Growth Manager confirmed that as there had been no objections by Lincolnshire 
County Highways and with the offer having been made by Mr Forman to sue the land to 
the rear of the site for parking as against it being used as a garden, then a it could be 
conditioned. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Jonathan Noble and seconded by Councillor Tom Ashton 
that committee grant conditional approval of the application in line with officer 
recommendation, subject to the conditions and reasons within the report and subject to 
the additional condition requiring provision of 3 car parking spaces to the rear of the 
houses. 
 
Vote:     In Favour.  12.        Against. 0.        Abstention. 0 
 

 

Page 11



Planning Committee 
17 September 2019 
 

RESOLVED:    That committee grant conditional approval in line with officer 
recommendation and subject to the following conditions and reasons including the 
additional condition no. 5. 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission. 
 
      Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and 

Complsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 

application received 21-Mar-2019 and in accordance with the associated plans 
referenced: 

 
  Site Location plan ref 291-PLN-E-00 rev A 
  Proposed site plan ref 291-PLN-P-01 rev A 
  Existing /proposed plans and elevations ref 291-SPE-EP-01 rev A 
 
 Reason:  In the interests residential amenity and to accord with policies 2, 3 and 4 

of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 
 
3. No development shall take place above ground level until details of a fencing 

scheme separating the application site from the area outlined in blue on the 
approved site location plan ref 291-PLN-E-00 Rev A and Proposed site plan ref 291-
PLN-P-01 Rev A been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The fencing scheme as may be approved shall be undertaken before 
occupation of any of the apartments hereby approved and shall remain in that form 
thereafter. 

 
       Reason:  In the interests residential amenity and to accord with policies 2, 3 and 4 

of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 
 
4.   The communal bin store and the communal amenity space as shown on    Proposed 

site plan ref 291-PLN-P-01 Rev A shall be made available for use before occupation 
of any of the residential units hereby approved and shall be retained in that form 
thereafter. 

  
 Reason: In the interests residential amenity and to accord with policies 2 and 3 of 

the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 
 
5.  The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a plan showing 3no. 

parking spaces (numbered to reflect the allocation to the units proposed), along with 
sufficient space to allow vehicles to be parked and turned to enable vehicles to 
enter and exit in forward gear, has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The parking spaces and turning area shall be provided in 
accordance with the agreed plan prior to occupation of any of the units, and shall 
thereafter be retained and be made available for use by the occupants of the 
development at all times when those units are available for occupation. 

 
 Reason: In the interests of ensuring sufficient parking is provided to meet the needs 

of the development, and to ensure that those parking spaces are retained and are 

Page 12



Planning Committee 
17 September 2019 

 

available and that there is sufficient space to enable vehicles to turn so that they 
may enter and leave the site in forward gear. In order to comply with policy 36 of the 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan. 

 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting ended at 12.40 pm 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPLICATION B/18/0435

Demolition of dwelling and outbuildings; Outline
planning permission for up to 43 no. residential

dwellings (revised down from 46) with
consideration given to access (Appearance,
Landscaping, Layout, and Scale reserved

matters for later approval)

Land North of Langrick Road, Boston, PE21
8HT

Applicant: Oxygen

Page 15

Agenda Item 1



P
age 16



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

Planning Committee – 15 October 2019

Reference No: B/18/0435

Expiry Date: 25-Jan-2019
Extension of Time: 17-Oct-2019

Application Type: Outline Planning Permission
Proposal: Demolition of dwelling and outbuildings; Outline planning permission

for up to 43 no. residential dwellings (revised down from 46) with
consideration given to access (Appearance, Landscaping, Layout,
and Scale reserved matters for later approval)

Site: Land North of Langrick Road, Boston, PE21 8HT

Applicant: Oxygen
Agent: Mr Alex Prowse, Astill Planning Consultants Ltd

Ward: Fenside Parish:Boston Town Area Committee

Case Officer: John Taylor Third Party Reps: 6

Recommendation: RESOLVE TO GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO
CONCLUSION OF A LEGAL AGREEMENT

Page 17



1.0 Reason for Report

1.1 The Growth Manager considers that this application should be determined by the
Planning Committee as the determination is to be made based upon Heads of
Terms which are not consistent with adopted policy owing to the schemes viability
position. The scheme and its viability resulting in a reduction in the amount of
developer contributions being proposed by the applicant.

2.0 Application Site and Proposal

2.1 The application site is located within the settlement boundary of Boston and consists
of a rectangular shaped parcel of land that occupies approximately 1.2 hectares.
The existing access off Langrick Road would be widened and upgraded to serve
the proposed development.

2.2 The site has a number of buildings within it, some dilapidated, and its former use
was as a waste handling depot leading to contamination issues. The site also
includes a dwelling at its frontage onto Langrick Road and this is to be demolished
to help facilitate the access into the site along with the demolition of other
outbuildings within the site. The site is classed as previously-developed land or
more commonly known as a ‘brownfield’ site.

2.3 To the east, south and west of the site are the rear garden areas of existing
residential dwellings and bordering the site to the north is Ingelow Avenue
playground and an area of amenity space that extends to almost 1.8 hectares.

2.4 The site is allocated in the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) under
ref: Fen002. This allocation identifies site having an estimated capacity of 35
dwellings, and the following considerations:

§ Boston Water Recycling Centre has capacity to accommodate sewerage flows
from this site, but enhancements to the capacity of the foul sewerage network
will be required.

§ The creation of a vehicular access may require the relocation of a streetlight
§ The site is in Flood Zone 3a and the SFRA identifies flood hazard in 2115 as

‘danger for all’ and flood depth as ‘1.0m to 2.0m’ Developments will be
required to include appropriate mitigation.

2.5 This application seeks the demolition of the existing dwelling fronting Langrick Road
as well as outbuildings within the site and outline planning permission for up to 43
dwellings (revised down from 46 dwellings) with consideration given to access only
at this stage. Matters relating to the appearance, layout, scale and landscaping are
matters that are reserved for later approval.

2.6 Following independent assessment of the developer’s viability assessment the
scheme now offers 10 dwellings (approximately 23%) to be delivered as affordable
housing.

2.7 The application is supported by the plans and the following technical documents:

§ Design and access statement
§ Drainage strategy (rev A7)
§ Preliminary ecological appraisal and bat survey

Page 18



§ Planning Statement
§ Phase I and II Geo-environment assessment
§ Transport statement
§ Flood risk assessment (v8)
§ Viability Appraisal and Heads of Terms

3.0 Relevant History

3.1 B/07/0307 - Erection of 40 dwellings including associated garages, new estate
road, open space and ancillary development – Refused 25-7-2007 – Appeal
withdrawn

3.2 B/06/0831 - Construction of 40 No. dwellings plus garages, estate road and
ancillary development – Withdrawn 6/3/2007

3.3 B/02/0617 - Change of use from joiners workshop to joiners workshop and domestic
hobbies use – Approved 19/3/2003

4.0 Relevant Policy

South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036)

The site is an allocated site within the plan under ref: Fen002.

The following policies are considered to be most relevant to the determination:
§ Policy 1 – Spatial Strategy
§ Policy 2 – Development Management
§ Policy 3 – Design of New Development
§ Policy 4 – Approach to Flood Risk
§ Policy 5 – Meeting Physical Infrastructure and Service Needs
§ Policy 6 – Developer Contributions
§ Policy 10 – Meeting Assessed Housing Needs
§ Policy 11 – Distribution of New Housing
§ Policy 17 – Providing a Mix of Housing
§ Policy 18 – Affordable Housing
§ Policy 28 - The Natural Environment
§ Policy 30 – Pollution
§ Policy 31 – Climate Change and Renewable and Low Carbon Energy
§ Policy 32 – Community, Health and Well-being
§ Policy 33 - Delivering a more Sustainable Transport System
§ Policy 36 – Vehicle and Cycle Parking

§ Appendix 5 – Infrastructure requirements, constraints and mitigation -
Housing Allocations in Boston – the site is ref: Fen002, which states:

§ Boston Water Recycling Centre has capacity to accommodate sewerage flows
from this site, but enhancements to the capacity of the foul sewerage network
will be required.

§ The creation of a vehicular access may require the relocation of a streetlight
§ The site is in Flood Zone 3a and the SFRA identifies flood hazard in 2115 as

‘danger for all’ and flood depth as ‘1.0m to 2.0m’ Developments will be
required to include appropriate mitigation.

· Appendix 6 - Parking standards

Page 19



§ Appendix 8 - Developer contributions for education
§ Appendix 9 - Developer contributions for health care facilities

§ National Planning Policy Framework (2019)

§ Section 2 - Achieving Sustainable Development
§ Section 4 - Decision Making
§ Section 5 - Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes
§ Section 8 - Promoting Healthy and Safe Communities
§ Section 9 - Promoting sustainable transport
§ Section 11 - Making Effective Use of Land
§ Section 12 - Achieving Well-designed Places
§ Section 14 - Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and Coastal

Change

5.0 Representations

5.1 As a result of the publicity six letters of objection/concerns were received from the
occupiers of the following properties:

§ Langrick Road – no’s 31, 33, 34, 38, 39 and 40

5.2 A summary of their concerns are as follows:
§ Loss of privacy through overlooking
§ Loss of enjoyment when using our garden
§ Potential for new occupants to complain about the mature trees blocking their

sunlight
§ Impact on tranquillity
§ Increase in noise at all times of day and night
§ Increase in traffic in the area
§ Danger to schoolchildren and other walkers
§ Introduce more cars parking on Langrick Road
§ Road unsuitable for this increase in vehicles
§ Entrance and exit to the site would be dangerous in winter time
§ Entrance and exit obscured from the traffic especially when cars are parked

along Langrick Road
§ Who will be responsible for upkeep of proposed fencing
§ Concerns over the safety of development due to the filling in of the old pit and

the weight of new dwellings
§ Concern over piled foundations and whether these would damage the

surrounding properties. Is a survey going to be done?
§ Concerns over the drainage for the site and how this impacts on neighbours
§ Removal of tree stumps could disturb foundations of nearby buildings
§ Dyke along boundary should be reintroduced
§ Boundary should not be the new fence at the rear of my garden
§ Possible structural damage may occur from demolishing the existing dwelling

and structural surveys should be carried out prior and after demolition to
ensure no damage has occurred

§ Existing access to dwellings should not be obstructed
§ New wall should be erected along the boundary of the access where the

existing dwelling is to be demolished
§ New drains should be provided at developers cost
§ Site levels should not be raised
§ Poor sewage systems surround the site

Page 20



§ Covenants should be put on new dwellings to make sure they do not become
houses in multiple occupation

§ Double yellow lines near entrance should be installed
§ Concerns over street lighting
§ If passed a neighbour friendly work schedule should be introduced
§ Impact on existing infrastructure
§ Impact on the environment
§ Noise, pollution and impact on other neighbour’s amenities

6.0 Consultations

6.1 County Highways Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority – No objections subject
to conditions. Further advice given to applicant.

6.2 Environmental Health – No objections but recommends a number of conditions be
attached to protect future occupiers, existing occupiers of surrounding
development and to ensure the protection of the water environment.

6.3 Housing Strategy (Affordable Housing) – Offer of 10 units (over 20%) would be
acceptable. These could be delivered as a mix of 2x 1 bed/2 person flats/houses,
4x 2 bed houses, and 1x 3bed for affordable rent, and 1x 2bed/3 person and 2x 3
bed/4 person houses for shared ownership to help meet the identified need in
Boston.

6.4 Black Sluice Internal Drainage Board – Surface water should be discharged at
1.4ltrs/sec/Ha where possible. If this impractical then the Board’s written consent is
required for the discharge of water. The submitted surface water scheme does not
appear to have made provision for advised areas and the applicant must provide
clear evidence to the Local Planning Authority that these areas of concern will be
catered for within the surface water plan for the site.

6.5 Environment Agency – No objections subject to conditions.

6.6 NHS England – Request a financial contribution of £30,360.00 towards improving
health provision to mitigate the impact of the development.

6.7 Lincolnshire County Council (Education) - Request a financial contribution of
£255,845.00 towards improving education provision to mitigate the impact of the
development.

7.0 Planning Issues and Discussions

7.1 The key planning issues in the determination of this application are:

§ Principle of development
§ The proposal’s impact on the character and appearance of the area
§ Impact on highway safety
§ Flood risk and drainage
§ Impact on neighbour’s amenity
§ Developer contributions
§ Ecology and wildlife
§ Other matters
§ Planning Conditions
§ Planning Balance

Page 21



Principle of development

7.2 Policy 1 of the SELLP, which identifies Boston as a sub-regional centre, would
generally support the redevelopment of the site for housing as it is located within
the settlement boundary of Boston and will help support Boston’s role as a sub-
regional centre. The site is allocated for housing within the Plan under ref: Fen002.
Furthermore, it is recognised that the site is previously-developed (or brownfield) in
nature, the preference being given to the development of such sites (as opposed to
greenfield) within both the SELLP and the NPPF. The scheme would have the
potential to provide a significant level of housing, within a sustainable location and
on an allocated site. This would contribute positively to the housing needs (both
market and affordable) within the Borough, and thus would meet the aims of policies
10, 11, 17 & 18 of the SELLP and the aims of encouraging housing growth within
the NPPF.

7.3 It is therefore considered that, subject to all other matters being acceptable, the
principle of residential development on this site would be supported.

The proposal’s impact on the character and appearance of the area

7.4 This proposal has been submitted in outline form only with consideration given to
the access into the site, and therefore matters relating to the layout, scale,
appearance and the landscaping are matters that would be considered at a later
stage.

7.5 The density for the proposed development based on 43 dwellings equates to just
over 35 dwellings per hectare, which in general density terms is acceptable for this
urban area. It is noted that the allocation (Fen002) identifies a number of 35
dwellings being accommodated, however, this is only intended as a useful starting
point to influence development proposals. The associated policy justification
identifies that due regard must be given to policies 2 and 3 as well as Appendix 5
to determine whether the specific development proposal is acceptable.

7.6 An indicative master plan for the site has been submitted by the developers that
demonstrates how the proposed 43 dwellings could be accommodated on site.
Although the plan is indicative only it does demonstrate how the future layout could
accommodate the 43 dwellings without overdeveloping the site. It is considered that
it is possible for a high quality scheme to be achieved without resulting in
overdevelopment. The site is also surrounded on three sides (east, west and south)
by residential dwellings and therefore the keys views of the development are likely
to be from the open space are to the north. It is considered that the development of
this site would respect the relationships with these uses in character terms.

7.7 Due to flood risk concerns and the need to accommodate finished floor levels a
minimum of 1.9m Above Ordnance Datum (AOD) - approximately 600mm above
existing ground level - it is likely that any future application for reserved matters
relating to scale and appearance would include three-storey dwellings with no
habitable living accommodation at ground floor level. Whilst this is somewhat out
of character with the prevailing, historic forms within the area, there are clear
reasons for this requirement. However, matters of scale and appearance are not a
consideration with this outline application and further consideration of this could be
given at the Reserved Matters stage. Equally, it may be possible that the scheme
could be re-designed in flood risk terms to reduce this requirement at the RM stage.

Page 22



7.8 Based on the above assessment it is considered that the number of dwellings
proposed (43 units) appears acceptable for this allocated site (Ref: Fen002), and
given the limited views into the site from public vantage points the proposal is
unlikely to adversely impact the general character and appearance of the area. For
these reasons the proposal appears to accord with Policies 2 and 3 of the SELLP
and the intentions of Section 12 ‘Achieving Well-designed Places’ of the NPPF.

Access considerations

7.9 Access is a matter for consideration at this outline stage, this is defined as – the
accessibility to and within the site, for vehicles, cycles and pedestrians in terms of
the positioning and treatment of access and circulation routes and how these fit into
the surrounding access network.

7.10 The existing access to the site previously served the substantial commercial activity
which previously occupied the site. It is intended to widen the existing access off
Langrick Road by demolishing the existing dwelling that fronts on to Langrick Road.
The access into the site will be via a new 5.5 metre wide road built to adoptable
standards with a 2m metre footway on the western side of the road and a 1 metre
wide footway on the eastern side.

7.11 LCC as Highway Authority have considered the access arrangements and the
impact of the development as indicated by the Transport Statement. They have
raised no objections, subject to the imposition of conditions. It is noted that the
highway will be required to be constructed to an engineering standard that will allow
the road to be adopted by the Local Highways Authority. As access is a
consideration with this application conditions have been attached to the
recommendation relating to the design of the estate roads within the development.

7.12 Policy 36 ‘Vehicle and Cycle Parking’ provides minimum parking standards for
various types of development. Annex 6 of the SELLP provides details on the level
of car parking and cycle parking expected within new residential developments. It
indicates that two parking spaces should be provided to serve properties of up to
three bedrooms and that a garage can count as one space if it has an internal
dimensions of 2.6m by 5.6m with an additional 1m at its end to park cycles.

7.13 However, this proposal has been submitted in outline form where the layout is not
a consideration at this stage. It is therefore not possible to fully assess the level of
parking proposed for the dwellings but it is expected that, if the outline application
is approved, applicants have regard to this policy and the parking requirements set
out in Annex 6 of the SELLP when submitting the reserved matters for the site.

7.14 Given the above, and in particular the former use of the site, it is considered that
the proposed access arrangements are acceptable in highway terms and would not
result in any detrimental impact in terms of highway safety or capacity. Appropriate
conditions are recommended to further reduce the impact of the development in
this regard. As a consequence, the development would be in accordance with
policies 2 and 3 in respect of this issue.

Page 23



Flood Risk and drainage

7.15 The application site is located within flood zone 3 of the Environment Agency’s flood
zone maps and according the EA flood hazard maps (1 in 200 year) it is in a ‘danger
for all’ area where there is potential for flood level depths to exceed 1.6 metres.

7.16 The application is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) that has been
amended several times to allow for the guidance given by the EA to the applicants
to be incorporated within amended documents. The latest revision (version 8) has
been assessed by the EA and although originally objecting to the scheme they have
now withdrawn their objection subject to a compliance condition. This has been
included as condition 5 within the schedule of conditions set out at the end of this
report. The FRA also includes a Sequential and Exceptions Test, which is
considered to be appropriate and in view of the allocation of the site within the
SELLP, it is considered that there is no general objection to the development of the
site for housing from a flood risk perspective. Mitigation measures recommended
include: raising finished floor levels, arrangement of internal accommodation,
changes to the construction of the dwellings to improve flood resilience, providing
flood-storage within the site (swales), along with Flood Warning & Evacuation plans
for future residents.

7.17 Concerns have been expressed by neighbours about the potential of third party
flooding given raised levels and the impact on residential amenity, in terms of
overlooking that may result due to these raised levels. However, it is likely that land
levels will not be significantly raised given that future applications for reserved
matters are likely to include three storey dwellings with no habitable living
accommodation at ground floor level.

7.18 Both Anglian Water Services and Black Sluice IDB have also provided additional
advice for the developers which would be attached to any formal decision notice.
This would help to inform future development proposals for the site.

7.19 Based on the above assessment it is considered that, subject to conditions, the
proposal would accord with Policy 4 of the SELLP and the intentions of Section 14
‘Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change’ of the NPPF.

Impact on neighbour’s amenity

7.20 A number of local concerns have been raised in respect of the impact upon the
amenities of neighbouring properties. This proposal is for outline consent only and
therefore matters relating to the appearance, layout and design cannot be
considered at this stage. Until more detail is known about the final proposals it is
difficult to assess the full impact that development proposals may have on the
occupiers of neighbouring dwellings at this point in time. When the reserved matters
detail is submitted third parties will have the opportunity to submit their
representations based on the details of that application.

7.21 It is possible however to ensure that any future, detailed proposals would have an
acceptable impact on the amenities of future residents and thus based on the
information submitted with this outline application the proposal would accord with
Policies 2 and 3 of the SELLP. Any future detailed application for the reserved
matters will also be assessed against this policy.

Page 24



Developer contributions

7.22 Policy 6 ‘Developer Contributions’ of the SELLP sets out the obligations for major
developments that may be required to mitigate impacts of new development on local
services and infrastructure, and Policy 18 ‘Affordable Housing’ sets out the trigger
points and levels of affordable housing that would normally be expected for such
developments. Appendix 8 ‘Developer Contributions for Education Facilities’ and
appendix 9 ‘Developer Contributions for Health Care Facilities’ also have to be
considered.

7.23 This scheme would normally attract 20% of the units to be affordable homes (9
units) and financial requests have also been made in respect of Education and
Health:

§ A request has also been made by Lincolnshire Education Services for a
financial contribution of £255,845 towards:

o Primary Education – A new primary school in the west of Boston
o Secondary Education – Four additional classrooms at Haven High

Tollfield Campus
o Sixth-Form Education – One additional English classroom at Boston

Grammar School

§ A request has also been made by NHS England for a financial contribution
of £30,360 towards reception improvements at The Sidings Medical Practice
and a patients privacy room at Liquorpond Street Surgery

7.24 Having considered these requests, the applicants have submitted a viability
statement that tries to demonstrate that the proposed scheme would not be viable
with the planning obligations identified above. The applicants have advised that they
are able to provide the affordable housing requirement but in order for the scheme
to be viable and deliverable, a reduction in the suggested financial contributions for
health and education would be required. The applicants have identified that this is
because of a number of factors including the need for unknown build costs (pile
foundations with beams) and the high level of contamination on site.

7.25 Government guidance (NPPG) provides comments on Viability issues which
highlights:

§ It is up to the applicant to demonstrate whether particular circumstances justify
the need for a viability assessment at the application stage.

§ The weight to be given to a viability assessment is a matter for the decision
maker, having regard to all the circumstances in the case, including whether the
plan and viability evidence underpinning the plan is up to date, and site
circumstances including any changes since the plan was brought into force, and
the transparency of assumptions behind evidence submitted as part of the
viability assessment.

7.26 The applicant’s viability study includes a variety of inputs including the gross
development value (revenue), build costs, professional fees, marketing/legal costs,
finance, developer’s profit and site value, all of which appear to be reasonable in
the context of the scheme. The conclusion of the appraisal is that the assumptions
made within the applicant’s viability assessment are all reasonable and that the
scheme would be unviable if a provision of 20% affordable housing was provided
as well as the full contributions towards education and health provision.

Page 25



7.27 The submitted viability assessment has been independently assessed and it was
concluded that the scheme would be unviable if the requested level of 20%
affordable housing contribution was met along with the provision of the financial
contributions suggested. It did however indicate that the scheme would be viable
with a reduced overall ask.

7.28 Given the findings of the Councils independent assessment of the viability
information, and accepting that this is a previously-developed, and challenging site
in terms of its constraints, the viability challenge for the development is
acknowledged and understood. It is therefore accepted that the scheme cannot
meet the full requirements as identified earlier in this section without rendering the
development unviable. A balanced judgement therefore has to be made that would
not prejudice the delivery of this allocated site.

7.29 Following in depth discussion with the applicants regarding the independent
assessment they have now offered 10 of the 43 units (23%) to be affordable homes
which is just over the policy requirement of 20%, but with a nil contribution towards
the financial requests made by NHS England and Lincolnshire Education Services.
The level of affordable housing would be secured by way of a legal agreement
(unilateral undertaking).

7.30 The applicant’s offer of 10 affordable units with no further financial contributions is
considered to be reasonable and appropriate given the viability issues highlighted.
Whilst the scheme would fall short in respect of the other financial contributions, and
would therefore not be in full compliance with policy 6 (and appendices 8 and 9), it
would provide a policy compliant level of affordable housing which would be
compliant with policies 6 and 18. Given the conclusions of the independent
assessment, it is important to ensure that delivery of this site, and much needed
housing on a previously-developed and allocated site is not prejudiced by the
viability issues. This is in line with the PPG Guidance. Furthermore, the provision of
affordable housing is supported by policy.

7.31 A balanced judgement has to be made on the offer of 10 affordable units against
the potential of a reduced financial contribution towards education and health care
but with no affordable housing. It is Officer’s opinion that the offer of 10 units would
be reasonable (without other financial contributions) given that one of the key
priorities for Boston is to increase the amount of affordable housing and overall
housing choice. It is considered that the offer of 10 units is a positive benefit of the
scheme that would outweigh the potential reduced contributions towards education
and health care provision (with no affordable housing provision).

7.32 Subject to a Legal Agreement which satisfactorily covers the above being concluded
the scheme, on balance, would accord with policies 6 and 18 of the SELLP.

Ecology and wildlife

7.33 As part of the proposal the applicants have submitted a Preliminary Ecological
Appraisal and Protected Species Assessment the results of which lead to a number
of mitigation measures being proposed including a further survey to determine the
presence or absence of roosting bats. The recommendations made within the report
should be adhered to and it is good practice to ensure that the development is
carried out in accordance with the report’s recommendations. It is therefore

Page 26



considered that a condition should be attached to ensure compliance with these
recommendations.

Other matters

7.34 Policy 30 ‘Pollution’ and 31 ‘Climate change and renewable and low carbon energy’
of the SELLP set out a range of measure that developers would normally be
expected to comply with such as electric charging points, energy efficient boilers
and the need to comply with water efficiency standards. These measure aim to help
reduce the carbon footprint of developments making them more sustainable in line
with the guidance contained in the NPPF. This development would be a modern
development, designed to provide a high quality scheme meeting the expectations
of future residents and building regulations. With regard to the imposition of further
measures it is considered that this can be sufficiently dealt with by the way of
planning conditions requiring the submission of further details.

Planning Conditions

7.35 In addition to the standard conditions which limits the life span of the outline planning
permission and the site location plan, conditions are recommended which relate to
drainage and flood risk, highway works, contamination, ecology and a construction
management plan.

7.36 In order to protect the site and neighbouring land from flooding and in the interests
of flood risk, conditions are recommended that require the submission for approval
of a satisfactory drainage system and that the development is carried out in
accordance with the submitted flood risk assessment (v8).

7.37 A compliance condition is also imposed to ensure that the mitigation measures set
out in the ecological survey are adhered to.

7.38 A construction management plan also requires the submission of details of where
construction materials will be stored, the siting of welfare facilities, working hours
etc. in order to protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby dwellings during the
construction of the development.

8.0 Planning Balance

8.1 Section 38(6) of the Act requires that proposals are determined in accordance with
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. It is well-
defined in case law that the development plan (in this case the SELLP) should be
taken as a whole and it is for the decision-maker to weigh up the extent to which
proposals are in accordance with/conflict with policies of the development plan and
their objectives, along with all relevant material considerations. The weight
attributed to each of these factors within this exercise is known as the ‘planning
balance’.

8.2 This site is allocated in the SELLP for housing (ref: Fen002) and within the
settlement boundary of Boston. It is also a previously-developed site. Therefore,
the principle of residential development on this site is not disputed. It therefore
accords with Policy 1. The scheme would make a significant contribution to
boosting the supply of housing within the Borough, and would also contribute
towards the delivery of Affordable Housing. These are significant benefits arising
from the scheme.

Page 27



8.3 The environmental impacts of this development in relation to highway impact, flood
risk, wildlife/ecology, contamination and general sustainability are considered to be
acceptable and can be appropriately mitigated through the imposition of
recommended conditions. Therefore the scheme would comply with policies 2, 3,
4, 30 and 31 of the SELLP.

8.4 The proposal would also include for provision of 10 affordable homes, although in
order to maintain the viability of the scheme the requested contributions towards
education and health provision cannot be complied with. The affordable housing
provision would be secured by a legal agreement (unilateral undertaking). In this
instance therefore a balanced decision in reference to the obligations required to
mitigate the impact of the development is considered appropriate given the viability
challenges, and that with the provision of the affordable housing, the scheme would
still be in broad accordance with policy 6, as well as securing much needed
affordable housing as identified by policy 18. When taken as a whole, it is
considered that the proposals would be in accordance with the aims of the
development plan, in particular those policies identified within this report.

8.5 Furthermore, whilst there are material considerations within this report which both
weigh in favour of and some which way against the scheme, overall, it is considered
that the benefits of the scheme would outweigh the negatives identified.

8.6 To conclude, when taken as a whole, it is Officers opinion that the scheme would
be acceptable in the planning balance, subject to the completion of the necessary
legal agreement and subject to the imposition of the conditions as recommended.

9.0 Summary and Conclusion

9.1 The proposal would result in the development of former waste handling depot for
residential purposes. The scheme would provide a substantial contribution to the
housing supply within the Borough and would provide 10 affordable homes for the
Borough. The site is suitable for residential development and the primary issues in
the determination of the application have been fully assessed as identified above
and found to be acceptable or would be acceptable subject to the imposition of the
conditions recommended and the conclusion of the associated S106 agreement. It
is therefore recommended that the application is supported.

10.0 Recommendation

10.1 It is recommended that Committee RESOLVE TO GRANT PLANNING
PERMISSION subject to the following conditions and the completion of the section
106 agreement relating to affordable housing as detailed in the report.

CONDITIONS AND INFORMATIVES

1. No development shall commence until details of the layout, scale, appearance
and landscaping of the development (hereafter referred to as the 'reserved
matters') have been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority.

Reason: This is an outline application only and such details must be approved
before development commences in order to comply with the objectives of Policies
2 and 3 of the South east Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and required to be

Page 28



imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004.

2. Application for the first submission for approval of reserved matters shall be made
to the local planning authority not later than the expiration of three years from the
date of this permission.

Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

3. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of two
years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved.

Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

4. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved site location plan ref: P/A 1444/05/01.

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with
approved plans in accordance with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire
Local Plan (2011-2036).

5. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) dated May 2019 by
Farrow Walsh Consulting reference FW1599/FRA/001-V8 and the following
mitigation measures detailed within section 3.2 of the FRA including:

§ Finished floor levels to be set no lower than 1.9m above Ordnance Datum
(AOD)

§ Ground floors of the dwellings to be restricted to non-habitable
accommodation

§ Flood resilience and resistance measures to be incorporated into the
proposed development as stated

The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation of each
unit and subsequently remain in place.

Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future
occupants and to accord with Polices 2, 3, 4 and 31 of the South East Lincolnshire
Local Plan (2011-2036) and the intentions of the National Planning Policy
Framework (2019).

6. Prior to the construction of any building above damp proof course, a detailed scheme
for drainage and water infrastructure shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The details shall include:

§ A scheme for the provision of mains foul sewerage infrastructure on and off the
site

§ Details of connection point(s) and discharge rate(s)

Prior to the occupation of any dwelling within any phase of the development, the
drainage and water infrastructure measures relating to that phase and dwelling
must have been carried out in complete accordance with the approved scheme.

Page 29



Reason: To prevent environmental and amenity problems arising from flooding and
to accord with Polices 2, 3, 4 and 31 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan
(2011-2036) and the intentions of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019)

6. The water consumption of each dwelling hereby permitted should not exceed the
requirement of 110 litres per person per day (as set out as the optional requirement
in Part G of the Building Regulations 2010 and the South East Lincolnshire Local
Plan, 2019). The person carrying out the work must inform the Building Control
Body that this duty applies. A notice confirming the requirement for the water
consumption has been met shall be submitted to the Building Control Body and
Local Planning Authority, no later than five days after the completion of each
individual dwelling.

Reason: To protect the quality and quantity of water resources available to the
district. This condition is imposed in accordance with Policy 31 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-0236).

7. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the
recommendations contained within the submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
prepared by Skilled Ecology Consultancy Limited (dated August 2018).

Reason: To ensure that protected species and their habitats are protected and to
provide enhancements to biodiversity in accordance with Polices 2, 3 and 28 of the
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

8. Prior to the commencement of development above slab level, final details of
measures that aim to reduce pollution and promote renewable and low carbon
energy (including measures such as facilities for EV car charging) and details
relating to the timing of their implementation, shall be submited to and approved in
writing with the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be constructed in
accordance with the approved measures.

Reason: To help reduce pollution and promote renewable and low carbon energy
in new development schemes and to accord with Policies 2, 3 , 30 and 31 of the
South east Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and to accord with the intentions
of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

9. Before any dwelling is occupied, all of that part of the estate road and associated
footways that forms the junction with the main road and which will be constructed
within the limits of the existing highway, shall be laid out and constructed to finished
surface levels in accordance with details to be submitted to, and approved in writing
by, the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of safety, to avoid the creation of pedestrian trip hazards
within the public highway from surfacing materials, manholes and gullies that may
otherwise remain for an extended period at dissimilar, interim construction levels.
This condition accords with Polices 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local
Plan (2011-2036).

10. Prior to the commencement any estate roads, final details of an estate road and
completion plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The plan shall include details of how the construction of the development
would be phased and standards to which the estate roads on each phase will be

Page 30



completed during the construction period of the development. The delivery of the
estate roads shall be undertaken in accordance with the agreed plan.

Reason: To ensure that a safe and suitable standard of vehicular and pedestrian
access is provided for residents throughout the construction period of the
development and to accord with Polices 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire
Local Plan (2011-2036).

11. The permitted development shall be undertaken in accordance with a surface water
drainage scheme that shall first have been approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

The scheme shall:

· Be based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the
hydrological and hydrogeological context of the development;

· Provide details of how run-off will be safely conveyed and attenuated during
storms up to and including the 1 in 100 year critical storm event, with an
allowance for climate change, from all hard surfaced areas within the
development into the existing local drainage infrastructure and watercourse
system without exceeding the run-off rate for the undeveloped site;

· Provide attenuation details and discharge rates which shall be restricted to
1.4 litres per second;

· Provide details of the timetable for any phasing of implementation for the
drainage scheme; and

· Provide details of how the scheme shall be maintained and managed over
the lifetime of the development, including any arrangments for adoption by
any public body or statutory undertaker and any other arrangements
required to secure the operation of the drainage system throughout its
lifetime.

No dwelling shall be occupied until the approved scheme has been completed or
provided on the site in accordance with the approved phasing. The approved
scheme shall be retained and maintained in full in accordance with the approved
details.

Reason: To ensure that the development hereby permitted is adequately drained
without creating or increasing flood risk to land or property adjacent to, or
downstream of, the development permitted. This condition accords with Policies 2,
3 and 4 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and the intentions
of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019)

12. Where an unacceptable risk or risks have been identified within the submitted risk
assessment, a detailed remediation strategy to deal with land contamination and/or
pollution of controlled waters affecting the site shall be submitted and approved by
the Local Planning Authority (LPA). No works, other than investigative works, shall
be carried out on the site prior to receipt of written approval of the remediation
strategy by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the proposed remediation plan is appropriate and to accord
with Policy 30 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

13. Remediation of the site shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
remediation strategy (see preceding condition). No deviation shall be made from

Page 31



this scheme without the express written agreement of the Local Planning Authority.
(LPA).

Reason: To ensure site remediation is carried out to the agreed protocol and
to accord with Policy 30 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

14. Within two months of completion of remediation, two copies of a closure report shall
be submitted to the Local Planning Authority (LPA). The report shall provide
validation and certification that the required works regarding contamination have
been carried out in accordance with the approved Method Statement(s). Post
remediation sampling and monitoring results shall be included in the closure report.

Reason: To provide verification that the required remediation had been carried out to
the required standards and to accord with Policy 30 of the South East Lincolnshire
Local Plan (2011-2036).

15. If during development, contamination not previously considered is identified, then
the Local Planning Authority (LPA) shall be notified immediately and no further work
shall be carried out until a method statement detailing a scheme for dealing with
suspect contamination has been submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure all contamination within the site is dealt with and to accord with
Policy 30 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

16. Prior to the commencement of the development above ground level, a Construction
Management Plan shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval
in writing. The Construction Management Plan will prescribe how the construction
of the site will be phased, where site accommodation and welfare facilities will be
placed, hours of working, where site vehicles and the vehicles of site personnel will
be parked and where materials will be delivered and stored within the site.
Construction of the permitted development shall be undertaken in accordance with
the approved Construction Management Plan.

Reason: In the interests of the safety and free passage of the public, in the
interests of residential amenity and to accord with Policies 2 and 3 of the South
East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

Informatives

1. All roads within the development hereby permitted must be constructed to an
engineering standard equivalent to that of adoptable highways. Those roads that
are to be put forward for adoption as public highways must be constructed in
accordance with the Lincolnshire County Council Development Road
Specification that is current at the time of construction and the developer will be
required to enter into a legal agreement with the Highway Authority under Section
38 of the Highways Act 1980. Those roads that are not to be voluntarily put forward
for adoption as public highways, may be subject to action by the Highway Authority
under Section 219 (the Advance Payments code) of the Highways Act 1980.

2. Please contact the Lincolnshire County Council Streetworks and Permitting Team
on 01522 782070 to discuss any proposed statutory utility connections and any
other works which will be required within the public highway in association with the
development permitted under this Consent. This will enable Lincolnshire County

Page 32



Council to assist in the coordination and timings of these works.

3. The drainage strategy proposes SUDs attenuation ponds and a storm overflow to
a culverted drain. This strategy needs to consider the implications of the
contamination found on the site to ensure no pathway is created for site
contaminants to contaminate the wider water environment. Specific advice should
be sort from the Environment Agency in this regards

Mike Gildersleeves
Growth Manager

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPLICATION B/18/0528

85 dwellings with associated infrastructure
including new estate roads, public open

space and attenuation ponds

Land adjacent and to the south of Hawthorn Tree
School on the east side of Toot Lane, Boston,

PE21 0PT

Applicant: Lealand Homes Ltd & Gleeson
Regeneration Ltd

Page 35

Agenda Item 2



P
age 36



.
BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

Planning Committee – 15 October 2019

Reference No: B/18/0528

Expiry Date: 05-Apr-2019
Extension of Time: 31-Oct-2019

Application Type: Full Planning Permission
Proposal: 85 dwellings with associated infrastructure including new estate

roads, public open space and attenuation ponds
Site: Land adjacent and to the south of Hawthorn Tree School on the east

side of Toot Lane, Boston, PE21 0PT

Applicant: Lealand Homes Ltd & Gleeson Regeneration Ltd
Agent:

Ward: Fishtoft Parish:Fishtoft Parish Council

Case Officer: Trevor Thompson Third Party Reps: 3

Link to Application: B/18/0528

Recommendation: RESOLVE TO GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONCLUSION
OF A LEGAL AGREEMENT

Page 37

https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/


1.0 Reason for Report

1.1 The Growth Manager considers that this application should be determined by the
Planning Committee because of the site’s planning history and the proposals
relating to affordable housing.

2.0 Application Site and Proposal

2.1 The application site is located on the eastern side of Toot Lane, Fishtoft and
occupies about 2.96 hectares. The site is currently used for agricultural purposes
and lies to the south of the Hawthorn Tree Corner County Primary School and
Children’ Centre.

2.2 Agricultural fields lie to the west of the site, on the opposite side of the road and to
the south. The southern boundary runs adjacent to an existing drainage channel.
There are residential properties to the east of the site at Ward Crescent and Bladen
Estate including a parking forecourt. The site has an existing agricultural access
onto Toot Lane, approximately mid-way along the western boundary of the site.

2.3 This application seeks full planning permission for the erection of 85 dwellings on
this site including new estate roads, new vehicular access onto Toot Lane, public
open space, attenuation ponds plus associated infrastructure.

2.4 The application is accompanied by the following documents:

§ Flood risk assessment (revised)
§ Construction management plan
§ Design and access statement
§ Geo-environmental appraisal
§ Ecological assessment
§ Economic benefits report
§ Travel Plan
§ Planning statement
§ Noise assessment report
§ Access and availability appraisal
§ Unilateral Undertaking (draft) relating to off- site contribution for affordable

housing in lieu of on-site provision.

3.0 Relevant History

3.1 In June 2015, a hybrid outline application for the erection of a Children’s Centre and
play area for the Hawthorn Tree Corner Primary School with all matters submitted
and 79 dwellings with all matters reserved was approved - B/14/0210. Essentially
the Children’s Centre building was submitted in full whilst the residential element of
the scheme was in outline form.

3.2 The application was granted following the completion of a planning obligation which
provided in negative form for the transfer of the land for the delivery of the Children’s
Centre for the school at a no/nominal sum in lieu of any education contribution.
Conditions were also attached to the permission that required, amongst other
things:

§ the submission of an affordable housing plan,

Page 38



§ the provision of public open space within the site to a minimum aggregate area
of 7.5% of the total housing site area,

§ a surface water scheme
§ Only one main estate road junction to serve the development.
§ gardens along the east boundary be a minimum of 10m and the properties

along this boundary shall be one and a half storey.

3.3 In March 2016 an application for the approval of reserved matters for the erection
of 79 dwellings including layout, scale, appearance, access and landscaping on this
site was approved - B/15/0280. Condition 4 attached to the outline approval
required the development to commence within 2 years from the date of approval of
the last of the reserved matters to be approved.

3.4 The Children’s Care Centre has been erected and delivered in line with the
agreement. However the time period for submitting any further applications for the
approval of reserved matters for another scheme has now expired and the time
period for the commencement of the approved 79 dwellings has also expired.

3.5 In December 2017, an application under section 73A for the removal of condition 8
(affordable housing plan) attached to permission B/14/0210 was refused -
B/17/0019).

Land to the west of the application site, on the opposite side of Toot Lane

3.6 In January 2014, outline planning permission for the erection of a three phase
residential development consisting of 340 dwellings plus a nursery school building
with all matters ( layout, scale, appearance, landscaping and access) reserved for
future consideration was approved. This development included the widening of the
northern section of Toot Lane to provide school drop off point. Details of the layout
for defined phase 1 (85 dwellings) was also included a part of the application.

3.7 Permission was granted subject to conditions plus a section 106 agreement (ref
B/14/0103) relating to education. This permission has expired.

4.0 Relevant Policy

South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036)

4.1 The application site is designated as ‘Housing Commitment’ in the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) where specifically policy 11 of this document
applies.

4.2 Policy 11 (Distribution of New Housing) seeks to demonstrate that the Plan’s
housing provisions will meet the identified requirements. It identifies the scale of
new housing allocations that will be required in each of the larger settlements, and
lists all of the housing allocations shown on the Plan’s Policies Map. It also includes
those sites classed as a ‘Housing Commitment’ based on previous/existing
permissions on the sites.

4.3 Relevant policies contained within the SELLP are as follows:

§ Policy 1- Spatial Strategy
§ Policy 2- Development Management
§ Policy 3– Design of new development

Page 39



§ Policy 4- Approach to flood risk
§ Policy 5-Meeting physical infrastructure and service needs
§ Policy 6 – Developer contributions
§ Policy 10-Meeting assessed housing needs
§ Policy 11- Distribution of new housing
§ Policy 17-Providing a mix of housing
§ Policy 18-Affordable housing
§ Policy 28- The Natural Environment
§ Policy 29- The Historic Environment
§ Policy 30- Pollution
§ Policy 31- Climate change and renewable and low carbon energy
§ Policy 32- Community, health and well being
§ Policy 36: Vehicle and Cycle Parking

Appendix 6 – Parking standards
Appendix 8- Developer contributions for education facilities

National Planning Policy Framework (2019) (NPPF)

4.4 The relevant parts of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) that are
relevant to this proposal are:

§ Section 2 :Achieving sustainable development
§ Section 5: Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
§ Section 9 : Promoting sustainable transport
§ Section 11: Making effective use of land
§ Section 12: Achieving well designed places
§ Section 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal

change
§ Section 15: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
§ Section 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

5.0 Representations

5.1 As a result of publicity two representations have been received from the occupiers
of the following properties;

§ 27 Rider Gardens
§ 43 Bladen Estate

5.2 The objections and comments can be summarised as follows:

§ Impact on residential amenity. Concerns relating to loss of privacy, impact on
character of area, visual impact and noise and disturbance

§ Land to the rear of properties at Ward Crescent/Bladen Estate that back onto
the application site will become an area of constant use by the dog walkers
currently using an unauthorised access route along the neighbours property

Note: the proposed layout shows an agricultural access linked to the eastern
end of the main estate road near to properties at Ward Crescent.

§ Concerns relating to children’s’ safety particular during the construction period
especially at drop off and pick up times given the immense traffic measures
during these periods

Page 40



§ No parking at the school for parents so vehicles are parked from the school
stretching a long way down Toot Lane meaning two -way traffic cannot flow.
This is the same for the other direction along Kenleigh Drive and Eastwood
Road.

§ Vehicles struggle to turn onto Toot Lane from Eastwood Road due to amount
of parked vehicles.

§ Cycle path is heavily used by school children and parents. There is no path on
the other side of the road so this path is invaluable as a safe access to the
school.

5.3 One letter has been received from the head teacher of Hawthorn Tree Corner
Primary School. The head teacher confirms that the school has no objections in
principle with this application but reiterates the concerns expressed by one resident
with regard to the safety of children during the construction period and the highway
safety, parking and access issues during the drop off and pick up periods.

5.4 The head teacher has also raised concerns that the existing cycle path that runs
alongside Toot Lane is to be removed as part of this development.

Note: The applicant confirms that there are no plans to amend the existing highway,
apart from the installation of the new access points.

6.0 Consultations

6.1 Fishtoft Parish Council has raised no objections but asks ‘why are there additional
dwellings to the original 79?, has the vehicle pull-in been removed?’

Note: This application seeks full planning permission for 85 dwellings and is not
linked to the outline approval for 79 dwellings identified above. Furthermore, no
conditions were attached to the outline approval that required the provision of a
‘vehicle pull in’. As indicated above, the outline permission on the opposite side of
the road included road widening and vehicle drop off points, these are not for
consideration in this scheme.

6.2 County Highway Authority has no objections subject to 4 conditions relating to
construction specifications and surface water drainage.

6.3 Heritage Lincolnshire has no objections subject to one condition that requires the
archaeological work that forms part of the submitted archaeological evaluation is
carried out in accordance with the mitigation strategy.

6.4 Witham Fourth District Internal Drainage Board has raised no objections but point
out the need to obtain the Board’s consent to discharge surface water to a
watercourse.

6.5 Lincolnshire Police has no objections.

6.6 Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue objects to this application on the grounds of
inadequate water supplies for firefighting. In order to remove this application,
Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue recommends the installation of two fire hydrants
within the site.

Note: This matter has been addressed by condition 13 below.

Page 41



6.7 Anglian Water Services has no objections and confirms that the sewerage system
at present has available capacity for the flows from the proposed development.

6.8 BBC Local Housing Authority has made the following comments;

‘Although, in line with the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan, our preference would
be to have the affordable housing contribution delivered on site, on this occasion
the LHA is happy to support and accept the payment of the commuted sum for
affordable housing as set out in the S106. Following consideration of the applicants
proposals for affordable housing provision and negotiations with them the LHA is
satisfied that the payment of this commuted sum will provide the best outcome long
term’.

The issue relating to affordable housing is discussed below.

6.9 Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust has no objections but has made comment with regard to
ecology enhancements within the site.

6.10 Lincolnshire County Council (Education) considers that given the history of the site,
the appropriate (education) contribution has already been made.

6.11 Environmental Health has made the following comments:

‘Whilst the air quality impact of the development in its own right is likely to be low
in terms of its impact upon Boston Borough Council’s Air Quality Management
Areas all such developments have an incremental contribution to traffic in the town.
Whilst the applicant has developed a travel plan which looks to mitigate vehicular
usage by future occupants of the site most occupiers will remain reliant on the motor
vehicle. Electric or hybrid-electric powered vehicles currently form a small
percentage of the total number of vehicles on the road. However, electric/hybrid
vehicles will become more popular, as further advances in technology are
anticipated, and the likelihood is that these vehicles will become less expensive.
Together with future development of Government policy in this area, it is possible
that a significant percentage of vehicles will be electric or part electric powered in
the near future. A key theme of the NPPF is that developments should enable future
occupiers to make green vehicle choices and it explicitly states that low emission
vehicle infrastructure, including electric vehicle (EV) re-charging, should be
provided. Boston Borough Council and South Holland DC are currently developing
specific guidance for developers on air quality and mitigation measures which is to
be embedded within the new local plan. This will include provision of electrical
vehicle recharging points. The provision of electric charging points also helps meet
environmental objectives of the 4th Lincolnshire Transport Plan (April 2013) and
Boston Transport Strategy (2016 – 2036). I would therefore request electric vehicle
recharging point are provided to all property on the proposed development.’

Environmental Health also recommend that the working hours and site delivery
hours indicated within the construction management plan be conditioned
accordingly in the interest of residential amenity.

6.12 NHS England has not requested a contribution towards health facilities to mitigate
the impact of development.

Page 42



6.13 Environment Agency initially raised objections to this application but following the
submission of an amended Flood Risk Assessment, the Environment Agency has
now withdrawn its objections subject to one condition that relates to flood risk.

7.0 Planning Issues and Discussions

7.1 The key planning issues in the determination of this application are:

§ Principle of development and policy implications
§ Design and layout
§ Impact on highway safety
§ Impact on residential amenity
§ Flood risk and drainage
§ Developers contributions
§ Affordable housing
§ Construction management plan
§ Ecology

Principle of development and policy implications

7.2 Whilst the site is greenfield in nature, as indicated above the site is designated as
‘Housing Commitment’ in the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and
lies within the settlement boundary and at the edge of countryside. Policies 1 and
11 are therefore supportive of the development. Policy 11 seeks to demonstrate that
the Plan’s housing provisions will meet the identified requirements. It identifies the
scale of new housing allocations that will be required in each of the larger
settlements, and lists all of the housing allocations shown on the Plan’s Policies
Map.

7.3 The scheme would have the potential to provide a significant level of housing, within
a sustainable location and on a committed site. This would contribute positively to
the housing needs (both market and affordable) within the Borough, and thus would
meet the aims of policies 10, 11, 17 & 18 of the SELLP and the aims of encouraging
housing growth within the NPPF. The principle of residential development on this
site is therefore acceptable.

Impact on highway safety

7.4 Toot Lane is a single carriageway, two-way road and is subject to a 30mph speed
restriction in the vicinity of the site access. There is a School Safety Zone in the
vicinity of the school entrance to the north of the site’s new access. The speed
restriction increases to the national speed limit approximately 150m to the south of
the site’s new access. There is a combined cycle/footpath on the eastern side of
Toot Lane though there is no footpath on the western side of Toot Lane, opposite
the site. The nearest bus stop is located about 250m away.

7.5 It is intended to construct a new vehicular access onto Toot Lane in the south- west
corner of the site which is the same location as the scheme that was approved in
March 2016. The proposed ‘T’ junction will be about 70m south -west from the
boundary shared with the Children’s Care Centre. The location of the proposed
access is considered suitable and visibility along Toot Lane in either direction is
acceptable. The main estate road that will serve this development runs roughly west
to east and there are various cul-de-sacs and shared surfaces leading off the main
spine road which will to serve the proposed 85 dwellings. Six dwellings (plots 1-6)

Page 43



will be served by two private access roads that will access directly onto Toot Lane,
to the north of the main estate road access. No objections are raised to this
arrangement by the Highway Authority, subject to the imposition of conditions.

7.6 It is noted that there is some local concerns regarding increased traffic in this area.
However, the principle of traffic generated by up to 79 dwellings on this site has
been established by the approval of the previous applications. It is considered that
the traffic that would likely to be generated by an additional six dwellings will be
negligible and would not result in a severe cumulative impact on the local highway
network. Furthermore, the scheme is in an area where a significant level of
development is either allocated or committed, and thus, it is likely that additional
measures to ensure an acceptable impact from those developments on the highway
network would come forward at the relevant time.

7.7 Policy 36 of the SELLP requires within the curtilage (for houses or flats), 2 spaces
for dwellings up to three bedrooms and 3 spaces for dwellings with 4 or more
bedrooms. This policy also indicates that ‘all new development, including change
of use, should provide vehicle and cycle parking, in accordance with the minimum
parking standards adopted by the Local Planning Authorities ( in appendix 6) unless
a high quality design can demonstrate that a lower standard of provision delivers
the requirements set out in 1-4 below’.

7.8 There is ample space within each plot to meet the vehicle and cycle requirements
of policy 36.

7.9 Overall therefore it is considered that the scheme is acceptable in relation to
highway safety and parking and would be compliant with policies 2,3 and 36 of the
SELLP.

Design and layout – impact on the character of the area

7.10 It is proposed to construct 85 dwellings on this site utilising 14no.different property
styles and comprising a mixture of 2, 3 and 4 bedroom houses. The mix of houses
includes:

§ 29 no. 2 bedroomed semi-detached
§ 25 no. 3 bedroomed semi detached
§ 26 no. 3 bedroomed detached
§ 5 no. 4 bedroomed detached.

7.11 The layout is similar to the scheme that was approved in March 2016 for 79
dwellings on this site. The proposed density is now around 29 dwellings per
hectare. In comparison, the density adjacent to the site at Ward Crescent is around
25 dwellings per hectare and the density of the previous scheme was 26.6 dwellings
per hectare. The proposed density at this edge of town location is acceptable.

7.12 The proposed layout includes an area of public open space along the southern
boundary of the site, similar to the scheme that was approved previously. However,
the amount of public open space has been reduced as a consequence to the
additional dwellings that are now proposed. The amount of public open space now
proposed equates to 0.29 hectares (i.e. about 10% of the site area). It is also
proposed to provide play equipment on this open space in the south-eastern corner
of the site, next to the proposed attenuation pond. The shape of the proposed public
open space is linear and runs along the southern boundary of the site, next to the

Page 44



drain. Whilst in design terms, it is not entirely ideal and its functionality is reduced,
it is noted that its location and form is similar to the scheme that was approved in
2016. Overall the amount and form of open space and the type of play equipment
proposed are acceptable.

7.13 The design of the dwellings are varied and the mix of house types is consistent
across the whole site. The development is largely designed around perimeter
blocks, fronting the estate roads and private drives. Plot sizes are varied throughout
to cater for both market need and demand, providing choice. The orientation of the
proposed houses along parts of the northern boundaries ensures minimal active
frontage facing the primary school and Children’s Centre. Initially the proposed
pallet of materials to be used in the construction of the dwellings was very limited
and consisted merely of two brick types and one roof tile. This was not considered
acceptable and the applicant has now extended the number of brick types to four
(including main and feature bricks) with two contrasting roof tiles. This is now
acceptable.

7.14 The proposed layout also includes two surface water attenuation ponds, one at the
eastern end of the site and the other next to the site’s access. The drainage element
of this scheme is discussed further below. The previous approved scheme did not
include any attenuation ponds as part of the approved layout. The attenuation
ponds will be offered for adoption by Anglian Water Services. These areas also
contribute to providing green areas and play space within the development.

7.15 There is little vegetation within the site or along the site’s boundaries. There is some
existing trees along the north –eastern corner of the site which is to be retained.
The submitted layout plan shows some new tree planting within the site, both within
the public open space and within garden areas. Further details are secured by
conditions. It is also noted that the plots include a range of differing garden sizes
which provide sufficient amenity spaces within plots for future residents.

7.16 It is considered that the design, layout and density of this scheme is acceptable and
accords with the overall objectives of policies 2 and 3 of the SELLP.

Impact on residential amenity

7.17 There are residential properties within the immediate vicinity of the site, to the east
at Bladen Estate and further to the north along Toot Lane, Eastwood Road, Clifton
Road and Kenleigh Drive.  In particular, the amenity of the occupiers of the
properties along Ward Crescent (i.e. nos 106 -108) that back onto the application
site have the potential to be affected by this development.

7.18 These occupiers currently enjoy views from these properties of the open fields that
lie to the rear of their properties and this proposed development will represent a
significant change to their outlook and visual amenity. However as indicated above,
this site is designated in the SELLP as a ‘Housing Commitment’ and previous
permissions have been granted for housing on this site. The main issue with regard
to residential amenity is whether the siting, design and layout of the scheme will
substantially cause overlooking, erode privacy or undermine daylight/sunlight
provision.

7.19 The proposed dwellings on plots 44 and 45 will be sited next to the rear boundaries
shared with 106-108 Ward Crescent.  The side elevations of these two dwellings
will face the shared boundary, the rear elevations of the neighbours properties and

Page 45



in part, the parking forecourt that serves Ward Crescent. The siting of the proposed
dwellings have been changed since the application was originally submitted and
the gap between the two dwellings has increased in order to maintain views from
the rear gardens of the neighbouring properties. The proposed dwellings will be
about 5m from the shared (eastern) boundary which is marked by a low fence and
a minimum of 16m from the rear elevations of the bungalows. The gable ends of
each dwelling that will face the neighbouring properties do not contain any first floor
habitable windows. The spatial relationships between the existing dwellings and
the proposed dwellings are acceptable.

7.20 As indicated above, one neighbour has raised concerns about the use of a small
pocket of land to the rear of Bladen Estate which may be used by dog walkers and
may undermine privacy. It is proposed to provide a farm access from the adjacent
fields to the proposed estate road at the eastern end of the road. The applicant
says that the adjacent land is farmland and will be cropped most of the time. It will
not be in public use and signage may be erected to prevent public access if
necessary.

7.21 It is proposed to erect a foul water pumping station next to the larger proposed
attenuation ponds in the south eastern corner of the site, near the boundary shared
with nos 43-46 Bladen Estate. This structure will be about 4.5m from the eastern
boundary of the site and a minimum of 18m from the neighbouring bungalows. No
details of the pumping station have been submitted though it is unlikely that the
amenity of the occupiers of these properties will be harmed visually, through noise
disturbance or odour. A condition is recommended that requires the submission of
the details of these structures for approval (condition 19 below).

7.22 It is considered that the proposed siting and design of the proposed dwellings and
the layout of the scheme in relation to neighbouring properties and occupiers are
acceptable and accords with the objectives of policies 2 and 3 of the SELLP.

Flood risk and drainage

7.23 The site lies within a high risk flood area and the application is accompanied by a
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA). The FRA recommends that finished floor levels of
the proposed dwellings be set a minimum of 1m above existing levels. This is in
line with the flood risk assessment that was submitted previously at outline stage.
The Environment Agency has no objections subject to a condition relating to floor
levels.

7.24 A sustainable urban drainage system (SUDS) will be incorporated as part of the
scheme with attenuation ponds and swales forming part of the design. Two surface
water attenuation ponds will be constructed, one near the entrance to the site, next
to the proposed access and the other, larger attenuation pond, near the site’s
eastern boundary. The surface water will be discharged into the adjacent
watercourse along the southern boundary at an agreed rate. The County Highway
Authority, acting as Lead Local Flood Authority, has no objections subject to
conditions, including one that requires the submission of a comprehensive surface
water drainage scheme (condition 7 below).

7.25 It is proposed to discharge foul water to the existing sewer that lies along Toot Lane.
and to install a foul water pumping station within the site to serve this development.
Anglian Water confirms that gravity foul water domestic waste should discharge
into the sewer in Toot Lane and there is sufficient capacity within the existing

Page 46



system to serve this development. The new connection to the existing sewer will
be to the north of the site, next to the Hawthorn Tree Corner Primary School.

Developer contributions

7.26 Policy 6 ‘Developer Contributions’ of the SELLP sets out the obligations for major
developments that may be required to mitigate impacts of new development on local
services and infrastructure, and Policy 18 ‘Affordable Housing’ sets out the trigger
points and levels of affordable housing that would normally be expected for such
developments. Appendix 8 ‘Developer Contributions for Education Facilities’ and
appendix 9 ‘Developer Contributions for Health Care Facilities’ also have to be
considered.

7.27 In addition, paragraph 56 of the NPPF states that:

‘Planning obligations must only be sought where they meet all of the following
Tests

a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
b) directly related to the development; and
c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development’.

7.28 This is a full application and not an application for the approval of reserved matters
relating to the earlier permissions. This means that the aforementioned policies are
relevant considerations and could be revisited. However, it is noted that in relation
to off-site education contributions the planning agreement that formed part of the
previous approval primarily related to the transfer of land to the Community Centre
in order to deliver the Children’s Centre. This has already been undertaken and the
Children’s Centre has been built.

7.29 Lincolnshire County Council Strategic Development Officer considers that given the
history of the site, the appropriate (education) contribution has already been made
from the development site for a scheme of this size. Consequently, there has been
no further request for an offsite education contribution. Similarly, no health
contributions have been requested by the NHS.

7.30 It is intended to provide an off -site contribution towards affordable housing as part
of this scheme and the applicant has submitted a Unilateral Undertaking to meet
the objectives of policy 18 of the SELLP. This matter is discussed further below.

Affordable housing

7.31 Policy 18 of the SELLP requires the provision of affordable housing for eligible
development and the issue relating to affordable housing has been subject to
extensive discussions between the applicant and the Local Housing Authority for
many months. Originally the applicant identified that due to viability concerns, a
scheme with zero affordable housing was proposed. Having undertaken
negotiations, this position has changed. Whilst the applicant does not wish to
provide any on–site affordable housing units, they now wish to provide an off-site
contribution that amounts to £455,000. The applicant’s cites relatively low values,
along with higher than average build costs, and also that their aim as a company is
‘to focus solely on building low cost homes for people on low incomes and build a
range of affordable homes for people who would be unable to afford a new home.’

Page 47



However it is noted that the types of properties proposed would not fall within the
definition of ‘affordable’ as identified by the SELLP and the NPPF.

7.32 Given the applicants position, the Council consulted an independent viability
consultant on the viability assessment presented. This concluded that the site could
deliver 12 affordable units (i.e. 14.12%) within the proposed development without
the scheme being unviable. Policy 18 of the SELLP requires 20% of dwellings to
the affordable homes on eligible sites, thus it is accepted that in this instance there
would be a viability challenge and that there was sufficient information to support a
reduced level of affordable housing provision. The proposed commuted sum
(£455,000) is equivalent to the provision of on-site affordable housing (14.12%) and
this sum has been agreed by the Local Housing Authority – to this end, there is
support for the off-site contribution in accordance with the objectives of Policy 18 of
the SELLP.

7.33 The Local Housing Authority say that they would prefer the affordable housing
contribution to be provided on site in accordance with the SELLP, but would support
the proposed payment of the commuted sum in lieu of on-site provision. This is
based upon a recognition that there are available opportunities within the area (and
the Borough generally) to work with Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) to deliver
affordable housing and that the contribution could be used to provide additional
affordable housing in these locations. As such, it is considered that there is a
reasoned and justified basis for the approach suggested by the applicant. Officers
therefore recommend that this approach is accepted - the commuted sum will form
part of a Unilateral Undertaking (i.e. UU) which would be completed prior to any
decision being issued. At the time of writing this report, the UU is currently being
assesses by this Council’s Legal Advisors. Subject to the conclusion of this legal
agreement based upon the terms identified it is considered that the scheme would
provide an appropriate level of affordable housing in line with policy 18.

Construction Management Plan

7.34 The application is accompanied by an amended Construction Management Plan
(CMP) which identifies working hours, delivery times, construction vehicular routes,
site compounds and plant storage areas and the phasing of the development. In
particular, it indicates that deliveries will not take place between 8.15 am -9.15 am
and between 3pm and 4pm. This is in order to accommodate the ‘school run’ and
to avoid the potential conflict between construction traffic and school traffic. It also
states that site working hours will be from 7.30 am – 6pm Monday to Friday and
8am to 1pm on Saturdays if necessary and that there will be no working on site on
Sundays or Bank Holidays. This would be conditioned in order to ensure that the
scheme is delivered in this way.

Ecology

7.35 The application is accompanied by an Ecological Impact Assessment. It identifies
that no potential significant cumulative impacts (on ecology) have been identified
as part of this assessment though it does make recommendations with regard to
ecological enhancements relating to tree planting and species. Lincolnshire Wildlife
Trust has no objections and has also made recommendations with regard to wildlife
enhancement. This matter is addressed by condition 12 below.

8.0 Planning Balance, and Conclusion

Page 48



8.1 Section 38(6) of the Act requires that proposals are determined in accordance with
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. It is well-
defined in case law that the development plan (in this case the SELLP) should be
taken as a whole and it is for the decision-maker to weigh up the extent to which
proposals are in accordance with/conflict with policies of the development plan and
their objectives, along with all relevant material considerations. The weight
attributed to each of these factors within this exercise is known as the ‘planning
balance’.

8.2 The application site is located within a sustainable location, within the settlement
boundary of the town. Although the site would result in the loss of agricultural land
through the development of a greenfield site, it is designated as a Housing
Commitment in the SELLP. Thus, the principle of housing on this site has been
established. The scheme would make a significant contribution to boosting the
supply of housing within the Borough, and would also contribute towards the
delivery of Affordable Housing. These are significant benefits arising from the
scheme.

8.3 The number of dwellings has increased from the scheme that was approved in
2016. However, it is considered that this increase from 79 dwellings that were
previously approved to 85 dwellings that are now proposed is marginal and will
have no overall detrimental effect on the area, residential amenity, density or traffic
generation along the surrounding network.

8.4 This development will deliver a good quality range of house types including 2, 3 and
4 bedroomed houses and will also provide an off-site commuted sum, equivalent to
the provision of 12 affordable houses on site to enhance affordable housing
provision elsewhere in the district. The layout and design of the proposed dwellings
are acceptable and the development accords with the overall objectives of the
policies contained within the SELLP.

8.5 In social terms, the delivery of 85 dwellings would make a significant contribution
towards the supply of housing in the area, and in economic terms, the proposal
would provide employment at construction stage and may support local businesses
and the local economy both during construction and when the dwellings are
occupied. In environmental terms, the application site is within a sustainable
location given it is within easy walking or cycling distance to existing facilities, it is
situated at the edge of settlement and adjoining existing residential development.
It is also adjacent to the Hawthorn Tree Corner Primary School.

8.6 The proposed development will have an impact on the characteristics of the local
environment given that the site is currently flat, agricultural land. However, the
design and layout are of good quality and the introduction of quality landscaping
this development will satisfactorily assimilate within the area.

8.7 When taken as a whole, it is considered that the proposals would be in accordance
with the aims of the development plan, in particular those policies identified within
this report. Furthermore, whilst there are material considerations within this report
which both weigh in favour of and some which way against the scheme, overall, it
is considered that the benefits of the scheme would outweigh the negatives
identified.

Page 49



8.8 To conclude, when taken as a whole, it is Officers opinion that the scheme would
be acceptable in the planning balance, subject to the completion of the necessary
legal agreement and subject to the imposition of the conditions as recommended

9.0 Recommendation

9.1 It is recommended that Committee RESOLVE TO GRANT PLANNING
PERMISSION subject to the following conditions and the completion of the section
106 agreement relating to affordable housing as detailed in the report.

CONDITIONS AND INFORMATIVES

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.

Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the
following approved plans:

§ Site location plan ref 3040-0-000
§ Proposed site layout ref 3040-0-001 U
§ Toot Lane section 38 Layout ref 02.01 rev B
§ Section 38 contour layout ref 02.02 rev A
§ Section 104 Layout ref 03 rev B
§ Typical highway construction details – sheet 1 of 2 ref 04.01 rev A
§ Typical highway construction details –sheet 2 of 2 ref 04.02
§ Longitudinal sections sheet 1 of 3 ref 06.01 rev A
§ S15 flow control manhole ref 12.02
§ Attenuation basin layout and location plan ref 14.01 rev A
§ Attenuation basin – section and details – sheet 1 of 2 ref 14.02 rev A
§ Attenuation  basin- sections and details –sheet 2 of 2 ref 14.03 rev A
§ Typical swale layout – sections and details – ref 14.04 rev B
§ Swale location layout ref 14.05 rev A
§ Swale and outlet layout ref 14.06 rev A
§ Surfacing layout ref 15
§ Kerbing layout ref 16
§ Vehicle tracking ref 18
§ Drainage feasibility layout ref SK02 rev C
§ Type 201 – elevations (urban 13) ref 13/201-02 rev D
§ 201 dwelling type ref 201/1F
§ Type 202 – elevations (urban 13) ref 13/202-02 rev E
§ 202 dwelling type ref 202/1F
§ Type 212 elevations (urban 13) ref 13/212-02 rev A
§ 212 dwelling type ref 212/1-
§ Type 301 – elevations (urban) ref 13/301-02 rev E
§ 301 dwelling type ref 301/1G
§ Type 303 elevations (urban) ref 13/303 -02 rev E
§ 303 dwelling type ref 303/1E
§ Type 304 elevations (urban 13) ref 13/304-02 rev F

Page 50



§ 304 dwelling type ref 304/1E
§ Type 307 elevations (urban 13) ref 13/307 -02 rev E
§ 307 dwelling type  ref 307/1B
§ Type 309 elevations (urban 13) ref 13/309 -02 rev C
§ 309 dwelling type ref 309/1E
§ Type 310 elevations (urban 13) ref 13/310-02 rev C
§ 310 dwelling type ref 310/1D
§ 313 dwelling type ref 313/1-
§ 314 dwelling type ref 314/1-
§ Type 401 elevations (urban 13) ref 13/401 -02 rev C
§ 401 dwelling type  ref 401/1G
§ Type 403 elevations (urban 13) ref 13/403-02 rev B
§ 403 dwelling type ref 403/1G
§ Detailed landscape proposals (1 of 2) ref 2882/1
§ Detailed landscape proposals (2 of 2)
§ Materials schedule (as amended) revision 2
§ Boundary treatments – 1800mm high timber fence ref SD-100 rev E
§ Boundary details –post and wire fence ref SD 103 rev B
§ Detached garage details- single- ref SD 700  rev A
§ Detached garage details –double- ref SD 701 rev A
§ Garage threshold/crushed aggregate drive details  ref SD712 rev G
§ Play equipment details ref PL4782/6815/1 - indicative

Reason: To ensure the development is undertaken in accordance with the
approved details and to accord with policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire
Local Plan (2011-2036).

3 All landscape works shown on plans ref 2882/1 rev B and 2882/2 rev B shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved details within 6 months of the date of the
first occupation of any building or completion of development whichever is the sooner.
Any trees, plants, grassed areas which within a period of 5 years from the date of
planting die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be
replaced in the first available planting season with others of similar size species or
quality.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and design quality and to ensure that the
approved scheme is implemented satisfactorily in accordance with policies 2 and 3
of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

4 Before each dwelling is occupied, the roads and footways providing access to that
dwelling, for the whole of its frontage from an existing public highway, shall be
constructed to a specification to enable them to be adopted as Public Highway,
less the carriageway and footway surface courses. The carriageway and footway
surface courses shall be completed within three months from the date upon which
the erection is commenced of the penultimate dwelling.

Reason: To ensure that a safe and suitable standard of vehicular and pedestrian
access is provided for residents throughout the construction period of the
development and that the roads and footways are completed within a reasonable
period following completion of the dwellings. This condition accords with the
objectives of policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-
2036)

Page 51



5 No dwelling shall be commenced before the first 50 metres of estate road from its
junction with the public highway, including visibility splays, as illustrated on
drawing number 102.001 02.01 Rev. B dated 09.03.19, have been completed.

Reason: To ensure construction and delivery vehicles, and the vehicles of site
personnel may be parked and/or unloaded off the existing highway, in the
interests of highway safety and the amenity of neighbouring residents. This
condition accords with the objectives of policies 2 and 3 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

6 Before any dwelling is occupied, all of that part of the estate road and associated
footways that forms the junction with the main road and which will be constructed
within the limits of the existing highway, shall be laid out and constructed to
finished surface levels in accordance with details to be submitted to, and
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of safety, to avoid the creation of pedestrian trip hazards
within the public highway from surfacing materials, manholes and gullies that may
otherwise remain for an extended period at dissimilar, interim construction levels.
This condition accords with the objectives of policies 2 and 3 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

7 The permitted development shall be undertaken in accordance with a surface
water drainage scheme which shall first have been approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.

The scheme shall:
§ be based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the

hydrological and hydrogeological context of the development.

§ provide details of how run-off will be safely conveyed and attenuated during
storms up to and including the 1 in 100 year critical storm event, with an
allowance for climate change, from all hard surfaced areas within the
development into the existing local drainage infrastructure and watercourse
system without exceeding the run-off rate for the undeveloped site;

§ provide attenuation details and discharge rates which shall be restricted to
1.4 litres per second;

§ provide details of the timetable for and any phasing of implementation for
the drainage scheme; and

§ provide details of how the scheme shall be maintained and managed over
the lifetime of the development, including any arrangements for adoption by
any public body or Statutory Undertaker and any other arrangements
required to secure the operation of the drainage system throughout its
lifetime.

No dwelling shall be occupied until the approved scheme has been completed or
provided on the site in accordance with the approved phasing. The approved
scheme shall be retained and maintained in full, in accordance with the approved
details.

Page 52



Reason: To ensure that the permitted development is adequately drained without
creating or increasing flood risk to land or property adjacent to, or downstream of,
the permitted development. This condition accords with the objectives of policies
2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

8 The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) January 2019
/102/001/FRA_v1.3 / Walker Ingram Associates and the following mitigation
measures detailed within the FRA:

§ Finished floor levels to be set no lower than 1m above existing ground levels
§ Flood resilience and resistance measures to be incorporated into the

proposed development as stated, where finished floor levels are less than
1.3m above existing ground levels

The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and
subsequently remain in place.

Reason To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future
occupants. This condition accords with the objectives of policy 4 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

9 The proposed areas of equipped public open space as shown on plan Proposed
site layout REF 3040-0-001 U shall be laid out and equipped, in a manner to be
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall be
made available for use in accordance with timescales which shall be agreed in
writing with the Local Planning Authority before occupation of any dwelling.

Reason: To provide a satisfactory level of publicly available amenity open space
within the development and to accord with the objectives of Policy 32 of the South
East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

10 A landscape management plan including management responsibilities and
maintenance schedules of the public open space and equipment shall be
submitted to the Local Planning Authority before the occupation of any dwelling.
The management plan shall be carried out as approved.

Reason: To ensure the long term maintenance of the public open space in the
interests of the amenity of residents and to accord with the objectives of Policy 32
of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

11 Before occupation of any of the dwellings hereby approved, the shared private
drives shall be provided with lighting in accordance with details, including the
maintenance of the lighting, which shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To provide adequate lighting, in the interest of crime prevention and
community safety. This condition accords with the objectives of policies 2 and 3 of
the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

12 The development hereby permitted shall be undertaken in accordance with the
mitigation measures and recommendations of the ecology report (SLR Version 3
dated November 2018). Notwithstanding this, no development shall commence on
site above slab level until details of measures to enhance the biodiversity of the

Page 53



site as a consequence of the development, together with a timescale for
implementation have been submitted to and approved by the local planning
authority. The works thereafter shall proceed in accordance with the approved
details and any agreed enhancement measures shall be delivered in full prior to
the occupation of the penultimate dwelling on site.

Reason: In the interests of realising a biodiversity enhancement of the site in
accordance with the objectives of policy 28 of the South East Lincolnshire Local
Plan (2011-2036).

13 No development shall commence on site above slab level until details  relating to
the provision of fire hydrant(s) have been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The fire hydrant(s) as may be approved by the Local
Planning Authority shall be installed prior to the occupation of any dwelling on the
permitted development.

Reason: In the interests of public safety and to accord with the objectives of
policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

14 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved Construction Management Plan (3094-0-000 received 3/10/19), in
particular deliveries to the site shall not take place between 8.15 am to 9.15am and
3pm and 4pm.

Reason: In the interests of public safety and to accord with the objectives of
policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

15 Prior to the commencment of development above slab level, final details of
measures that aim to reduce pollution and promote renewable and low carbon
energy (including measures such as facilities for EV car charging) and details
relating to the timing of their implementation, shall be submitted to and approved in
writing with the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be constructed in
accordance with the approved measures.

Reason: To help reduce pollution and promote renewable and low carbon energy
in new development schemes and to accord with Policies 2, 3 , 30 and 31 of the
South east Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and to accord with the intentions
of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

16 The water consumption of each dwelling hereby permitted should not exceed the
requirement of 110 litres per person per day (as set out as the optional requirement
in Part G of the Building Regulations 2010 and the South East Lincolnshire Local
Plan, 2019).

The person carrying out the work must inform the Building Control Body that this
duty applies.

A notice confirming the requirement for the water consumption has been met shall
be submitted to the Building Control Body and Local Planning Authority, no later
than five days after the completion of each individual dwelling.

Reason: To protect the quality and quantity of water resources available to the
district. This condition is imposed in accordance with Policy 31 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

Page 54



17    The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved Archaeological Mitigation Strategy SLR ref 406.03044.00121 Version 1
dated August 2019.

Reason: In order to ensure that satisfactory arrangements are made for the
investigation, retrieval and recording of any possible archaeological remains on the
site and to accord with the objectives of policy 29 of the South East Lincolnshire
Local Plan (2011-2036).

18 No development shall commence on site above slab level until details of the
proposed foul pumping station and the substation as identified on the approved
layout plan ref 3040-0-001 U has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority. The works shall be carried out as approved.

Reason: No details have been submitted, and to ensure the development is
undertaken in accordance with the approved details and to accord with policies 2
and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

In determining this application, the authority has taken account of the guidance in
paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2018 in order to seek to secure
sustainable development that improves the economic, social and environmental conditions
of the Borough

Mike Gildersleeves
Growth Manager

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPLICATION B/19/0216

Approval of reserved matters (appearance,
landscaping, layout and scale)following outline

approval B/17/0167 (Residential development of
up to 6 dwellings)

Land off Carmel Green, Boston, PE21 7JR

Applicant: Mr B French

Page 57

Agenda Item 3



P
age 58



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

Planning Committee – 15th October 2019

Reference No: B/19/0216

Expiry Date: 23-Jul-2019
Extension of Time: 16/10/19

Application Type: Approval of Reserved Matters
Proposal: Approval of reserved matters (appearance, landscaping, layout and

scale)following outline approval B/17/0167 (Residential development
of up to 6 dwellings)

Site: Land off Carmel Green, Boston, PE21 7JR

Applicant: Mr B French
Agent: Mr Clive Wicks, Clive Wicks Associates

Ward: St. Thomas' Parish:Boston Town Area Committee

Case Officer: Trevor Thompson Third Party Reps: 23

Link to Application: B/19/0216

Recommendation: CONDITIONAL APPROVAL

Page 59

https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/


1.0 Reason for Report

1.1 This application has been presented to the Planning Committee at the request of
Councillor A Austin due to concerns regarding the impact on residential amenity.

2.0 Application Site and Proposal

2.1 The application site is located on the southern side of Carmel Green, a cul de sac
to the west of Park Road. The site covers about 0.33 hectares and was last occupied
by the West Skirbeck Bowls and Tennis Club from the middle of the last century
until late 2014. Tennis was last played at the site in 2008.

2.2 In 2014, the pavilion/clubhouse was burned down in what was believed to be an
arson attack. There was a brief initial attempt to resurrect the bowling club but
subsequently it was decided to wind up the bowling club. The site is now vacant
and the land is overgrown. The main part of the site is not open to public view.

2.3 There are hedges along the eastern, western and southern boundaries of the site.
Access to the site is currently off the northern boundary. The western boundary
adjoins agricultural land and the eastern boundary adjoins the garden of the
adjacent bungalow No1 Carmel Green. The southern boundary adjoins Garfit’s
Lane playing field. Part of the northern boundary adjoins the rear gardens of 2-5
Carmel Green and a garage court. This boundary is partly marked by low hedging
and fencing. Land to the north of the site, on the opposite side of Carmel Green is
currently being developed for housing consisting of eight dwellings.

2.4 There is a Scheduled Ancient Monument at Wyberton West Road to the north-west
of the site.

2.5 This application is for the approval of reserved matters for the construction of six
dwellings consisting of four detached houses and one pair of semi-detached houses
following the granting of outline planning permission for housing development on
the site last year. The application also includes the erection of five detached garages
to serve the proposed houses on plots 1-5. The proposed garage that will serve plot
6 will be attached to the proposed dwelling. The application also includes the
installation of a surface water attenuation pond along the northern and western
boundaries of the site.

2.6 The design of proposed dwellings and the layout of the site have been amended
since the application was originally submitted, partly in order to overcome objections
that were received from some of the neighbouring residents and land owners. The
amended details and the representations from neighbouring residents and land
owners are discussed below.

3.0 Relevant History

3.1 Outline planning permission for residential development on this site consisting of up
to six dwellings, including access, was granted in February 2018. (ref B/17/0167).
Matters relating to layout, appearance, scale and landscaping were reserved for
later approval and form part of this application. The outline permission was granted
subject to 13 conditions plus a section 106 agreement relating to off-site financial
contribution for enhancements to sports provision and improvements at Garfit’s

Page 60



Lane of up to £18,000 (i.e. £3000 per dwelling). The agreement requires the owners
of the site to pay the off-site commuted sum on commencement of development.

3.2 This application for the approval of reserved matters makes no changes to the
section 106 agreement.

3.3 A condition was imposed on the outline permission that restricted the development
to no more than six dwellings. (i.e. condition 10). Conditions were also imposed that
requires the submission of a construction management plan (condition 6) and
details of the proposed method of boundary treatment to avoid overlooking that may
arise as a result of raised land levels (condition 7).

3.4 The details required by conditions 6 and 7 have not yet been submitted for approval
and therefore have not been discharged.

4.0 Relevant Policy

South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036)

4.1 The site lies within the built up area of the town and is designated within the South
East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) (i.e. SELLP) as ‘recreation open space’.
Policy 32 of the SELLP specifically applies (see section below).

4.2 The following policies contained within the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan
(2011-2036) (i.e. SELLP) are relevant to this application:

§ Policy 1 - Spatial Strategy
§ Policy 2 - Development management
§ Policy 3 - Design of new development
§ Policy 4 - Approach to flood risk
§ Policy 17 - Providing a mix of housing
§ Policy 29 - Historic environment
§ Policy 30 - Pollution
§ Policy 31 - Climate change and renewable and low carbon energy
§ Policy 32 - Community, health and well being
§ Policy 36 - Vehicle and Cycle Parking.

National Planning Policy Framework (2019)

4.3 At the heart of the 2019 Framework is a presumption in favour of sustainable
development. The following sections are relevant to this scheme:

§ Section 2 – Achieving Sustainable Development
§ Section 4 – Decision Making
§ Section 5 – Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes
§ Section 8 - Promoting healthy and safe communities
§ Section 9 - Promoting sustainable transport
§ Section 11 – Making Effective Use of Land
§ Section 12 – Achieving Well-designed Places
§ Section 14 – Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and Coastal

Change.
§ Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

5.0 Representations

Page 61



5.1 As a result of publicity relating to the scheme as originally submitted, 18 letters of
representation were received from the occupiers or owners of the following
properties:

203 London Road (owner of 4 Carmel Green)
2 Carmel Green (x2)
3,5,7,8,15 Carmel Green
4 Carmel Green (x2)
6 Carmel Green (x2)
11 Carmel Green (x2)
12 Carmel Green (x2)
14 Carmel Green (x2)

The residents and property owners raised objections or concerns on the following
grounds:

§ Bungalows would be more in keeping with the area.
§ Bungalows will allow opportunity for people to down –size leaving family homes

for next generation.
§ Over development of the site which has always been for recreational purposes

until the Council gave planning permission for residential development last year.
§ The height of the dwellings will be over powering in this location, will be intrusive

and intimidating to the people who live in the area
§ The development overshadows and overlooks the bungalows at Carmel Green.
§ Development of two storey dwellings will be on a tight site in an area dominated

by bungalows.
§ Not only are two storey houses being proposed but they are having to be built

higher off the ground due to flood risk reasons.
§ Requests that the roof lines be lowered maybe by building chalet bungalows or

bungalows.

5.2 Following the submission of amended plans, the neighbouring residents and
relevant property owners were re-consulted. As a result of this publicity, 5 letters
have been received.

5.3 Letters have been received from the occupiers of 2, 3 and 5 Carmel Green who
wish to withdraw their original letters of objection.

5.4 In addition, two letters of objection have been received from the occupiers of the
following properties:

Tenchome, Trader Bank, Frithville (owner of 6 Carmel Green)
203 London Road, Boston (owner of 4 Carmel Green).

5.5 The occupiers of the above properties have raised concerns on the following
grounds:

§ Loss of the oak tree at the entrance to the site. Tree should be protected by a
Tree Preservation Order.

§ Loss of wildlife habitat.

Page 62



§ Proposed dwelling on plot 6 remains over-powering and will appear intimidating
because of its height and close proximity to adjacent bungalows, particularly
no. 2 Carmel Green.

§ Could this proposed dwelling be single storey which would be less imposing
and more acceptable.

5.6 None of the other residents who originally objected to this application have
submitted letters withdrawing their objections. Therefore, their original letters of
objection remain valid and are a material consideration.

5.7 With regard to concerns regarding the felling of the large Oak tree at the entrance
to the site, this matter was considered at the outline stage wherein access was a
matter considered for determination. The tree is not protected, and could therefore
be removed at any time. Given the status of the land with its existing permission,
and the trees removal having been previously found to be acceptable, it is
considered that a TPO in this instance would not be appropriate.

6.0 Consultations

6.1 LCC Highways Authority has no objections.

6.2 Environment Agency has no comments to make on this application. The
Environment Agency points out that the application confirms the inclusion of flood
risk mitigation measures, including raised floor levels in accordance with the outline
planning permission.

6.3 Historic England has no objections.

6.4 Anglian Water Services has not commented.

6.5 Sport England (SE) has no objections. SE say that this application is for the approval
of reserved matters and the issue relating to the loss of the bowling greens within
the application site were dealt with at outline stage via the section 106 agreement.

6.6 Black Sluice Internal Drainage Board reiterate their comments that were made at
outline stage with regard to surface water discharge and raising of land levels.

6.7 Heritage Lincolnshire (HL) confirm that trial trench evaluation was undertaken at an
earlier stage and that the results indicated little of archaeological interest. HL
confirms that no further work is required for this site.

7.0 Planning Issues and Discussions

7.1 The key planning issues in the determination of this application are:

§ Principle of development and planning policy implications
§ Impact on residential amenity
§ Impact on the character of the area
§ Impact on highway safety and parking
§ Flood risk and surface water drainage
§ Archaeology and impact on Scheduled Ancient Monument

Principle of development and planning policy implications

Page 63



7.2 The application site is located within the built up area of the town and within a
residential area. Outline planning permission was granted in 2018 for up to six
dwellings on this site. This permission remains extant. Thus, the principle of
residential development for up to six dwellings on this site is acceptable.  The main
issues will be whether the scale, appearance and layout of the site are sympathetic
to the area and whether, in particular, residential amenity will be substantially
harmed by this development given policy objectives.

7.3 As indicated above, the site is designated within the South East Lincolnshire Local
Plan (2011-2036) as ‘recreation open space’ and Policy 32 of the SELLP is a
material consideration. This policy seeks, amongst other things, to resist the loss of
community facilities (such as land designated as recreation open space) and
indicates that the re-development of such  community facilities will only be permitted
in certain circumstances, and sets out the particular issues against which planning
applications for new community facilities will be judged.

7.4 Matters relating to the loss of open space, and the need for mitigation were dealt
with at the outline stage, wherein a S106 was imposed to secure off-site financial
contributions to mitigate the impact. This matter cannot therefore be revisited.

Impact on residential amenity

7.5 There are bungalows to the north and east of the site and concerns have been
expressed by some residents (and land owners) about the impact that this
development will have upon residential amenity. The adjacent bungalows (nos 2-5
Carmel Green) back onto the application site and the boundary treatment along the
shared boundary is mainly a low hedge with some fencing. There are no proposals
at this stage to change this boundary treatment. The rear garden depths serving
these bungalows range from between 6m -8m.The gable end of no 6 Carmel Green
(which includes a side window) faces the application site and is about 11m from the
shared boundary.

7.6 Following discussions with the applicant, amended plans were submitted in order,
in part, to help address the concerns that had been raised by the neighbouring
residents. The proposed amendments include the following changes to the scheme:

§ The layout of the site was amended. The proposed dwelling on plot 6 (nearest
to the site’s northern boundary shared with the neighbours along Carmel Green)
was moved further to the east and the house type design was altered to reduce
overlooking and visual impact. The siting and design of the proposed double
garage serving plot 6 was also altered to accommodate these changes. The
double garage has been changed to a single garage.

§ The main rear wall of the dwelling on plot 6 is now virtually in line with the side
wall of the bungalow to the north (no. 2 Carmel Green). Therefore, the proposed
dwelling will not be directly behind any of the neighbouring properties so any
loss of light, over-dominance and overshadowing will be reduced. The land
immediately adjacent to these neighbouring properties will be used in part as a
garden area serving plot 6 and to accommodate the proposed attenuation pond.

§ The surface water attenuation pond has been moved from the southern
boundary to the northern boundary of the site. Originally it was intended to be
constructed behind plot 5 adjacent to the site’s southern boundary. The re-

Page 64



positioning of the attenuation pond next to the northern boundary has also
enabled the proposed house on plot 5 to be set further back from neighbouring
bungalows. However, the attached garage has been raised about 500mm to
suit raised road levels.

§ The level of the road has been raised some 500mm to accommodate drainage.
This has resulted in the land levels being raised to suit road levels and the
designs of the dwellings have been altered accordingly (i.e. steps to front door
omitted).

7.7 This development, in particular the siting and design of the proposed dwellings on
plots 5 and 6, will have an impact on the amenity of the neighbouring residents
especially given the scale of the proposed dwellings and the former low level,
recreation use of the site. Also sunlight and daylight provision may be affected given
the site lies south of the adjacent bungalows, especially during the winter months
when the sun is low on the horizon. Furthermore, the presence of new buildings
within an area which is largely open and vacant will also alter the character of the
area and will have some impact on the visual amenity and outlook from
neighbouring properties.

7.8 The design and location of the proposed house on plot 6 has been significantly
altered since the application was originally submitted. The proposed dwelling has
been moved to the east and will no longer be sited directly behind the rear elevations
of the adjacent bungalows. The gable end of the proposed house on plot 6 (which
does not contain a window) will now be about 9.5m from the rear elevation of no 2
Carmel Green.

7.9 Furthermore, it was previously  intended to include a two storey rear projection to
the dwelling on plot 6. This rear projection has now been changed to single storey
in order to improve the neighbours visual amenity, outlook and to reduce the overall
mass of the building.

7.10 It is considered that the amended siting and design of the proposed dwelling on plot
6 is satisfactory. It will no longer appear visually dominant, cause any significant
overlooking or significantly undermine the living conditions of the occupiers of the
bungalows to the north.  Indeed the occupiers of nos 2, 3 and 5 have now withdrawn
their original objections to the scheme. The rear garden that will serve the dwelling
on plot 6 will lie adjacent to the rear gardens that currently serve the adjacent
bungalows. There is currently a low level hedge along the northern boundary of the
site shared with the adjacent properties so it is likely that there will be some
overlooking between existing and proposed properties. It may also be argued that
the occupiers of these bungalows may, in any case have experienced some
overlooking at times when the site was used for recreational purposes. Thus, it may
be argued that any further erosion of privacy as a result of this development may
be negligible.

7.11 As indicated, given that the attenuation pond has been re-located, this has allowed
the proposed dwelling on plot 5 to be set further back from the site’s northern
boundary. The single storey garage element of the proposed dwelling on plot 5 on
its northern elevation will now be about 23 m from the bungalows to the north of the
site and the two storey element of this dwelling will be about 29m away. The
proposed houses on plots 2-4 will be about 31m from the neighbouring bungalows.

Page 65



7.12 There are no locally adopted standards contained within the SELLP relating to
minimum distances between the rear elevations of existing and the front proposed
properties or in relation to overlooking of rear garden areas.  However, the 22m
guide between rear elevations of existing and proposed properties and 12m from
the side and rear elevations has been used on many occasions by this Council
which assumes two storey properties on level land. These distances may act as a
‘benchmark of acceptability in the assessment of such applications though the
characteristics of development sites often differ significantly and such guides
should not be slavishly used on all occasions. Nevertheless, given this ‘benchmark’
it is considered that although the front elevation of some of the proposed houses
will face the rear elevations of the neighbouring properties, the spatial relationships
between existing and proposed properties are considerable and acceptable.

7.13 There is a bungalow (no 1 Carmel Green) to the east of the site, next to the proposed
access. The proposed dwelling on plot 1 will be sited to the rear of no 1 Carmel
Green, next to the rear garden serving this property. The rear corner of the proposed
house on plot 1 will be about 14m from the neighbours bungalow and 5m from the
shared boundary between these two properties. These distances are acceptable.

7.14 It is considered that this development will not substantially harm residential amenity
sufficient to warrant refusal of this application and therefore accords with the
objectives of policies 2 and 3 of the SELLP.

Impact on the character of the area

7.15 The site lies within a residential area and its character is essentially defined by the
diversity of dwelling types within the locality, both in terms of design and age.
Although Carmel Green essentially serves low rise bungalows, there are houses
further to the east along Park Road and houses have been approved on the land
opposite, to the north. Concerns have been raised by some neighbours about the
impact the proposed houses will have on the character of the area, especially since
the floor levels of the proposed houses will need to be raised to accommodate flood
risk and that the proposed houses will be built close to bungalows immediately to
the north. Also the erection of new dwellings on land that was previously used for
recreation use will represent a fundamental visual change especially having regard
to the domestic paraphernalia  normally associated with residential use.

7.16 These concerns are understandable and the height of the proposed dwellings from
existing ground levels will be between 8.9m (plot 1) to 9.675m (plots 2 and 3). In
comparison, the existing bungalows to the north of the site are about 5m from
existing ground level.

7.17 The site occupies about 0.34 ha and the density of the development will be about
18 dwellings per hectare (dph) which is below the density along Carmel Green which
is around 31 dwellings per hectare.  In comparison, the density of the new housing
development to the north of the site is around 33 dwellings per hectare. As indicated
above, condition 10 attached to the outline permission limits the maximum number
of dwellings that may be built on this site to six. On this basis, it is considered that
this proposal does not constitute over-development.

7.18 Upon determination of the appeal application relating to the housing scheme to the
north of the site consisting of eight houses, the Inspector concluded that the erection
of two storey houses in this location would not have an adverse effect on the

Page 66



character or appearance of the surrounding area. The same conclusion may be
argued in this instance.

7.19 It is considered that given the proposed layout of the site, the spatial relationships
between existing and proposed dwellings, the density of the development and the
design of the proposed dwellings, the character of the area will not be adversely
harmed by this development. On this basis, the scheme accords with the objectives
of polices 2 and 3 of the SELLP.

Impact on highway safety and parking

7.20 As indicated above, outline planning permission for residential development for up
to six dwellings on this site was approved in 2018. This outline permission included
access to the site off Carmel Green some 55m west of the junction of Carmel Green
and Park Road. It is considered that Carmel Green has sufficient capacity to
accommodate the traffic that may be generated by the proposed six dwellings.

7.21 It is proposed to construct a private drive to serve the proposed 6 dwellings and the
new access onto Carmel Green will be located next to the access and drive that
currently serves 1 Carmel Green. The private drive will be a minimum of 4m wide at
its junction with Carmel Green and will extend to 5m wide further into the site. It is
also intended to provide a reversing bay at the western end of the private drive. The
private drive will be constructed to adoptable standards.

7.22 Policy 36 of the SELLP requires within the curtilage (for houses or flats), 2 spaces
for dwellings up to three bedrooms and 3 spaces for dwellings with 4 or more
bedrooms. This policy also indicates that ‘all new development, including change of
use, should provide vehicle and cycle parking, in accordance with the minimum
parking standards adopted by the Local Planning Authorities ( in appendix 6) unless
a high quality design can demonstrate that a lower standard of provision delivers
the requirements set out in 1-4 below’.

7.23 Based on the above, 16spaces would be required, along with cycle provision. It is
intended to provide each dwelling with either a single or double garage and there is
ample space within each plot and the site generally, to meet the vehicle and cycle
requirements of policy 36.

Flood risk and surface water drainage

7.24 The application site lies within a flood risk area. Condition 5 attached to the outline
permission requires, inter alia, that the floor levels of the proposed dwellings be
raised 1m above existing average ground levels. In order to achieve this
requirement, it is intended to raise the ground levels at various levels within parts of
the site, depending on the existing topography. Access to some of the proposed
dwellings will be via external steps and raised terraced areas.

7.25 Surface water will be discharged from the road, roofs and garden areas into the
proposed attenuation pond and will then ultimately discharge into the open ditches
along the western and southern boundaries.

7.26 In addition to condition 7 attached to the outline permission  that requires the
submission of a surface water scheme designed to provident third party flooding, a
further condition  is recommended that requires the submission  of details (including
a cross section) of the proposed attenuation pond to safeguard third party flooding.

Page 67



Condition 7 attached to the outline permission that relates to surface water disposal
and third party flooding has not been discharged.

Archaeology and impact on Scheduled Ancient Monument

7.27 A Scheduled Ancient Monument (i.e. a moat) lies to the north west of the application
site and adjacent to Wyberton West Road. The outline application referred to above
was accompanied by a Heritage Impact Assessment that concluded that the
proposed residential development of the site would have either no effect or
negligible effect on identified heritage assets, including the Scheduled Ancient
Monument in terms of visual impact.

7.28 However at that time, Heritage Lincolnshire were concerned that the proposed
development may have an impact on archaeological remains given that the site lies
within an area that has produced a number of Roman period sites and that the
presence of the moated site (SAM) might also have implications for medieval
settlement in the vicinity.

7.29 Heritage Lincolnshire recommended that no decision on the outline application be
made until ‘trial trenching’ of the site was undertaken to identify any archaeological
implications of the proposed development. The trial trenching was subsequently
carried out and, as indicated above, the results indicated little of archaeological
interest. On this basis, outline planning permission was granted. Heritage
Lincolnshire has now confirmed that no further archaeological work is required for
this site.

7.30 Given the above, this issue is not a crucial matter on which this application is
determined.

8.0 Conclusion

8.1 This application is for the approval of reserved matters and therefore the principle
of this development on this site is acceptable. Access to the site was approved at
outline stage along with the issue relating to the removal of the large mature tree
that stands within the line of the proposed access road.

8.2 Concerns have been expressed about the scale of the development given that the
land levels will need to be raised to accommodate flood risk. Some neighbours (or
landowners) feel that single storey (or chalet bungalows) would be more preferable
and more in keeping with the area. However single storey properties do not form
part of this proposal and whilst chalet bungalows for example may provide a better
relationship with the bungalows to the north, determination of this application will
hinge significantly on whether the siting and design of the proposed dwelling houses
will harm residential amenity or the character of the area.

8.3 This development will substantially change the appearance of the area and it will
have some impact on residential amenity, in terms of loss of privacy, outlook,
overshadowing and visual intrusion. However, it may be argued that the occupiers
of the neighboring bungalows may have experienced some erosion of amenity and
privacy during times when the recreation land was in use. This forms part of the
planning balance.

8.4 Nevertheless, this scheme has been altered since it was originally submitted and
although there remains parts of the scheme that may not be entirely ideal, partially

Page 68



the proposed house on plot 6, overall the amended scheme is much better than the
scheme as originally submitted and accords with the overall objectives of the
relevant policies of the SELLP. As such, the development is in accordance with
development plan and there are no material considerations which would outweigh
this. The application is therefore recommended for conditional approval.

9.0 Recommendation

9.1 It is recommended that Committee GRANT approval of reserved matters subject to
the following conditions and reasons:

CONDITIONS AND INFORMATIVES

1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with
the application received 28-May-2019 and in accordance with the associated plans
as amended referenced:

§ 1-200 Proposed Site Layout Plan. Ref 19-2450-P-02B
§ Elevations and layout Plot 1 ref 19-2450-P-03B
§ Garage Details to Plot 1 Ref 19-2450-P-04A
§ Elevations and layout Plots 2 & 3 Ref 19-2450-P-05B
§ Garage Details to Plots 2, 3, 4 & 6. Ref 19-2450 P-06A
§ Elevations and layout Plot 4 Ref 19-2450-P-07B
§ Elevations and layout Plot 5. Ref 19-2450-P- 09B
§ Elevations and layout Plot 6. Ref 19-2450-P-10D
§ Landscape Specification. Ref 19-2450-P-11
§ 1-1250 Location Plan. Ref 19-2450-P-12

Reason: To ensure the development is undertaken in accordance with the
approved details and to accord with policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire
Local Plan (2011-2036).

2 No development shall take place above ground level until details of the materials
proposed to be used in the construction of the external surfaces to be used in the
construction of the dwellings have been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance
with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure the development assimilates within the area and to accord
with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

3 No development shall take place above ground level until details of the proposed
attenuation pond including a cross section plan shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: No details have been submitted with this application, in the interests of
the amenity of neighbouring occupiers and satisfactory drainage. This condition
accords with the objectives of Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire
Local Plan (2011-2036).

4 All landscape works as indicated by the approved plans (condition 1) shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved details within 6 months of the date of
the first occupation of any building or completion of development whichever is the

Page 69



sooner.  Any trees, plants, grassed areas which within a period of 5 years from
the date of planting die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased
shall be replaced in the first available planting season with others of similar size
species or quality.

Reason:  In the interests of visual amenity and design quality and to ensure that
the approved scheme is implemented satisfactorily in accordance with policies 2
and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

In determining this application, the authority has taken account of the guidance in
paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 in order to seek to secure
sustainable development that improves the economic, social and environmental conditions
of the Borough

Mike Gildersleeves
Growth Manager

Page 70



PLANNING APPLICATION B/19/0301

Single storey extension

Windy Ridge Veg Ltd Office, Hubberts
Bridge Road, Kirton, Boston, PE20 1TW

Applicant: Mr Mark Nundy

Page 71

Agenda Item 4



P
age 72



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

Planning Committee – 15 October 2019

Reference No: B/19/0301

Expiry Date: 24-Sep-2019
Extension of Time: 20-Oct-2019

Application Type: Full Planning Permission
Proposal: Single storey extension
Site: Windy Ridge Veg Ltd Office, Hubberts Bridge Road, Kirton, Boston,

PE20 1TW

Applicant: Mr Mark Nundy
Agent: Mr Arthur Barton

Ward: Kirton & Frampton Parish:Frampton Parish Council, Kirton
Parish Council

Case Officer: John Taylor Third Party Reps: 0

Link to Application: B/19/0301

Recommendation: CONDITIONAL APPROVAL

Page 73

https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/


1.0 Reason for Report

1.1 The Applicant is related to a member of the Councils Corporate Management team,
and in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer & Growth Manager - having reviewed
this against the requirements of 2.21(d) of Part 3a (Officer Scheme of Delegation)
of the Councils constitution – the application should be determined by the Planning
Committee in the interests of transparency.

2.0 Application Site and Proposal

2.1 The application site forms part of the wider farm holding at Windy Ridge Veg.Ltd.
The application site relating to the existing office block which is proposed to be
extended by this application is located on the eastern side of the holding, in
proximity of the neighbouring residential property known as Amberley House.

2.2 The main site entrance is located directly to the south of the existing office building
which is proposed to be extended. To the west are the remainder of the farm
buildings, with residential properties fronting Station Road to the south-east.

2.3 The site is located within ‘Countryside’ as defined in the SELLP, and also falls within
Flood Zones 2 & 3. No other designations exist which are considered relevant to
this proposal.

2.4 The proposal seeks full planning permission to extend the existing office
accommodation. The proposals would be modest in overall scale, measuring 8.5m
x 7.2m and would create an additional 2 offices and ancillary staff areas. The
extension would be single storey in nature with a pitched roof which would not
exceed the height of the existing building. The materials proposed would be to
match the existing building.

3.0 Relevant History

3.1 There is extensive planning history relating to the site and its general use as an
agricultural holding, however, this is of no relevance to this proposal.

4.0 Relevant Policy

South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036)

4.1 The site is within countryside as identified within the South East Lincolnshire Local
Plan (SELLP) Therefore, ‘Countryside’ ‘D’ within Policy 1 (Spatial Strategy) applies
which states (in part):

‘In the Countryside development will be permitted that is necessary to such a
location and/or where it can be demonstrated that it meets the sustainable
development needs of the area in terms of economic, community or environmental
benefits’

4.2 Other policies in the SELLP that are relevant to this development are as follows.

§ Policy 2 - Development management
§ Policy 3 - Design of new development
§ Policy 4 - Approach to flood risk

Page 74



National Planning Policy Framework (2019)

4.3 The following sections of the NPPF are considered relevant:

§ Section 2 – Achieving Sustainable Development
§ Section 4 – Decision Making
§ Section 12 – Achieving Well-designed Places
§ Section 14 – Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and Coastal

Change

5.0 Representations

5.1 None received

6.0 Consultations

6.1 No responses received.

7.0 Planning Issues and Discussions

7.1 The key considerations in regards to this application are:

§ Principle
§ The impact on the character of the area
§ The impact on neighbouring properties
§ Flood Risk

Principle

7.2 The site is located within ‘countryside’ as defined in the SELLP, therefore in
accordance with policy 1, a suitable justification is required. In this instance, the
proposals relate to the extension of an existing building within a farm holding to
support those operations by virtue of the provision of additional office
accommodation. The proposals would therefore support an existing rural business
which contributes positively to the rural economy within the Borough. The proposals
are therefore accepted in principle.

Impact on the character of the area

7.3 The proposed development is modest in overall scale and form and would integrate
well with the existing building. The development is located within the holding and
would have a negligible impact from outside of the site. The scheme would therefore
accord with policies 2 and 3 of the SELLP.

Impact on the amenities of neighbouring properties

7.4 The nearest property which could be affected would be Amberley House, however,
as a result of the limited scale of the development, in combination with the
separation distances and the nature of the use of the existing building, it is
considered that no adverse impact would result and the proposals would therefore
be in accordance with policies 2 & 3 in this regard.

Page 75



Flood Risk

7.5 The site falls within Flood Zones 2 & 3, and is within the “Danger for All”
classification in relation to single storey buildings in a flood event. However, given
that the proposal is for a minor extension to provide “less vulnerable” office use, it
is considered that the proposals are acceptable subject to appropriate mitigation. In
this instance, the finished floor levels would be no lower than existing and flood
mitigation and resilience measures would be included throughout. This would
therefore ensure that the development meets the objectives of policy 4 of the
SELLP.

8.0 Conclusion

8.1 For the reasons set out in this report, it is considered that the proposals are
acceptable in principle and would support an existing rural business which
contributes to the economy of the Borough. The proposals would be modest in
scale and would be acceptable in relation to the impact on the character and
appearance of the area and with regard to its impact upon the amenities of
neighbouring properties. Flood Risk considerations are also acceptable subject to
the mitigation identified. As such, the development is in accordance with policies 1,
2, 3 & 4 of the SELLP and there are no material considerations which would
outweigh this. The application is therefore recommended for conditional approval
of planning permission.

9.0 Recommendation

9.1 GRANT Planning Permission subject to the following condition(s) and reason:-

CONDITIONS AND INFORMATIVES

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.

Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and
Complsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with the
application received 16-July-2019 and in accordance with the associated plans
referenced:

§ Proposed plans - WR/1

Reason: To ensure the development is undertaken in accordance with the
approved details and to accord with policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire
Local Plan (2011-2036).

3. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) submitted with the
application including those mitigation measures specified. The mitigation measures
shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and subsequently remain in place.

Reason To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future
occupants and to accord with the objectives of policy 4 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

Page 76



In determining this application, the authority has taken account of the guidance in
paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 in order to seek to secure
sustainable development that improves the economic, social and environmental conditions
of the Borough.

Mike Gildersleeves
Growth Manager

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPLICATION B/19/0283

Single storey extension to side and rear,
demolition of existing conservatory and

erection of detached garage

70, Linden Way, Boston, PE21 9DS

Applicant: Mr Coventry

Page 79

Agenda Item 5



P
age 80



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

Planning Committee - 15 October 2019

Reference No: B/19/0283

Expiry Date: 20-Sep-2019
Extension of Time: 18-Oct-2019

Application Type: Full Planning Permission
Proposal: Single storey extension to side and rear, demolition of existing

conservatory and erection of detached garage

Site: 70, Linden Way, Boston, PE21 9DS

Applicant: Mr Coventry
Agent: Mr Neil Dowlman, Neil Dowlman Architecture Ltd

Ward: Trinity Parish:Boston Town Area Committee

Case Officer: Richard Whittaker Third Party Reps: 4

Link to Application: B/19/0283

Recommendation: CONDITIONAL APPROVAL

Page 81

https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/


1.0 Reason for Report

1.1 The application is reported to the Planning Committee having been ‘called in’ by
Councillor Stevens due to the great concern expressed by residents in relation to
the position of the building being on their boundary, the height of the proposed
garden building, and over-looking their properties.

2.0 Application Site and Proposal

2.1 The site comprises a detached bungalow with a front and rear garden. It is located
on the south side of Linden Way and is in use as a residential dwelling.

2.2 The site is located within the Flood Risk Zone 3. The surrounding area is a
residential area and neighbouring properties are residential dwellings of a similar
age and style.

2.3 The application seeks planning permission for various works to include the
following:

§ The demolition of an existing conservatory and garage along with the erection
of a single storey rear extension and the erection of a single-storey side
extension in order to facilitate a new garage, a utility room and a toilet.

§ The alteration of the roof on the front elevation of the property in order to create
a second gable pitched roofed feature adjacent to, and set back from an existing
dual pitched gable. The proposed alterations would introduce an imitation
timber clad finish to aspects of both the front and rear of the building.

§ The formation of a dual-pitched roof building in the rear garden.

3.0 Relevant History

3.1 No relevant planning history.

4.0 Relevant Policy

South East Lincolnshire Local Plan

4.1 The following policies are most relevant:
§ Policy 2 – Development Management
§ Policy 3 – Design of New Development
§ Policy 4 – Approach to Flood Risk

5.0 Representations

5.1 Four letters of objection have been received from members of the public. These
representations highlight the following material considerations:

§ Residents consider that the garage and the outbuilding are being proposed
to facilitate the servicing and repair of motorcycles. They are concerned
about the impact of those activities on the surrounding area.

§ Residents consider that the size and scale of the proposed building in the
rear garden is excessive. The building will have an overbearing impact upon
the gardens of neighbouring dwellings.

Page 82



§ Residents consider that the proposed alterations to the bungalow itself, in
terms of the design and the materials used are not appropriate and do not
match the prevailing house type in the area.

6.0 Consultations

6.1 Highways LCC – Having given due regard to the appropriate local and national
planning policy guidance (in particular the National Planning Policy Framework),
Lincolnshire County Council (as Highway Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority)
has concluded that the proposed development is acceptable and accordingly, does
not wish to object to this planning application.

6.2 Witham Fourth District IDB – Have registered no objections to the proposed works
however 2no informatives have been put forward.

7.0 Planning Issues and Discussions

7.1 The key considerations in regard to this application are the impacts on the character
and appearance of the area and on neighbour’s amenity.

Impact on the character and appearance of the area

7.2 SELLP Policy 2 states that proposals requiring planning permission for
development will be permitted provided that sustainable development
considerations are met. These include size, scale, layout, density and impact on
the amenity, trees, character and appearance of the area and the relationship to
existing development and land uses as well as the quality of its design and its
orientation.

7.3 SELLP Policy 3 states that all development proposals will create a sense of place
by; respecting the density, scale, visual closure, landmarks, views, massing of
neighbouring buildings and the surrounding area.

7.4 Paragraph 131 of the NPPF states that when determining applications, great weight
should be given to outstanding or innovative designs which promote high levels of
sustainability, or help raise the standard of design more generally in an area, so
long as they fit in with the overall form and layout of their surroundings.

7.5 The proposed works would include alterations to both the front and the rear of the
property, the result being the significant and fundamental change the overall design
and appearance of the building to give it a more current/contemporary/modern feel
and look. The current street scene exhibits a definitive pattern of single gable
fronted designs with a brick clad finish the existing units are reflective of the general
age of construction and the development of the estate (as an extension of other
estate development).

7.6 The proposal seeks to remove the existing flat roofed garage and replace it with a
garage that continues the pitched roof theme of the dwelling, which would make for
a design which accords more smoothly as a part of the dwelling. The proposed
addition of a secondary front gable with imitation timber cladding would bring in an
alteration which would prove an exception to an otherwise largely uniform pattern
of design within the street scene. With respect to the erection of a single-storey side
extension in order to facilitate a garage, a utility room and a toilet, the size and scale
of these proposals would be acceptable.  These aspects of the proposal to the rear

Page 83



of the dwelling, would not be visible from the highway and as such cannot impact
the character of the area.

7.7 Overall, the alterations are not considered to give rise to any level of harm to the
character of the area. The application site is not in a prominent location on the street
and the proposed works are not of an extent that would alter the design of the
original dwelling sufficiently to impact the street scene negatively. Whilst it is
accepted that visually the resultant building would stand out within the street scene,
this visual change is not (of itself) considered to be harmful. The dwelling would, in
the view of the Officers, enhance the street scene, adding interest, and raising the
standard of design within the estate. The dwelling would appear essentially as a
modernised property within the established layout. As identified above, this is
considered to be somewhat positive. If the contra view were to be adopted, it is
considered that as the scale and general form of the dwelling would not be
significantly altered, in combination with its position in the street scene, any harm
would be minor in nature and would not be sufficient so as to warrant refusal of the
scheme.

7.8 The outbuilding garage to the rear of the garden would not be visible from the public
domain thereby making no impact upon the street scene. Its scale and design would
be in-keeping with the proposed appearance and form of the bungalow. The level
of development would not constitute an overdevelopment of the site and therefore
this aspect of the development is acceptable.

7.9 The proposals would therefore be in general accordance with the aims of policies
2 & 3 of the SELLP, and paras 130/131 of the NPPF.

Impact on neighbour’s amenity

7.10 SELLP Policy 2 states that proposals requiring planning permission for
development will be permitted provided that sustainable development
considerations are met. These include impact on the amenity of the site itself and
neighbouring sites as well as the impact upon neighbouring land uses by reason of
noise, odour, disturbance or visual intrusion.

7.11 SELLP Policy 3 states that development proposals will demonstrate how residential
amenity will be secured.

7.12 The NPPF seeks to ensure a good standard of amenity for all existing and future
occupants of land and buildings.

7.13 The proposed alterations to the dwellinghouse itself involve works which are limited
in overall scale and with the property being a bungalow these works are single
storey in nature and would not amount to development that would give rise to
overlooking, overbearing impact, or a loss of light for neighbouring properties.

7.14 With respect to the erection of the garage outbuilding to the rear, 4no public
objections have been registered highlighting concerns regarding the outbuilding
garage’s impact upon amenity in terms of its use and outlook for neighbouring
properties. The structure would be located within close proximity to the rear
boundary of the garden which is shared with a property on Allington Gardens.

7.15 It is important to consider the ‘fallback’ position as a material consideration. It is
possible under ‘permitted development’ to erect structures within rear gardens of

Page 84



existing dwellings that can then be used for purposes incidental to the enjoyment
of the dwelling (such as a garage, games room, workshop, or incidental
accommodation) without the need for planning permission. This ‘fallback position’
is a significant material consideration when considering the concerns raised in
respect of the impact of the building and also the concerns regarding its proposed
and future use. Under such permitted development rights (Schedule 2, Part 1, Class
E of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England)
Order 2015), an outbuilding of this footprint, in this location (within 2 metres of the
boundary) could be constructed without planning permission provided its total
height does not exceed 2.5 metres. The proposed structure exhibits a pitched roof
which reaches a total height of 4.2 metres and a height to eaves of 2.375 metres.
The difference between the proposed works and what could be permitted under
permitted development rights that must now be examined and whether this
difference amounts to a negative impact upon neighbouring properties in terms of
amenity.

7.16 Although the building would be located in close proximity to the common boundary
between properties, there is a considerable distance between the north elevation
of the rear neighbouring property and the south elevation of the proposed
outbuilding. The sloping nature of the pitched roof, and the orientation of the
gardens in question (the application property has a south facing garden and the
neighbouring property has a north facing garden), the proposal is not considered
give rise to a negative impact with regard to any potential loss of light or overbearing
impact. Combined with the fact that the proposed outbuilding is ground floor in
nature, and there are no windows within the southern elevation, there are no issues
regarding loss of privacy. It is accepted that the building would change the outlook
from the garden and rear facing windows of the neighbouring property, however,
there is no right to a view in planning-terms and in any event, it is considered that
the elements of the building which would be visible from those areas (above the
common boundary treatment) would not be detrimental in terms of amenity.

7.17 Concerns have been raised regarding the use of the outbuilding as a garage and
the possibility that it could be used for the repair of motorcycles which could lead to
an unwanted level of noise on the locality. Whilst there is no evidence to suggest
that the building would be used for the repair of motorcycles, if the concern is that
the outbuilding would be used in a commercial manner, the proposed works can be
conditioned so that the outbuilding can only be used in conjunction with the dwelling
and not for any trade or business purposes. Furthermore, it is not uncommon for
individuals to have domestic outbuildings within their gardens wherein such
activities could occur. Again, the ‘fallback position’ referred to above must be
considered. If, on the other hand, the outbuilding was to be used in the manner
anticipated by residents and were to cause a nuisance, there are ample controls
under EH legislation which would allow for the investigation, resolution and
regulation of such impacts if it can be demonstrated that there is an adverse impact.
Therefore, as there are appropriate controls within other legislation, this is not a
matter which planning should seek to restrict.

7.18 The proposed works are therefore considered to be in accordance with SELLP
Policy 2 and Policy 3 and as result are acceptable in amenity terms.

Flood Risk

7.19 SELLP Policy 4 states that a proposed development within an area at risk of
flooding (Flood Zones 2 and 3) will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that

Page 85



there are no other sites available at a lower risk of flooding (through passing the
sequential test), the proposed works are essential infrastructure, appropriate flood
mitigation measures have been put in place.  Development within all flood zones
(and development over 1 hectare in size in Flood Zone 1) will need to demonstrate
that surface water from the development can be managed and will not increase the
risk of flooding to third parties.

7.20 The application site is located within Flood Zone 3 and as such is required to be
constructed in accordance with the Environment Agency’s standing advice. A
statement has been submitted alongside the application stating that floor levels in
the proposed works will be no lower than that of the existing dwelling.

7.21 The application proposes a very minimal increase in built footprint within the
curtilage of the dwelling and it is considered unlikely that the scale of the proposed
development would result in a material increase in surface water run-off. In any
event the applicant proposes to incorporate appropriate measures proportional to
the scale of the development.  As such it is considered the proposed works set out
in this application are in accordance with relevant policy and are therefore
acceptable in terms of flood risk.

8.0 Summary and Conclusion

8.1 For the reasons set out in this report, it is considered that the proposals would be
acceptable in relation to the character and appearance of the area and with regard
to its impact upon the amenities of neighbouring properties. As such, the
development is in accordance with policies 2 & 3 of the SELLP and there are no
material considerations which would outweigh this. The application is therefore
recommended for conditional approval of planning permission.

9.0 Recommendation

9.1 GRANT Planning Permission subject to the following condition(s) and reason:-

CONDITIONS AND INFORMATIVES

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.

Reason - Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2 The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete
accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans, numbers:

§ Location Plan – Drawing No. 3316-008 – Uploaded 19/07/2019
§ Proposed Garage Elevations, Section, Floor & Block Plan – Drawing No. 3316-

007 – Uploaded 11/07/2019
§ Proposed Section & Floor Plan – Drawing No. 3316-005 – Uploaded

11/07/2019
§ Proposed Elevations and Block Plan – Drawing No. 3316-004 – Uploaded

11/07/2019
§ Proposed 3D Views – Drawing No. 3316-003 – Uploaded 11/07/2019
§ Proposed Elevations, Sections and Block Plan – Drawing No. 3316-002 –

Uploaded 11/07/2019

Page 86



§ Proposed Rev A Garage Elevations, Section, Floor & Block Plan – Drawing No.
3316-006 – Uploaded 19/07/2019

Reason - To ensure the development is undertaken in accordance with the
approved details, in the interest of residential amenity and to comply with Policies
2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

3 The outbuilding hereby permitted shall only be used for purposes incidental to the
enjoyment of the dwellinghouse as shown on the approved plans, and shall not be
used for any trade, business, or commercial purposes whatsoever.

Reason: In the interests of the protection of the amenities of neighbouring
properties and to prevent the introduction of a non-domestic use of the building in
this location, and to comply with policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire
Local Plan (2011-2036).

INFORMATIVES

In determining this application the Local Planning Authority has taken account of
the guidance in Paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 in
order to seek to secure sustainable development that improves the economic,
social and environmental conditions of the Borough.

Where Surface Water is to be directed into a Mains Sewer System the relevant
bodies must be contacted to ensure the system has sufficient capacity to accept
the additional Surface Water. If there is any change to the surface water or treated
water disposal arrangements stated in the application, please contact the Drainage
Board.

Mike Gildersleeves
Growth Manager

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPLICATION B/19/0215

Installation of a children’s play area

131 Sleaford Road, Boston, PE21 7PE

Applicant: Mr Simon Long

Page 89

Agenda Item 6



P
age 90



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

Reference No: B/19/0215

Expiry Date: 13-Aug-2019
EOT: 15-Oct-2019

Application Type: Full Planning Permission

Proposal: Installation of a children’s play area

Site: 131 Sleaford Road, Boston, PE21 7PE

Applicant: Mr Simon Long

Ward: West

Case Officer: Jacques Carboni Third Party Reps: One objection received

Recommendation: CONDITIONAL APPROVAL

Link to Application: B/19/0215

Planning Committee – 15 October 2019

Page 91

https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/


1.0 Reason for Report

1.1 The application has been called in by Councillor S Woodliffe due to concerns
regarding the subsequent loss of privacy to the neighbouring properties, and that
of 129 Sleaford Road in particular.

2.0 Application Site and Proposal

2.1 The site comprises a traditionally built two-storey, detached residential dwelling
and associated curtilage. The property occupies a long narrow plot of land, as are
neighbouring dwellings.

2.2 The site is located along Sleaford Road, with public playing fields to the rear and
Boston Tennis club beyond this. The site is located west of the North Forty Foot
Drain and within Flood Risk Zone 3.

2.3 The proposal seeks the retention of an existing children’s play area presently
located within the north east corner of the applicant’s garden. The children’s play
area is formed of a gabled playhouse and attached swing set and is set on a raised
terrace.

2.4 The playhouse includes a platform of 1.6m in height and has an overall height of
3.3m. Part of the structure includes an attached climbing frame, set of stairs, a slide
and a set of swings. This structure is read as a complete set, located on a raised
terrace – with a total width of 4.8m and length of 6.7m. The structure is for domestic
use in association with the existing residential property.

2.5 The finishing materials comprise of wood for the main structure and plastic for the
attachments such as the slide and swing seat.

2.6 The application is retrospective in nature, having been generated following a
Planning Enforcement investigation, and thus seeks to regularise the ‘as built’
situation. Members will be aware that regardless of this being a retrospective
application, it must be determined on its own merits, with regard to the policies of
the development plan and in consideration of all relevant material considerations.

3.0 Relevant History

3.1 B/03/0586 – Construction of a single storey front extension. Granted 21st October
2003.

3.2 B/10/0245 – First Floor Front Extension (including alterations to existing roof
design/profile) plus re-location of 4no. existing solar panels. Granted 27th of August
2010.

3.3 B/10/0444 – Construction of a two storey side extension, alterations to the roof of
the existing house and erection of a detached double garage. Granted 24th January
2011.

4.0 Relevant Policy

South East Lincolnshire Local Plan

4.1 The following policies are most relevant:

Page 92



§ Policy 2 – Development Management
§ Policy 3 – Design of New Development
§ Policy 4 – Approach to Flood Risk

5.0 Representations

5.1 A single representation has been received from the occupants of 129 Sleaford
Road raising concerns relating to the loss of privacy that will result from the
retention of the play equipment by way of overlooking into their rear garden and
their rear habitable room windows.

6.0 Relevant Consultations

6.1 Cadent Gas – No objection.

7.0 Planning Issues and Discussion

7.1 The key issues in regards to the proposal area:

§ Impact on the character and appearance of the area.
§ Impact on neighbour’s amenity.

Impact on the character and appearance of the area

7.2 SELLP Policy 2 states that proposals requiring planning permission for
development will be permitted provided that sustainable development
considerations are met. These include size, scale, layout, density and impact on
the amenity, trees, character and appearance of the area and the relationship to
existing development and land uses as well as the quality of its design and its
orientation.

7.3 SELLP Policy 3 states that all development proposals will create a sense of place
by; respecting the density, scale, visual closure, landmarks, views, massing of
neighbouring buildings and the surrounding area.

7.4 The proposed equipment is sited at the rear of the applicant’s rear garden space
and has an overall height of 3.3m. Having regard to the size and length of the
applicant’s plot of land, the development would not result in over-development and
is not considered to be an inappropriate addition to the existing property. It is also
noted that within the area there are various examples of structures (such as sheds,
garages etc.) which are used incidentally to the enjoyment of the dwelling which
they serve.

7.5 The play equipment is constructed from wood and plastic. While these would not
match the host dwelling, they would have limited presence in or visibility from the
public domain and as such would not have a significant adverse impact on the
character and appearance of the surrounding area. Therefore, it is considered that
the proposals would accord with policies 2 and 3 in respect of this issue.

Impact on neighbour’s amenity

7.6 SELLP Policy 2 states that proposals requiring planning permission for
development will be permitted provided that sustainable development
considerations are met. These include impact on the amenity of the site itself and

Page 93



neighbouring sites as well as the impact upon neighbouring land uses by reason
of noise, odour, disturbance or visual intrusion.

7.7 SELLP Policy 3 states that development proposals will demonstrate how
residential amenity will be secured.

7.8 The children’s play area is located adjacent to an existing outbuilding at the rear of
129 Sleaford Road. Taking into account the height, scale and nature of the
structure for which permission is sought, in combination with the proximity of the
adjacent outbuilding, it is considered that the play equipment would not result in an
unacceptable overbearing or overshadowing effect to the residents of 129 or to any
other neighbouring dwellings.

7.9 Concerns have been raised regarding the loss of privacy resulting from the platform
space on the playhouse by way of the direct views it provides into the rear garden
and habitable rooms of 129 Sleaford Road. It is acknowledged that at 1.6m in
height, the platform on the playhouse would provide some views over the mutual
boundary treatment. However, this is only a limited area, and is designed to
provide access to the slide. It is also noted that the rear habitable room windows
of 129 Sleaford Road are situated over 18m from the play equipment, furthermore
both the application site and neighbouring properties benefit from substantial
amenity areas and thus it is considered that both of these factors would be
sufficient to mitigate any loss of privacy resulting from views into the rear habitable
room windows of the property.

7.10 When considering that the play equipment is not a habitable space, and the
manner in which the structure is intended to be used, it would be unlikely to be
intensely enough to adversely impact upon neighbouring privacy in terms of
overlooking/loss of privacy to result in a demonstrable adverse impact upon the
amenities enjoyed by the property. It is also unlikely that the use of the structure
would result in overlooking to the extent that the use of the garden area would be
affected to a significant degree. It is also noted that due to the siting of the play
equipment in relation to the neighbouring outbuilding that views from the platform
would be partially screened from the rear garden space of 129 Sleaford Road.

7.11 Furthermore, it is noted that there is already a significant degree of mutual
overlooking between properties within this area as a result of properties having
first-floor, habitable room windows – this includes the neighbouring property which
benefits from a Juliette balcony and french-doors. Thus, it is hard to argue that the
proposed structure would give rise to any significant additional overlooking when
compared to that which can currently occur. This is of significant material weight in
this determination. Having regard to the above, it is therefore considered that the
playhouse would be acceptable in terms of the effect upon the amenity, in particular
that of 129 Sleaford Road, in terms of an unacceptable reduction in privacy.

7.12 The intention of the structure is to be used incidentally to the enjoyment of the
dwellinghouse at 131 Sleaford Road, it would not be used commercially, and as
such it is considered that any noise or disturbance would be unlikely to be any
greater or adverse than as could reasonably occur in any event within the curtilage
of the domestic property.

7.13 In conclusion of the above, it is considered that the proposals are for a modest
structure, to be used incidentally to the enjoyment of the existing property. Whilst
there may be some minor impact upon the neighbouring property as a result of

Page 94



potential for views out from the structures elevated platform, it is considered that
these would be unlikely to be unduly detrimental to the amenities of the
neighbouring properties in particular number 129 Sleaford Road. Notwithstanding
this, given its scale, nature and relationships with neighbouring properties it is
considered that a refusal of the proposals on amenity grounds could not be
sustained at Appeal. The proposals are considered to be in general accordance
with policies 2 and 3 in respect of amenity considerations.

Flood Risk

7.14 SELLP Policy 4 states that a proposed development within an area at risk of
flooding (Flood Zones 2 and 3) will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that
there are no other sites available at a lower risk of flooding (through passing the
sequential test), the proposed works are essential infrastructure, appropriate flood
mitigation measures have been put in place. Development within all flood zones
(and development over 1 hectare in size in Flood Zone 1) will need to demonstrate
that surface water from the development can be managed and will not increase the
risk of flooding to third parties.

7.15 The application site is located within Flood Zone 3 and as such is required to be
constructed in accordance with the Environment Agency’s standing advice.

7.16 The application proposes a very minimal increase in built footprint within the
curtilage of the dwelling and it is considered unlikely that the scale of the proposed
development would result in a material increase in surface water run-off. Given
the play equipment is not used for habitable purposes it is considered the proposed
works set out in this application are therefore acceptable in terms of flood risk.

8.0 Conclusion

8.1 For the reasons set out in this report, it is considered that the proposals would be
acceptable in relation to the character and appearance of the area and with regard
to its impact upon the amenities of neighbouring properties. As such, the
development is in accordance with policies 2 & 3 of the SELLP and there are no
material considerations which would outweigh this. The application is therefore
recommended for conditional approval of planning permission.

9.0 Recommendation

9.1 GRANT Planning Permission subject to the following condition(s) and reason:-

CONDITIONS AND INFORMATIVES

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of
three years from the date of this permission.

Reason – Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete
accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans/documents:
§ Dimensions of Play Equipment – received 19th June 2019
§ Site Location Plan – received 9th July 2019

Page 95



Reason – To ensure the development is undertaken in accordance with the
approved details, in the interest of residential amenity and to comply with
Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

In determining this application the Local Planning Authority has taken account of the
guidance in Paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 in order to
seek to secure sustainable development that improves the economic, social and
environmental conditions of the Borough.

Mike Gildersleeves
Growth Manager

Page 96



PLANNING APPLICATION B/19/0298/LBC

Listed Building consent to make
necessary repairs to stone mouldings
on the principle facade of the building

Former Sessions House, Church Close,
Boston, PE21 6NA

Applicant: Dellhaven Homes Limited

Page 97

Agenda Item 7



P
age 98



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

Planning Committee – 15 October 2019

Reference No: B/19/0298/LBC

Expiry Date: 13 August 2019
Extension of Time: 18 October 2019

Application Type: Listed Building Consent

Proposal: Listed Building consent to make necessary repairs to stone
mouldings on the principle facade of the building

Site: Former Sessions House, Church Close, Boston, PE21 6NA

Applicant: Dellhaven Homes Limited
Agent: Gillick Brothers

Ward: Boston Town Area Committee

Case Officer: Jacques Carboni Third Party Reps: N/A

Recommendation: Conditional Approval

Link to application: B/19/0298

Page 99

https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/


1.0 Reason for Report

1.1 The Applicant is identified on the submitted forms as an Elected Member, and in
the opinion of the Monitoring Officer - having reviewed this against the requirements
of 2.21(d) of Part 3a (Officer Scheme of Delegation) of the Councils constitution –
the application should be determined by the Planning Committee in the interests of
transparency.

2.0 Application Site and Proposal

2.1 The former Sessions House which lies within Church Close, Boston is a Grade II*
Listed Building and former magistrates court serving Boston and district until 2003.

2.2 This is an application for Listed Building Consent for the proposed repairs to certain
damaged parts of the stone moulding, jambs and cills around the doors and
windows on the principal façade of the building.

2.3 The proposed repairs are necessary due to the erosion and damage to the stone
across the whole façade of the Sessions House. The agent has stated that the
whole building would benefit from a general scheme of stone restoration and
refurbishment.

2.4 The individual stones proposed to be replaced or repaired in this application are
those most significantly damaged on the lower levels of the principal façade. They
are chosen to be repaired (rather than all of the damaged stones) as an
economically viable way of protecting and improving the present condition of the
building. The damage is generally related to age, wind and water erosion, impact
damage and frost action.

3.0 Relevant History

3.1 None relevant to this application.

4.0 Relevant Policy

4.1 The following South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) policies are
considered to be relevant:

§ Policy 1: Spatial Strategy
§ Policy 2: Development Management
§ Policy 29: The Historic Environment

4.2 Other Material Planning Considerations

§ Town & Country Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
§ National Planning Policy Framework 2019
§ Planning Practice Guidance (on line resource)

4.0 Representations

4.1 No representations received.

Page 100



5.0 Consultations

5.1 Heritage Lincolnshire – advised that no archaeological comment to make on this
occasion, but any repairs/replacement should be to the requirements of the
Conservation Architect / Historic England.

5.2 Historic England – advised they do not wish to offer any comments and suggest the
Local authority seeks the views of the specialist conservation adviser.

5.3 Consultant Architect – Provided comments which are summarised below:
§ There is no objection to the proposal to repair the eroded stonework of the

Sessions House. However it is important to establish the appropriate type of
stone to be used in these repairs. Limestone and Sandstone are both natural
stone. But they should not be mixed together. Limestone is composed of
Calcium Carbonate (CaCo3) whereas Sandstone is largely made of Silicon
Dioxide (siO2).

§ The statement provided with this application states that the stone used for the
Sessions House is sandstone. That is unlikely to be the case.

§ The two stones should not be used together. Sandstone is more coarsely
grained and it will weather in a different way and at a different rate to limestone.

5.4 The Victorian Society – Welcomes in principle the proposals to repair the façade of
this important building. Emphasizes that the choice of stone and an appropriate
repair methodology will be crucial to the success of these repairs, and the approval
of the Council’s Conservation Officer on submission of appropriate samples should
be made a condition of consent. Earlier replacements in the mouldings around the
door demonstrate the effects of badly matched stone. We were surprised to read
that the existing stone is ‘sandstone’. From the available photographs, as well as
the materials most typically available in Lincolnshire, limestone would seem much
more likely. Clarification should be sought.

6.0 Planning Issues and Discussions

6.1 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 confirms the duty
of the Local Planning Authority to have special regard to the desirability of
preserving listed buildings, their setting and any features of special architectural or
historic interest. Section 16 (2) relates to Listed Building Consent and states that in
considering whether to grant Listed Building Consent for any works, the local
planning authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which
it possesses.

6.2 SELLP Policies 2 and 29 state that development proposals will be assessed on the
impact whilst seeking to conserve and enhance the character and appearance of
heritage assets. Proposals which extend such a building will be granted where the
Local Planning Authority is satisfied that the proposal is in the interest of the
building’s preservation and does not involve activities or alterations prejudicial to
the special architectural or historic interest of the Listed Building or its setting.

6.3 The National Planning Policy Framework provides the overarching guidance for
development and identifies a listed building as designated heritage assets.  It is the
Local Planning Authority’s duty to ensure that through careful decision making,

Page 101



development should maintain and manage change in a way that sustains, and
where appropriate, enhances its significance.

6.4 As such the key consideration with regard to this application is the impact on the
listed building.

6.5 The application proposes to make necessary repairs to stone mouldings on the
principle facade of the building. The owner of the property wishes to bring the
building back into more regular use as a public venue (to be the subject of a later
application) and needs the principal façade to be of a suitably high standard of repair
and maintenance.

6.6 The building, generally, requires a scheme of repair and refurbishment; particularly
to the intricate and skilfully carved stone on the lower parts of the principal façade,
where damage to mouldings and carvings is advanced in some places. Without
such a scheme of repair, the value and significance of the heritage asset will be
gradually diminished over time and future rescue efforts far more costly. The agent
has stated that the restoration and repair work proposed, though only a part of all
the work that is needed, will cause a marked improvement in the condition of the
façade, prevent further stone damage and losses in those areas and check the
decline of the building in general.

6.7 There is evidence on the principal façade that the stones have been already been
repaired at some point in the past. Nevertheless, the proposed work would be
carried out in such a way, with such materials and by suitably skilled personnel that
it would cause no visual or other detrimental impact upon the building which follows
an established pattern of repair work and as such would be appropriate to the
building. From the advice received, it is seen that there is general support for the
proposals which would represent improvements to the building, although it is
acknowledged that care must be taken to ensure that the works are undertaken in
an appropriate manner. There is some disagreement between the applicant
submissions and the Conservation advice received on this application in terms of
the type of stone utilised. Whilst this does have a bearing on the terms sought for
the consent, it is considered that this can been appropriately managed through the
imposition of an appropriately worded condition relating to the agreement of the
materials to be used within the works.

6.8 In conclusion, it is considered that the works would not cause harm to the heritage
asset and with the imposition of an appropriately worded condition for the
submission of materials and pointing techniques, the scheme would secure an
improvement in the condition of the overall building. Therefore the proposed works
are in accordance with Legislation, the NPPF and SELLP Policy 29.  As such the
repair work is acceptable in terms of their impact on the listed building and is
recommended for approval.

7.0 Recommendation

7.1 It is recommended that Committee to GRANT Listed Building Consent subject to
the following conditions and reason:-

CONDITIONS AND INFORMATIVES

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.

Page 102



Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to paragraph 18 of the Town & Country
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

2. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete
accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans, numbers:

§ Site Location Plan 179-001 July 2019
§ South Elevation with Proposed Work Notes 179-100 July 2019

Reason: To ensure the development is undertaken in accordance with the
approved details, in the interest of residential amenity and to comply with Policies
2, 3 and 29 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

3. Notwithstanding Condition No. 2 of this Consent, no works shall take place until a
sample panel identifying the approach to the repairs has been constructed on site
for inspection by the Local Planning Authority and details of the stonework and
mortar work (including a specification for a mortar mix) to be used in the repairs
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Only the approved stonework and mortar mix shall be used, in accordance with any
terms of such approval.

Reason: In order to ensure a sympathetic relationship with the character of the
listed building in accordance with Policies 2 and 29 of the South East Lincolnshire
Local Plan (2011-2036) and the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990.

In determining this application the Local Planning Authority has taken account of the
guidance in Paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 in order to seek
to secure sustainable development that improves the economic, social and environmental
conditions of the Borough.

Mike Gildersleeves
Growth Manager

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 
 

REPORT TO: Planning Committee 

DATE: 15
th
 October 2019 

SUBJECT: Receipt of Appeal Decisions 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Nigel Welton 

REPORT AUTHOR: Mike Gildersleeves - Growth Manager 

EXEMPT REPORT? 

 

No 

 

 
SUMMARY 
The purpose of this report is to advise members of the receipt of appeal decisions received 
since the previous report, these are: 
 
Planning  Reference:   
B/18/0119 
 
Proposal:   
Outline application for residential development following demolition of the existing buildings 
with all  matters (layout, appearance, landscaping, access and scale) reserved for later 
approval 
 
Location:   
Bridge House, Grantham Road, Boston, Lincolnshire, PE21 7NL 
 
Decision level: 
Planning Committee 
 
Appeal Decision:  
Dismissed 
 
Planning  Reference:   
B/18/0346 
 
Proposal:   
Outline application for residential development (up to 8 dwellings) with all matters reserved 
for later approval 
 
Location:   
Land west of Millview, Donington Road, Kirton End, Boston, PE20 1NX 
 
Decision level: 
Planning Committee 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 105

Agenda Item 8



 

 
Appeal Decision:  
Allowed 
 
Planning  Reference:   
B/18/0320 
 
Proposal:   
Outline application for residential development (up to 2 dwellings) with all matters reserved 
 
Location:   
Land fronting Sharpe's Paddock, Morley Lane, Bicker, Boston, PE20 3DP 
 
Decision level: 
Delegated 
 
Appeal Decision:  
Dismissed 
 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Committee are asked to note this report. 
 

 

 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
To address the Service Plan 2019/20. 
  

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 It is established practice that all appeal decisions are reported to Planning Committee 

as part of performance monitoring and to consider if any particular decisions raise 
issues which might influence practice or future decision making.  
 

1.2 All applicants have a right of appeal against the decision of the planning authority, over 
a refusal, an approval with conditions (if the conditions are unacceptable to the 
applicant) and in cases of ‘non-determination’ where the authority has not issued a 
decision within the prescribed 8 or 13-week period without an agreed ‘extension of 
time’. The right of appeal applies to all categories and types of applications – including 
Enforcement and other Notices where there are defined categories or grounds of appeal 
which an appellant has to follow. 

 
2.0 APPEAL DECISIONS  
 
 Bridge House, Grantham Road, Boston, Lincolnshire, PE21 7NL 
 
2.1 The inspector gave due regard to policies 13,14, 33 & 34 in considering the potential 

impact of the development on the route of the Boston Distributor Road. He identified 
that the site is within a commercial area and that the proposed pocket of residential 

Page 106



 

development would be at odds with this. He concluded that the development would fail 
to integrate into the surrounding area and would be in conflict with policies 2 and 3. The 
inspector also noted that the Council did have a 5YHLS which was confirmed by the 
adoption of the SELLP, with no evidence to the contrary. 
 
Land west of Millview, Donington Road, Kirton End, Boston, PE20 1NX 
 

2.2 This was an outline application with all matters reserved, the Inspector considered both 
the revised NPPF and the adopted SELLP which were released and adopted post 
determination of the application. 
 

2.3 The Inspector identified that the site was outside of the boundary for Kirton End, but was 
within an area with other residential development (opposite). He advised that the site is 
more related to the character of the village than the countryside, and any encroachment 
into the countryside would not be at odds with the established character.  
 

2.4 He advised that the development would result in visual change, but as this would be 
seen in the context of the existing village this would result in minimal harm. This could 
be further reduced at Reserved Matters stage. He did not find that the development 
would lead to the joining of Kirton End and Kirton End Bridge, concluding that the 
development would be in accordance with policies 2 and 3. 
 

2.5 The inspector concluded that the development would be acceptable in relation to 
amenity considerations. 
 

2.6 On sustainability, and access to facilities and services, the Inspector noted the 
relationship with Kiron End and Kirton, and made reference to para 78 of the NPPF, 
advising that it is possible to cycle between the settlements and that development would 
enhance the social and economic benefits of the area. The conclusion being the 
proposals would be in accordance with policies 1 & 5. 
 

2.7 At para 28, the Inspector identifies that the Council cannot demonstrate a 5YHLS and 
that para 11d of the NPPF is engaged.  
**Officers advise this is incorrect, and we are taking legal advice on this matter. 
However, it is noted that there has been a significant delay between final comments on 
the Appeal being sought by PINS (27/3/19) and the decision (17/9/19) during which time 
the Council has released two 5YHLS updates which confirm the Councils position.** 
 

2.8 Notwithstanding the above, the Inspector found there would be some harm, although 
that would be limited and could be mitigated, concluding the development is in 
accordance with policies 2 & 3. The inspector applied the planning balance, and gave 
weight to the supply of housing, plus the economic and social benefits and concluded 
that these would outweigh any harm from the development. The Appeal was allowed 
subject to conditions. 
 
(Morley House) Land fronting Sharpe's Paddock, Morley Lane, Bicker, Boston, 
PE20 3DP 
 

2.9 The Inspector recognised the changes in policy since the determination of the 
application, confirming that whilst at the time of the refusal the Council could not 
demonstrate a 5YHLS, it could now do so, and that full-weight could be attributed to the 
SELLP. 
 

Page 107



 

2.10 They identified the location in ‘countryside’ as defined in policy, and that there was a 
lack of justification in relation to policy 1. Considering the requirements of the NPPF, the 
Inspector concluded that the site is not isolated, but there was no substantive basis for a 
deviation from policy 1 of the development plan which is the starting point for decision-
making. 
 

2.11 The Inspector agreed that the development would be contrary to the rural character and 
would extend the build form into the countryside, concluding this would have an adverse 
effect. Although it was accepted that there would not be any harm to heritage assets 
subject to careful design. It was concluded that there was conflict with policy 2 of the 
SELLP. 
 
Growth Manager comments: 

 
2.12 Clearly the outcomes of these Appeals are mixed, and it is considered that this can in 

part be attributed to the complexity caused by the timing of the decisions in relation to 
the Councils 5YHLS and development plan position pre-adoption of the SELLP. It is 
hoped that now the SELLP is in place and with regular updates to the 5YHLS, and 
active monitoring against our Housing Delivery Test requirements, this complexity would 
be reduced and we should see more consistency in approach from Inspectors. 

 
2.13 That said, on reviewing the commentary within the decisions, it is clear that the SELLP 

is the starting point for decision-taking, and that Inspectors continue to give weight to all 
relevant material considerations including the NPPF, levels of harm, etc. It is clear 
therefore that Inspectors are applying this balance, particularly when considering 
whether proposals are in accordance with policy 1 of the SELLP. While Members may 
find some of the outcomes disappointing, particularly in relation to the development that 
was allowed outside of the settlement boundary, it is important to consider that the 
weight attributed to these factors is a matter for the decision-maker, within the planning 
balance. Whilst the plan is the starting-point for decision-making, this has to be taken as 
a whole (weighing up conflict with and between policies) and all other material 
considerations. Equally, Officers would advise that each case must be determined on its 
own merits and thus, one decision does not set a precedent for future decisions per-se. 
 

2.14 Additionally, it is does appear that policies 2 & 3 of the SELLP are performing positively 
in terms of enabling the Council to resist development where it would have an 
unacceptable impact and where conflict with the policy objectives would occur, with 
Inspectors giving weight to these policies. 

 
2.15 In addition, following a review of recent decisions received and comments made 

generally by Members regarding decisions received, Officers have recently written to 
the Planning Inspectorate outlining some areas of concerns. Subsequently we have 
received a response from the Planning Inspectorate (feedback unit). Both documents 
are provided along with this report for Members information. Whilst we are clearly 
disappointed with their response, we believe it is helpful in providing greater clarity in 
respect of their approach to decision-taking. It is also positive to note:  
 
“It is vital that the Inspectorate meets its quality targets and that, with due 
acknowledgement of your comments, it be satisfied that its decisions are fit for purpose. 
Please accept my assurance that the Inspectorate is actively working on continuing to 
improve all of the practices and procedures within its remit.” 

 

Page 108



 

2.16 In conclusion, Officers will continue to review all Appeal decisions received, and where 
such decisions appear to be irregular will consider obtaining the necessary legal advice 
in respect of potential for challenge. We will also continue to review the approaches 
adopted by Inspectors, and their rationale in respect of decision-taking. However, it is 
also hoped that decisions will become more consistent as future Appeals will be 
determined against the SELLP (and its associated background documents) as the 
starting point. 
 

3.0 CONCLUSION  

3.1 The Council has received 14 decisions from 1
st
 April 2019 to 1

st
 October 2019, of which 

6 were allowed and 8 were dismissed.    

3.2 The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) monitors 
authorities in relation to the number of major and non-major applications overturned (i.e. 
allowed) at appeal.  The threshold is for fewer than 20% of all major applications 
determined overturned at appeal over a rolling two-year period (i.e. the total number of 
major decisions divided by the total number overturned).  For authorities who exceed 
this target, they will be classed as ‘poorly performing’ and applications for major 
developments may be made by developers directly to the Planning Inspectorate. 
MHCLG also monitor the threshold for quality of decisions for non-major applications, 
the threshold for which is 10%.  Like the major threshold this is the total number of non-
major applications overturned at appeal compared to the total number of non-major 
decisions made.   

3.3 The following tables set out the Councils position in relation to the rolling two year 
period. In this case between 30

th
 September 2017 to 1

st
 October 2019: 

 

2 year - Appeals performance - 
Majors 

  
2 year - Appeals performance -   
Non-Major 

Total number 
of decisions 

76   
Total number 
of decisions 

737 

Total number 
of Appeals 

4   
Total number 
of Appeals 

26 

Dismissed  2   Dismissed  14 

Allowed 2   Allowed 11 

Withdrawn 0   Withdrawn 1 

% indicator 
(majors 
allowed / 
total number 
of decisions) 

2.63%   

% indicator 
(non-majors 
allowed / total 
number of 
decisions) 

1.49% 

3.4 Given the aforementioned performance, the Council is therefore significantly within 
government’s target and not at risk of being classed as poorly performing. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
None 
 

 

Page 109



 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
None 
 

 

ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
None 

 

CONSULTATION   None undertaken 
 

 

APPENDICES 
 
Inspectors decision notices for the Appeals identified  

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 

Document title 
 
Application file including Appeal documents –  
 
Planning  References:   

 B/18/0119 
 B/18/0346 

 B/18/0320 
 
Letter to the Planning Inspectorate 
Response from the Planning Inspectorate 

 

Where the document can be viewed 
 
 
All application documents are available via 
the Councils website using the relevant 
details. 

 

Page 110



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 23 April 2019 

by Mrs Chris Pipe BA(Hons), DipTP, MTP, MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 14 August 2019 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/Z2505/W/19/3220845 

Bridge House, Grantham Road, Boston, Lincolnshire PE21 7NL 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
against a refusal to grant outline planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr & Mrs Carl Smith against the decision of the Boston Borough 

Council. 
• The application Ref B/18/0119, dated 20 March 2018, was refused by notice dated  

26 July 2018. 
• The development proposed is described as change of use from independent behavioural 

school to residential use of site. 
 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Procedural Matter 

2. The application was submitted in outline with all matters reserved for future 

consideration. The number of residential units is not prescribed on the 
application form however indicative plans and a statement have been 

submitted by the Appellant advocating a development of between 5 and 9 

residential units. Therefore, notwithstanding the illustrative nature of the plans, 
I have considered the appeal on the basis of residential development up to 9 

residential units. 

3. Since the submission of the appeal the National Planning Policy Framework has 

been superseded by the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) (the 

Framework) and the recently adopted South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-
2036 (2019) (the SELLP) has replaced the Boston Borough Local Plan (1999).  

Both parties were given the opportunity to provide additional comments, 

therefore no party has been prejudiced or caused any injustice by me 

proceeding with the appeal in light of these changes in policy. 

Main Issue 

4. The main issue in this case is the effect of the proposed development on the 

character of the area. 

Reasons 

5. The site lies within a predominantly commercial area adjacent the Alban Retail 

Park, accessed from the A52 road. South Forty Foot Drain lies to the north of 

Page 111

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


APP/Z2505/W/19/3220845 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

the site. The site currently comprises a behavioural school with informal car 

parking area adjacent. 

6. The Council have drawn my attention to the SELLP in particularly Policies 13, 

14 and 34 relating to the Boston Distributor Road (BDR). The proposed 

development is located within an area identified as ‘safeguarding corridor’ on 
the adopted Policies Map. Policy 33 of the SELLP requires development which 

prejudices the design of infrastructure, including the BDR will not be permitted.  

7. An indicative plan of the BDR is contained within Appendix 10 of the SELLP, 

plan/diagram ‘19.3 - Proposed Highways’. The plan details that the BDR is split 

into 3 highway phases, none of which appear to involve the appeal site or land 
adjacent. Whilst I appreciate that the highway plan is indicative and may be 

subject to change, I have not been provided with substantive evidence to 

demonstrate how the proposed development would prejudice the construction 
of the BDR. 

8. Policy 3 of the SELLP requires development to be appropriate to the local area 

and to create distinctive places through the use of high quality and inclusive 

design. The appeal site is within a commercial area, separated from nearby 

residential properties by the bridge over the adjacent South Forty Foot Drain. 

The appellant has drawn my attention to the historic residential use of the 
building on the appeal site, however this this is no longer the case. 

9. The proposed development would introduce residential development onto land 

which is adjacent large areas of car parking and commercial buildings. The 

commercial functioning is the predominant feature of the area. The proposed 

pocket of residential development would be at odds with the immediate area.  

10. The appellant has suggested that existing landscaping could be enhanced. 
Landscaping would be the subject of a reserved matters application; however, I 

am not persuaded that this would be adequate to integrate the development 

with the surrounding area.  

11. I conclude that the proposed development would harm the character of the 

area. There is conflict with Policies 2 and 3 of the SELLP which amongst other 
things seek to ensure developments are appropriate to their surroundings. 

There is also conflict with the Framework which seeks to ensure development 

functions well and adds to the overall quality of an area. 

Other Matters 

12. The appellant has drawn my attention to the previous approval of a planning 

application at the site; however, no substantive details have been provided to 

demonstrate that the approved scheme was directly comparable. 
Notwithstanding this the planning policies for the area have now changed and 

in any event each development needs to be considered on its individual merits 

and circumstances against the relevant policies and taking account of other 
material considerations. I have reached my conclusion based on the individual 

merits of the appeal proposal. 

13. The appellant has drawn my attention to the lack of objections from 

consultees, however this does not outweigh the harm I have identified above. 

14. The Council have confirmed their 5 year supply of housing land via the 

adoption of the SELLP, I have no substantive evidence before me to doubt this. 

Page 112

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


APP/Z2505/W/19/3220845 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

Conclusion 

15. For the reasons given above I conclude that the appeal should be dismissed. 

C Pipe 

INSPECTOR 

 

 

Page 113

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 18 March 2019 

by A Graham  BA(hons) MAued  IHBC 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 17 September 2019 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/Z2505/W/18/3219328 

Land west of Millview, Donington Road, Kirton End, Boston PE20 1NX 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Carl Bates against the decision of Boston Borough Council. 
• The application B/18/0346, dated 16 August 2018, was refused by notice dated 22 

November, 2018. 
• The development proposed is for outline submission for 8 no. residential units with all 

matters reserved. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed subject to the conditions as set out in the schedule 

below. 

Procedural Matters 

2. The application was made with all matters reserved. I have dealt with the 

appeal on this basis and I have treated any details not to be considered at this 

stage as being illustrative only.   

3. Since determination of this application an amended revised National Planning 

Policy Framework has been published in February 2019. I have therefore had 

regard to any changes in the Government’s position in assessing this appeal 
under the relevant sections of the revised Framework as have the appellants 

themselves.  

4. The South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (SELLP) was formally adopted in March 

2019. Although previously a material consideration, I have had regard to the 

formal adoption of this policy document and the parties have had the 
opportunity to comment on any changes as introduced that they wish to be 

considered.   

Main Issues 

5. The main issues are: 

a) whether the proposal would be in a suitable location for housing with regard 

to the effect on the character and appearance of the area. 

b) The  effect of the proposed development upon the living conditions of 

neighbours. 

c) Whether future occupants of the development would have reasonable 

access to services and facilities.  

Page 115

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/A2525/W/18/3219328 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Reasons 

Whether the proposal would be in a suitable location for housing with regards to 

the effect on the character and appearance of the area. 

6. The appeal site forms part of a large field under arable cultivation that lies 

adjacent to the village of Kirton End. The site is bounded on the south by 

Donnington Road, to the west by Whitebread Road and to the east by the 

village of Kirton End itself. To the north of the site there is a large commercial 
greenhouse. This structure, although partially transparent and offering views 

around its sides, does contribute to the enclosure of a large part of this site 

when seen from the surrounding area and it is the area south of this 
greenhouse, extending to Donnington Road, that is the area subject to this 

appeal.  

7. Kirton End is identified in the SELLP as a ‘Other service centre or settlement’ 

which defines it in the context of other identified centres for the purposes of 

the plan. The site lies outside of this identified settlement, but it is bounded by 
development to the opposite side of Donington Road that is included within the 

defined settlement limit.   

8. Although the site can be seen past the greenhouse, as a continuous flat arable 

field, the overriding character of the site is one that is enclosed and that is 

more related to the character of the village than that of the openness of the 
countryside to the north. Once beyond this greenhouse the perception of the 

site is therefore one of a piece of land more heavily enclosed by built 

development on nearly all its edges and as such any rural character is further 

diluted. Any encroachment into the open countryside will therefore not appear 
at odds with the overriding character and appearance of the area as a whole. 

9. The indicative plans as submitted provide an idea of the appellant’s intentions 

for development and although all matters are reserved I consider the proposed 

sketch scheme as being a reasonable attempt to show what actual 

development of this site could look like. Although the existing greenhouse does 
visually shield much of this site, there would still be an impact upon the views 

to and from the open agricultural landscape around.  The land is very flat and 

although it rises slightly towards Holmes Lane, any development would be 
visible, even with the greenhouse in its current position.  

10. I note also that the site is within Flood Zone 3 as identified by the Environment 

Agency.  This will require dwellings to be raised higher than would be usual due 

to the potentially high flood risk. I find some harm will therefore occur to the 

openness of the countryside through the visual appearance of development 
here, especially if properties to this northern boundary are large two storey 

houses as the indicative plans suggest. Development here would therefore 

change the views towards this site from the north and would effectively extend 
the perception of residential built form in this direction.   

11. Such an impact would however be synonymous with the village character and it 

is this village character that is the dominant visual form to either side of this 

site. Therefore, although some harm will occur through the loss of a small area 

of open landscape, the overall impact upon the wider landscape will be 
minimised due to the site being seen as a continuation of the existing village.  

Page 116

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/A2525/W/18/3219328 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

12. In light of the reserved matters nature further mitigation of this harm could 

occur through development that reflects the local character of the village and 

enhances the village characteristics through good architectural design and 
landscaping, especially to the northern and southern boundaries.  

13. As such the principle of development of this site would not create such an 

awkward and alien encroachment into the open countryside to such a degree 

as to be noticeable. There will be a visual impact upon the wider open 

countryside to the north but this will be synonymous with the overriding village 
character at either side of this site.  

14. The field as it stands represents the last area of open agricultural land between 

Kirton End and Kirton End Bridge. Historically it appears that these two 

settlements were distinct places, separate from each other and this is reflected 

in the defined settlement limits shown on Inset Map No. 50 of the SELLP. 

15. On entering Kirton End from the west one passes the clusters of buildings 

around the cross roads of Donnington Road, Whitebread Road, Kirton Holme 
Road and Drainside.  This area forms the focus of settlement of Kirton End 

Bridge.  On entering this area the impression is one of entering a village where 

roads adjoin around junctions, houses are clustered amongst landscape and 

residential gardens appear.  This character is then near continuous until one 
reaches the opposite end of Kirton End itself.  

16. As a result, the effective end of the village of Kirton End would appear to 

conclude beyond the existing lines of built development and to the western side 

of Kirton End Bridge. The overriding impression is therefore one of this site 

being inclusive, rather than exclusive of the village.  Although the appeal site 
still maintains some of the characteristics of an open agricultural field, this is 

eroded by development to its edges and the greenhouse to its northern 

boundary. As a result the open rural character of the site is significantly 
lessened.  

17. Although I consider that some harm may occur through the loss of this site 

being the last piece of agricultural land between Kirton End and Kirton End 

Bridge, I consider that the two settlements have already been physically linked 

through the historic development alongside Donnington Road itself and as such 
the identified harm is more limited.  

18. In summary some harm will occur to the character and appearance of the area 

through the loss of this site and the resultant impact of development upon the 

open countryside, especially when seen from the north. Such development 

would also consolidate the two settlements of Kirton End and Kirton End Bridge 
which would effectively merge the two, distinct settlements. Such harm is 

however significantly lessened, as the site is already effectively enclosed 

existing development. Therefore, although the site will result in the loss of an 
area of agricultural land between the villages, this will not necessarily be 

harmful.  

19. In light of this the requirements contained within SELLP Policies 2 and 3 can be 

met through good design and landscaping and as such the principle of 

development here will compliment the existing character and appearance of the 
area.  

 

Page 117

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/A2525/W/18/3219328 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

The impact of the proposal upon the living conditions of neighbours 

20. The application is for all matters reserved and as a result details such as 

window openings and garden areas will be reserved for later approval by the 

Local Planning Authority.   

21. Notwithstanding this however I consider that the indicative plans as submitted 

can be considered as illustrating the intention of any future reserved matters 

application and are relevant to this point. 

22. The requirements as set out by the Environment Agency for finished floor levels 
of proposed houses to be not lower than 0.5 metres will result in habitable 

room floors that are higher than other properties nearby. This has the potential 

to cause issues of overlooking of neighbours whose properties are located 

around the site, most notably on the south side of Donnington Road.  

23. In considering this I note the indicative plan as showing a driveway to the front 
of properties facing Donnington Road from the proposed development site. 

Although development here would introduce houses facing towards existing 

properties on Donnington Road, I do not consider that such properties, 

primarily due to the distances involved between them, would harm the living 
conditions of neighbours through overlooking.   

24. Even with the proposed raise in floor level as suggested by the Environment 

Agency, I do not consider that such harm would occur as to lead me to the 

conclusion that living conditions would be so sufficiently harmed so as to 

dismiss this appeal.  As a result SELLP Policies 2 and 3 are met.  

Whether future occupants of the development would have reasonable access to 

services and facilities  

25. The proposed development will be located to the edge of Kirton End village.  
The village itself would appear not to contain many of the facilities and 

amenities required for modern family living and the vast majority of such 

facilities are to be found in nearby Kirton that is located around 1.6 miles away, 

with the much larger market town of Boston being around 4.2 miles to the 
east.  

26. I consider that the proximity of these facilities would lead to the strong 

temptation for the private car to be used for the vast majority of visits to these 

essential amenities. However I consider it possible to cycle such distances with 

relative ease and that the smaller lanes between Kirton End and Kirton could, 
for instance be used for active travel between this site and local facilities.  

Moreover I consider that Kirton End is not an insubstantial settlement and that 

new development may help the village sustain future viable businesses to serve 
residents.  

27. Paragraph 78 of the Framework also recognises the contribution that smaller 

villages make to larger, rural settlements. In this case, I consider that such 

benefits would exist and that development to this site could enhance the social 

and economic benefits to the wider area.  As a result SELLP Policies 1 and 5 are 
met. 

 

 

Page 118

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/A2525/W/18/3219328 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

Planning Balance 

28. It is common ground between the parties that the Council cannot demonstrate 

an adequate five years supply of housing as required by The Framework. As 

such Paragraph 11d is engaged as regards the planning balance of the 

proposed development. The Framework also states that permission should be 
granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the 

Framework as a whole. 

29. I have found some harm with regards the development with particular 

reference to the impact of the proposals upon the character and appearance of 
the area through the infilling of what is at present an open agricultural field, 

between two historically separate places. Notwithstanding the harm that I have 

identified however, I consider that some of this harm can be mitigated through 
high quality design as required by SELLP Policies 2 and 3.  

30. In considering the benefits of this proposal I give substantial weight to the 

need for more housing within the district in light of this lack of a five year 

housing land supply.  I also give some weight to the economic benefits of 

constructing more houses and the resultant increase in local residents that 

could help sustain the local village and any future amenities it may wish to 
introduce. In support of this I note the letters of support from local residents. 

31. As a result I do not consider that the identified harm significantly and 

demonstrably outweighs the benefits of this proposal when assessed against 

the policies in the Framework as a whole.   

Conditions 

32. The conditions as outlined below are considered reasonable, enforceable and 

practical for enabling sustainable development to this site. Apart form the 

standard conditions, a number of other conditions are required. These include; 
Details of the estate roads and pedestrian footways should be agreed for 

pedestrian safety purposes.  A scheme should also be agreed to ensure 

satisfactory surface water drainage.  The proposals in the approved flood risk 
assessment need to be conditioned because of the risk of flooding and the 

maximum number of houses needs to be set at 8, to protect the character and 

appearance of the area. 

Other Matters 

33. I have been made aware there are issues with regards highway safety that 

residents feel could be exacerbated by this proposal.  I am satisfied however 

that the requirements and conditions as set out by the County Highways Officer 
can sufficiently alleviate highway safety concerns.  

34. Similarly I am aware that the site is located within Flood Zone 3 as identified 

by the Environment Agency. I am satisfied however that the proposed 

mitigation will minimise the risk of flooding and enable the dwellings to be 

constructed without undue risk.  

Conclusion  

35. Overall, the adverse impacts identified above would not significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits of this proposal.  Consequently, the 

Page 119

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/A2525/W/18/3219328 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          6 

proposal would accord with the definition of sustainable development, as is set 

out in the Framework.  Therefore, in the circumstances of this appeal, there are 

substantial material considerations to justify making a decision other than in 
accordance with the development plan.  For these reasons, the appeal should 

be allowed.  

A Graham 

INSPECTOR 

 

  

Page 120

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/A2525/W/18/3219328 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          7 

Schedule of Conditions 

 

1) No development shall commence until details of the layout, access, 

appearance, landscaping and scale of the development (hereafter referred to as 

the 'reserved matters') have been submitted to and approved by the local 
planning authority.  

 

2) Application for approval of reserved matters shall be made to the Local 
Planning Authority not later than the expiration of three years from the date of 

this permission.  

 

3) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
two years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be 

approved.  

 
4) Before any dwelling is occupied, all of that part of the estate road and 

associated footways that forms the junction with the main road and which will 

be constructed within the limits of the existing highway, shall be laid out and 

constructed to finished surface levels in accordance with details to be submitted 
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. 

 

5) The permitted development shall be undertaken in accordance with a surface 
water drainage scheme which shall first have been approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall:  

 

• Be based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the 

hydrological and hydrogeological context of the development;  

 

• Provide details of how run-off will be safely conveyed and attenuated during 

storms up to and including the 1 in 100 year critical storm event, with an 

allowance for climate change, from all hard surfaced areas within the 

development into the existing local drainage infrastructure and watercourse 

system without exceeding the run-off rate for the undeveloped site; 

 

• Provide attenuation details and discharge rates which shall be restricted to 

1.4 litres per second; 

 

• Provide details of the timetable for and any phasing of implementation for 

the drainage scheme; and 

 

• Provide details of how the scheme shall be maintained and managed over 

the lifetime of the development, including any arrangements for adoption by 

any public body or Statutory Undertaker and any other arrangements 

required to secure the operation of the drainage system throughout its 

lifetime. 

 
6) No dwelling shall be occupied until the approved scheme has been completed 

or provided on the site in accordance with the approved phasing. The approved 

Page 121

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/A2525/W/18/3219328 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          8 

scheme shall be retained and maintained in full, in accordance with the 

approved details. 

 
7) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied before a 1.8 metre 

wide footway to connect the development to the existing footway network, has 

been provided in accordance with details that shall first have been submitted to, 

and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The works shall also 
include appropriate arrangements for the management of surface water run-off 

from the highway. 

 
8) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Flood 

Risk Assessment (FRA) ref. 18-0438/FRA, Revision A, September 2018 by BSP 

Consulting, including the following mitigation measures detailed within the FRA:  
 

• Finished floor levels shall be set no lower than 0.5m above average existing 

ground level. 

 

• Flood resilient construction shall be used to a height of 300mm above the 
predicted flood level. 

 

• The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and 

subsequently remain in place.  
 

 9) No more than 8 dwellings shall be constructed on this site. 

 

Page 122

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 28 August 2019 

by M Russell BA (Hons) DipTP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 

Decision date: 24th September 2019 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/Z2505/W/19/3225714 

Morley House, Morley Lane, Bicker, Nr Boston PE20 3DP 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
against a refusal to grant outline planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Domenic De Benedictis against the decision of Boston 

Borough Council. 
• The application Ref B/18/0320, dated 27 July 2018, was refused by notice dated  

3 October 2018. 
• The development proposed is 2 No residential building plots fronting Sharpe’s Paddock 

(leading off Morley Lane). 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Procedural Matters 

2. My decision is based on the description of the proposal given on the planning 

application form.  The proposal is in outline form with all matters reserved.  

The details provided suggest that access would be via the private drive known 
as ‘Sharpe’s Paddock’ which is accessed off Morley Lane. However, I have 

considered details of access as being indicative only and my considerations 

relate to the principal of the site being developed as two residential building 
plots. 

3. The development plan at the time of the Council’s decision comprised the 

Boston Borough Local Plan (BBLP) (1999). Since the decision, the Council has 

adopted the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2019-2036 (SELLP) (March 

2019).  Following the adoption of the SELLP, Policies C01, G1 and G2 of the 
BBLP referred to in the Council’s decision notice, are no longer in force.  The 

appellant has been provided with an opportunity to comment on the SELLP and 

the policies now in place. I have therefore considered the appeal against the 

relevant policies of the up to date development plan, the SELLP. 

4. When the Council determined the planning application, it was not in a position 
to demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply.  However, the Council now has a 

5-year supply of deliverable housing land.  Accordingly, full weight is attached 

to the policies of the SELLP for the purposes of determining this appeal. 

Main Issues 

5. The main issues are: 

• whether the appeal site would be a suitable location for the proposed 

Page 123

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/19/3225714 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

development having regard to the development plan and national policy; and 

• the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area. 

Reasons 

Location 

5. Other than the access road, the majority of the appeal site is a grass field and 

the SELLP identifies the field as being outside the development boundary for 

Bicker and within countryside. 

6. Policy 1 of the SELLP sets out the Spatial Strategy for the area with land 
outside defined settlement boundaries and in the countryside sitting at the 

bottom of the hierarchy in terms of areas where development is to be directed.  

The policy stipulates that in the countryside development will be permitted 

where it is necessary to such a location and/or where it can be demonstrated 
that it meets the sustainable development needs of the area in terms of 

economic, community or environmental benefits.  

7. Open market housing is not a development type that requires a countryside 

location.  This is particularly the case in this instance where the council has a 

suitable supply of deliverable housing land a recently adopted development 
plan with a spatial strategy setting out how the housing needs for the area will 

be met.   

8. In terms of the meaning within the Framework, the site is not isolated given its 

location adjacent to the settlement boundary of Bicker which is a Minor Service 

Centre under Policy 1 of the SELLP. However, these factors do not justify a 
deviation from development plan policies.  There is no substantive evidence 

before me to demonstrate that the proposal would meet the sustainable 

development needs of the area.  The recently adopted local plan indicates that 
the sustainable development needs can be met in line with the Spatial Strategy 

with new dwellings located within defined settlements. 

9. To conclude, the appeal site is not in an appropriate location for the provision 

of new dwellings and would be in conflict with the spatial strategy in Policy 1 of 

the SELLP.  The proposal would be in conflict with the key principles relating to 
sustainability and Paragraph 12 of the Framework which states that the 

development plan is the starting point for decision making and where a 

proposal conflicts with an up-to-date development plan it should not usually be 

granted. 

Character and appearance 

10. The site is currently used as a paddock and adjoins other paddock land with 

post and rail fencing forming intervening boundaries.  Consequently, these 
paddocks give a generally open settlement edge character to the area.  

Existing planting assists in screening the site from Donington Road.  Existing 

buildings on Morley Lane also obscure views of the site, although the 
development would still be appreciable including from views up the access 

road. The rural character of the site is particularly evident when viewed from 

Monument Road and there is a clear distinction between the built form of the 

village edge and the open countryside where buildings are fewer in number and 
more sporadic.  Development of the plot would extend the built footprint and 

increase the presence of built form within the countryside. The domestic 

Page 124

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/19/3225714 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

appearance of the buildings, associated curtilages and access points would 

have an urbanising effect and would be detrimental to the character and 

appearance of the countryside.   

11. The site is located outside but next to the Bicker Conservation Area (CA) which 

includes the two-storey detached dwellings on Morley Lane, one of which is 
Morley House which is a Grade II Listed building.  Whilst I have found the 

proposal would harm the character and appearance of the area, this specifically 

relates to the effect of the increased presence of built form in the countryside. 
The relationship of the proposal with the setting of the CA and the Listed 

Building did not feature as a reason for refusal on the Council’s decision notice. 

From the evidence before me and from what I saw on site, I find no reason to 

disagree with the Council.  Subject to careful design and sympathetic use of 
materials, the setting of these heritage assets would not be harmed. However, 

this does not override the concerns relating to the effect of the proposal on the 

character and appearance of the countryside.  

12. To conclude, the proposal would be contrary to Policy 2 (Development 

Management) of the SELLP which amongst other things require sustainable 
development considerations to be met in relation to the character and 

appearance of the area.  The proposal would also conflict with Paragraph 170 

of the Framework which requires planning decisions to recognise the intrinsic 
character and beauty of the countryside.   

Other Matters 

13. The appellant suggests that prior to the adoption of the South East Lincolnshire 

Local Plan, they were led to believe that the proposal may have received a 
positive determination.  This is not a matter for me to consider under an appeal 

made under s78 of the Act. They also contend that the planning application 

should have been determined against the development plan in place at the 
time the application was submitted.  Given the advanced stage of the SELLP in 

the adoption process when the planning application was determined, the 

Council were entitled to attach weight to the emerging policy at that time.  In 
any case, the Council’s decision notice also confirms that the proposal was 

found to conflict with policies within the development plan that was in place, 

the Boston Borough Local Plan (BBLP) (1999). 

14. My attention has been drawn to there being a previous outline planning 

permission for residential building plots accessed via Sharpe’s Paddock and a 
recent planning application for a dwelling on one of these plots which has been 

granted planning permission.  The Council’s officer report for that application, 

ref B/19/0041 on land adjacent to Morley Lodge, confirms that the plot sits 

within the development limits for Bicker. There is nothing before me to suggest 
the appeal site formed part of the previous outline permission.  The appeal site 

sits outside the development limits and is therefore not comparable. I must 

have regard to the site-specific considerations for the appeal proposal and the 
development plan in place in reaching my conclusion.  

15. A lack of objections to the proposal and the availability of the existing access 

road and other infrastructure including sewers does not override the conflict 

with the development plan identified under the main issues. 

 

Page 125

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/19/3225714 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

Conclusion 

16. For the reasons given the appeal is dismissed. 

M Russell 

INSPECTOR 

Page 126

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


 

www.boston.gov.uk Like us on Facebook:                             Follow us on Twitter: 
www.visitbostonuk.com                        Boston Borough Council @bostonboro 

 
         Tel: 01205 314292 
 
         Email: michelle.sacks@boston.gov.uk  
Mrs. Sarah Richards  
Chief Executive        
The Planning Inspectorate 
3B Hawk Wing, Temple Quay House 
2 The Square 
Temple Quay 
Bristol  
BS1 6PN 
               
23 August 2019 
 
 
Dear Mrs Richards 
 
I am writing to you in your role as Chief Executive for the Planning Inspectorate in relation to some concerns 
that our Council has in respect of recent planning appeal decisions. 
 
Firstly may I congratulate you on your recent reforms to the Planning Appeal system. We hope that these will 
be successful in improving efficiency within the appeals process, the resolution of which has positive benefits 
for both Councils and Applicants a-like.  
 
Boston Borough Council is a relatively small council in Lincolnshire, but we are very much focused on delivering 
growth in an appropriate way. We do not receive large numbers of applications, or larger numbers of Appeals 
when compared to others. To be clear, our authority is supportive of growth and is not anti-development. The 
purpose of this letter is not therefore to complain at developments being allowed, but to raise some concerns 
regarding the approach being adopted by Inspectors, the weight being afforded to our Development Plan, and 
general consistency. 
 
We have recently adopted (March 2019) a new Local Plan – the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan – which 
was developed and delivered in partnership with South Holland District Council. Prior to this it is fair to say that 
the Council was subject to numerous speculative applications, but it was the aspiration of all parties that the 
adoption of a new plan would provide greater clarity for all, particularly in relation to managing growth within 
both authorities’ areas. This new plan is supported by a clear 5-Year Housing Land Supply, and the Council is 
also performing well in relation to its Housing Delivery Test requirement. To that end, the Plan we believe 
should be given the most significant level of weight within planning decision-taking…in short, it will never be 
as current and up-to-date as it currently is, and in a plan-led system should therefore be the key tool against 
which all applications should be judged. 
 
However, since the adoption of the plan, the Council has received a series of Appeal decisions which do cause 
the Council some alarm, particularly in relation to:  

 the weight being afforded to the plan by Inspectors;  

 the approach to Inspectors decision-making and  

 consistency between Inspectors decisions.  

Page 127

mailto:michelle.sacks@boston.gov.uk


 

 

2 

 

 
This is highlighted by 3 cases in particular which I have highlighted in Table 1 below: 
 

Table 1  

Appeal Number Inspector Site Outcome 

APP/Z2505/W/18/3210572 M Heron Land adjacent 
to Lloyds Farm, 
Old Main Road, 
Fosdyke, PE20 
2DB 

Dismissed  
 

The Council have no negative comments in relation to this decision, or its approach, in 
particular as it seems to be strongly related to the application of the Development Plan policy 
– in particular Policy 1. However, we do believe it does highlight the apparent inconsistency 
in approach with other decisions which are highlighted in this correspondence (below). 
 

APP/Z2505/W/18/3211205 
 

 

 Ian McHugh  
 

The Grange, 
114 Church 
Green Road, 
Fishtoft, 
Boston, PE21 
0QY 

Allowed 

This decision was particularly concerning to the Council, owing to the approach to and 
weighting given to the Development Plan, and also the application of the ‘isolated’ test from 
the Framework. The Council have particular concerns as this could set an undesirable 
precedent for the consideration of many other similar sites within a rural area such as ours. 
 
To that end, the Council sought legal advice, and although we have chosen not to seek a 
Judicial Review in this instance, the advice we received advised us that we would have 
positive grounds to seek a review. In particular the advice we received highlighted the 
following errors/concerns: (bold text = my emphasis) 

1. The Inspector misinterpreted Policy 1 of the SELLP in that he failed to conclude that 
the Appeal Scheme was contrary to the development plan. In particular, DL23 
records that there is ’some conflict with the general thrust of Policy 1’. The correct 
position is that there was conflict with the clear wording of Policy 1 and 
therefore with the development plan for the purposes of s.38(6) Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004; 

2. Although the Inspector referred to the NPPF, he arguably did not consider §12 
NPPF, which indicates the Government’s policy that "Where a planning application 
conflicts with an up-to-date development plan (including any neighbourhood plans 
that form part of the development plan), permission should not usually be granted”. 
There is a policy presumption that development in conflict with an up-to-date 
local plan (which the SELLP is) should not normally be allowed. There is 
nothing in the Decision which indicates that the Inspector had regard to 
this national policy test; 

3. The Inspector misinterpreted §59 NPPF when coming to decision about the 
relevance of the 1993 appeal decision. §59 NPPF does not impose a free-standing 
obligation on LPAs to ‘boost supply’ over and above meeting their 5 year 
requirement. In any event, the LPA in this case met this requirement by identifying a 

Page 128



 

 

3 

 

5YS. Consequently, the main reason that the Inspector discounted the relevance of 
the earlier appeal decision was erroneous; 

4. The Inspector misinterpreted §79 NPPF on the question of ’isolated homes’. In 
Braintree BC v SSCLG, the Court of Appeal held that "the word "isolated" in the 
phrase "isolated homes in the countryside" simply connotes a dwelling that is 
physically separate or remote from a settlement” (my emphasis) - see judgment §31. 
The Court also said that "a settlement would not necessarily exclude a hamlet or a 
cluster of dwellings, without, for example, a shop or post office of its own, or a school 
or community hall or a public house nearby, or public transport within easy 
reach” (§32). 

5. In the present appeal, the Inspector referred to the ‘close proximity of the other 
dwellings’ (DL10). This is not the test; the test is whether a site is physically separate 
or remote from a settlement. Consequently, the Inspector applied the wrong test. 

6. The Inspector also misunderstood §68 NPPF. Whilst this supports residential 
development by small/medium house builders, it is not a general policy which 
supports all such developments wherever they may be found. The only part of §68 
that might possibly have been relevant is §68(c): "support the development of 
windfall sites through their policies and decisions – giving great weight to the benefits 
of using suitable sites within existing settlements for homes”. There is no support in 
policy for the Appeal Scheme, nor is it within an ‘existing settlement’. The Inspector 
erred because he proceeded on the basis that development promoted by small 
builders complies with the NPPF without further qualification. 

7. The Inspector misinterpreted §102 NPPF [sic]. At DL17, he refers to §102 NPPF, 
which doesn’t actually make any reference to rural areas. It is §103 NPPF which 
says that "opportunities to maximise sustainable transport solutions will vary 
between urban and rural areas, and this should be taken into account in both plan-
making and decision-making”. There are 2 problems with the Inspector’s approach: 
(i) §103 NPPF does not remove the requirement to locate development where 
opportunities to maximise sustainable transport modes are available, merely 
to appreciate the different context; (ii) whilst the Inspector appears to find that there 
is little prospect of anyone using the bus or walking, this appears to be acceptable 
to him. The Inspector’s approach effectively disapplies national policy on 
sustainable transport to isolated rural areas. That is a fundamental misreading 
of policy in my view. 

The Council are therefore clearly concerned that the approach adopted by the Inspector in 
this instance may become commonly used one. In which case it would be based upon an 
incorrect approach, but would also clearly undermine the presumption towards the 
application of the Development Plan. In the case of the SELLP, a plan which was adopted 
earlier this year and is supported by a 5YHS and compliance with the Housing Delivery Test 
requirement. 
 
 

APP/Z2505/W/19/3222165  Chris Pipe  
 

Land at Puttock 
Gate, Fosdyke 
 

Allowed 

The Councils concern on this case echoes those raised in the above case. In particular, the 
Inspector identifies a clear conflict with policy 1 (para 7), but then goes on to identify a further 
basis upon which permission should be granted (i.e. that there is no harm resulting from the 
proposal – para 12).  

Page 129



 

 

4 

 

 
Again, the Council are concerned that this does set a precedent in terms of approach which 
is both incorrect (see above advice) and which also seriously undermines the approach in 
the plan which is to have clear settlement boundaries in order to steer growth and new 
development.  
 

 
The Council have carefully reviewed each of these decisions (as summarised within Table 1), and in the case 
of The Grange, actually sought advice regarding the potential for Judicial Review.  
 
As a small authority, operating within tight financial constraints, decisions relating to Judicial Review are 
carefully considered and whilst we were advised we would have good grounds to challenge the decision we 
have chosen not to pursue this route. However, the Council do not rule out the potential for future challenges 
if the approach taken on The Grange (and to an extent Land at Puttock Gate) continues and creates a pattern 
for future decision making which undermines the Development Plan. 
 
Both Officers and Members of our Planning Committee have raised significant and serious concerns that the 
approach adopted by the Inspectors on The Grange and Land at Puttock Gate undermines the approach set 
out within the adopted, and up-to-date Development Plan. It does therefore appear to contradict the overall 
ethos of a plan-led planning system. In short, the concern is that these decisions appear to ride roughshod 
over the overall aims of the development plan (specifically the ‘settlement boundary’ approach to directing 
growth), and these circumstances could be repeated on numerous occasions within our Authorities area. The 
cumulative effect of which could be particularly damaging, and would not result in plan-led, managed, and 
sustainable growth.  
 
We would therefore welcome a review of the above decisions, to ensure that the correct approach is being 
adopted and that the correct regard is given to our Development Plan. We would welcome your comments and 
feedback on these. 
 
Furthermore, concerns are expressed at the apparent inconsistency between Inspectors within their decision 
making. This is clearly evidenced by the differing conclusions between the decisions. Whilst the Council 
recognises that each case is different and determined on its own merits, there must be some consistency in 
approach. Without this, to the lay-person it must appear as if the Appeals process is some kind of lottery 
wherein decisions in the same area, assessed against the same policy can have completely differing outcomes 
purely down to Inspectors judgements and a lack of communication/consideration of other similar decisions 
within that area. We would therefore welcome some consistency between Inspectors and how this is achieved 
– it would be beneficial for our Members to understand how work is allocated to Inspectors, what ‘checks and 
balances’ there are to Inspectors decision making, and whether there are regular reviews between Inspectors 
covering the same areas to look at consistency. 
 
We would welcome your views on our comments above, and your review of the cases identified. As an authority 
we do not believe in apportioning blame, and are more concerned with looking at learning outcomes and 
forward progression. As such, we would be more than willing to host you (or an appropriate representative) to 
discuss the matters we have raised.  
 
Equally, we would be willing to work with you and your Inspectors to better understand their approach to 
decision-making within Appeals – perhaps we could arrange a mutual training session for our Members and 
Officers facilitated in part by one or more of your Inspectors to enable a better understanding of the process 
and approach to decision-making? We would be more than happy to host and arrange this if you are in 
agreement. 

Page 130



 

 

5 

 

We hope that the content of this letter and our concerns are clear. We would be happy to expand in more detail 
if necessary. As stated, the intention of this correspondence is not to apportion blame, or seek to be negative 
towards the work the Inspectorate do, but is more about improving understanding, improving consistency, and 
highlighting the importance of the Development Plan within a plan-led system. Again, we would be happy to 
work with you on any areas you feel may be beneficial in order to deliver better outcomes for our community. 
 
I look forward to hearing from you in due course 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
Michelle Sacks 
Deputy Chief Executive 
 
 
cc. Mike Gildersleeves - Growth Manager, Boston Borough Council 

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

  

Customer Quality Team 

3I Hawk Wing 
Temple Quay House 

2 The Square 
Bristol BS1 6PN 

Customer Support: 

Customer Quality: 
Direct Line: 

e-mail: 

0303 444 5000 

0303 444 5884 
0303 444 5396 

ian.kane@planninginspectorate.gov.uk 

 

Michelle Sacks 
Deputy Chief Executive 
Boston Borough Council 

Municipal Buildings 
West Street 

BOSTON 
Lincs 
PE21 8QR 

By email 

 

Your reference:   

Our references: 3210572, 3211205, 3222165  

Date: 12th September 2019  
 

 
Dear Ms Sacks 
 

Thank you for your letter of 23 August to the Chief Executive and your kind 
remarks about recent reforms to the planning appeal system.  

 
Our published feedback procedures 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/att

achment_data/file/730088/Procedural_Guide_Planning_appeals_version_2.pdf 
(in particular annexe Q) explain that we do make every effort to ensure everyone 

who takes part in the appeal system is satisfied with the service they receive from 
us. We will investigate any concerns and please accept my assurance that it is 

fully understood that these matters are inherently contentious and can give rise to 
disappointment or concern. I do therefore acknowledge your remarks in relation to 
the intention of your correspondence. 

 
I am sure that the content of the general remarks I make below is familiar to you 

but I set them out for the avoidance of doubt. 
 
Only the High Court can formally identify a legal error in, definitively comment on, 

or hold what constitutes a material consideration or unreasonableness in a 
planning appeal decision and I note your comments in respect of the council’s 

decisions about whether to seek judicial review of appeal decisions within its 
purview. However, my comments about this or any appeal decision can only be 
made in general terms and neither I nor the Inspectorate can make any binding 

interpretation of its Inspectors’ decisions. In this regard, please see the proviso* 
below my signature. 

 
Inspectors are appointed to make decisions on development proposals based on 
their assessment of the planning merits of the case. They reach their decisions 

and supporting conclusions using professional planning judgement, having 
carefully considered and weighed in the planning balance all of the submitted 

evidence and having viewed the site and its surroundings to place this evidence 
into context.  
 

It is, however, settled law that an Inspector is deemed to have duly considered all 

Page 133



 
 

 
 

the evidence submitted without necessarily referring explicitly to all of it. The 
purpose of an appeal decision letter is to summarise the principal reasoning 
behind the conclusions reached and an Inspector will not record in detail every 

material consideration or argument and decisions should be read as a whole.  
 

Decisions are reached openly, fairly and impartially, and are based on the degree 
of compliance of each proposal with local planning policies embodied in the local 
plan, which is the starting point for decisions in law. Would the development be in 

accordance with the local plan and if not are there material considerations which 
indicate otherwise and mean that permission could be granted?  

 
This remains the paramount test any proposal must pass and I would emphasise 
the reference to material considerations indicating the possibility of permission 

being granted for development not in accordance with the LP. The importance of 
the development plan within a plan-led system is a major factor that Inspectors 

necessarily weigh in the planning balance but would not necessarily refer to 
explicitly. 

 
It is vital that the Inspectorate meets its quality targets and that, with due 
acknowledgement of your comments, it be satisfied that its decisions are fit for 

purpose. Please accept my assurance that the Inspectorate is actively working on 
continuing to improve all of the practices and procedures within its remit. Its 

knowledge and policy unit necessarily keeps Inspectors fully apprised of all 
developments in case law, ministerial policy statements, local plan developments 
and all other germane policy developments. 

 
With respect to your comments about the decisions you have highlighted, I can 

only therefore reply within the constraints I have outlined above. 
 
With respect to the apparent inconsistency between the decisions you refer to I 

am afraid I can only refer you to my remark above about the decisions being the 
outcome of weighing in the planning balance the submitted evidence for the 

specific case and I note the acknowledgments of this throughout your letter.  
 
With due regard to the proviso below my signature, it seems to me that the 

Inspector in appeal decision 3211205 at DL23 adequately acknowledged conflict 
with policy 1 of the SELLP but made it clear that that conflict was outweighed by 

the material considerations he outlined elsewhere in the decision. You 
acknowledge that it arguable that he did not consider NPPF12. Here I would refer 
you to my remark above about Inspectors not having necessarily to refer explicitly 

to every material consideration or argument. He acknowledges in DL12 the 
council’s identifying a 5YS. I note your explicit acknowledgement that he 

disapplies national policy on sustainable transport in isolated rural areas…in [your] 
view. That is not our view. 
 

I note your comment about decisions, and 3211205 and 3222165 in particular, 
being likely to affect other applications and appeals in your locality. In that regard 

I can only ask you to accept again my assurance, which you acknowledge in any 
event, that every decision is made on its merits and although other appeal 
decisions may constitute material considerations in a case, as these may indeed in 

future, they will not necessarily be determinative. Despite apparent similarities 
rarely, if ever, will different applications for planning permission be identical in all 

respects. 
 

I am afraid the Inspectorate cannot accept your invitation with regard to mutual 
training sessions or meetings with your officers and members but I have 

Page 134



 
 

 
 

forwarded this correspondence to our Director of Strategy who is looking at 
customer engagement and would thank you for the suggestion and offer. 
 

As I said above, your concerns are acknowledged but I hope I have provided some 
clarification. 

 
Yours sincerely 
Ian Kane 

Customer quality officer 

*This communication does not constitute legal advice. 

 

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	B MINUTES
	1 PLANNING APPLICATION B.18.0435
	2 PLANNING APPLICATION B.18.0528
	3 PLANNING APPLICATION B.19.0216
	4 PLANNING APPLICATION B.19.0301
	5 PLANNING APPLICATION B.19.0283
	6 PLANNING APPLICATION B.19.0215
	7 PLANNING APPLICATION B.19.0298/LBC
	8 RECEIPT OF APPEAL DECISIONS- OCTOBER 2019
	Appeal Decision B.18.0119
	Appeal Decision B.18.0346
	Appeal Decision B.18.0320
	Letter to Planning Inspectorate- August 2019
	Reply from Planning Inspectorate- August 2019


